
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JULY 05, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

1. City Council establishes hearing dates for the first and final hearings to adopt the City of Green 

Cove Springs Operating Budget and Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan for FY 

2022/2023.  Marlena Guthrie 

2. City Council approval of surplus request for vehicle #141.  Chief Guzman 

3. City Council approval of pay request #1 in the amount of $10,797.44 to WGI, Inc. for the 

Walnut St. Design Project.  This leaves a balance of $245,992.56 in the task order for $256,790.  

Mike Null 

4. City Council award of Bid 2022-02, Palmetto Trail Project, to EltonAlan, Inc. in the amount of 

$1,544,374.81.  Mike Null 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

5. FMPA - July 2022  Bob Page 

6. Council establishes workshop dates for reviewing the Operating Budget and Capital 

Improvement Plan for FY 2022/2023.  Marlena Guthrie 

Page 1



July 05, 2022 Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 

7. City Council discussion on revising Council Meeting dates due to holidays.  Erin West 

8. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

9. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 2



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: July 5, 2022 

FROM: Marlena Guthrie, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Council establishes hearing dates for the first and final hearings to adopt the City of Green 

Cove Springs Operating Budget and Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan for FY 

2022/2023. 
 

BACKGROUND 

The City must set two hearing dates for the adoption of the City’s Operating Budget and Five-Year 

Capital Improvement Plan for the fiscal year 2022/2023.  The City may not hold its hearings at the same 

time as the Clay County School Board or Clay County Board of Commissioners.  The School Board will 

hold its hearings on August 2 and September 8 and the County will hold its hearings on September 13 

and September 27, therefore staff proposes the City hold its first hearing to tentatively adopt the 

Operating Budget and Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan on September 6, 2022, at 7:00 pm and its 

final hearing on September 20, 2022 at 7:00 pm in the City Council Chambers. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

RECOMMENDATION 

To set September 6, 2022, at 7:00 pm for the tentative hearing date and September 20, 2022, at 7:00 pm 

as the final hearing date to adopt the City of Green Cove Springs Operating Budget and Five-Year 

Capital Improvement Plan for FY 2022/2023. 
 

Page 3

Item #1.



Page 4

Item #2.



Page 5

Item #2.



Page 6

Item #2.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: July 5, 2022 

FROM: Mike Null 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of pay request #1 in the amount of $10,797.44 to WGI, Inc. for the 

Walnut St. Design Project.  This leaves a balance of $245,992.56 in the task order for 

$256,790.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

At the May 3, 2022, City Council authorized a task order to WGI, Inc. in an amount not to exceed 

$256,790 to survey most of the downtown area and design roadway, utility, pedestrian and streetscape 

improvements on Walnut St from Palmetto Ave to the River.   

Attached for approval is pay request #1 in the amount of $10,797.44 for services through May 27.  This 

will leave a balance of $245,992.56. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The funding available for this project includes: 

 FY 22 Public Works CIP – Streetscape Design - $25,000 

 FY 22 Public Works Brick Street Repair Budget - $200,000 

 ARPA funds designated by Council - $1,100,000 

 FDEP 319 Grant funds (high confidence of funding) - $400,000 

The total available for this phase of the project is $1,725,000.  This design task order will be funded 

from the ARPA funds that have been designated for this project. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Authorize the Mayor to execute a task order to WGI, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $256,790 to survey 

most of the downtown area and design roadway, utility, pedestrian and streetscape improvements on 

Walnut St from Palmetto Ave to the River. 
 

Page 7

Item #3.



Page 8

Item #3.



Page 9

Item #3.



Page 10

Item #3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: July 5, 2022 

FROM: Mike Null, Assistant City Manager 

SUBJECT: Award of Bid 2022-02, Palmetto Trail Project, to EltonAlan, Inc. in the amount of 

$1,544,374.81.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

Council previously approved a Local Area Project (LAP) agreement with FDOT for the constrcution 

phase of project 43677-1-38-02, to construct a trail along Palmetto Ave from Oak St to Harbor Road and 

along MLK Jr. Blvd from Palmetto Ave to Vera Francis Hall Park.  The FDOT construction budget is 

$1,611,250.00. 

The Project was advertised for bid in May.  Three bids were received from EltonAlan, Inc., Marquee 

Development and CGC, Inc.  The lowest responsive bid was received from EltonAlan, Inc. in the 

amount of $1,544,374.81.  City staff, the project engineer and FDOT staff have all reviewed the bid 

results and are in agreement to award the project to EltonAlan, Inc.  A sample contract is also attached 

for approval. 

Again, staff will be managing the project and FDOT will be funding the pay requests. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This project is funded by FDOT.   

RECOMMENDATION 

Award Bid 2022-02, Palmetto Trail Project, to EltonAlan, Inc. in the amount of $1,544,374.81 and 

authorize the Mayor and City Manager to execute all agreements and documents associated with this 

project. 

Page 11

Item #4.



Page 1 of 33 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AND ________________________________ 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is awarded and entered into this    day of    , 2022 

between the CITY of Green Cove Springs, a political subdivision of the STATE OF FLORIDA hereinafter 
referred to as the "CITY" and EltonAlan, Incorporated a Florida Corporation, hereinafter referred to as the 
"CONTRACTOR". 

 
 WITNESSETH  
  

WHEREAS, the CITY desires to obtain the professional services of said CONTRACTOR to 
provide and perform services as further described hereinafter as imaging, scanning and storage of 
documents and  
 

WHEREAS, the CONTRACTOR hereby certifies that they have been granted and possesses all 
necessary, valid, current licenses/certifications to do business in the State of Florida and in the CITY of 
Green Cove Springs, Florida, issued by the respective State Boards and Government Agencies 
responsible for regulating and licensing the services to be provided and performed by the CONTRACTOR 
pursuant to this Agreement; and  
  

WHEREAS, the CONTRACTOR has reviewed the professional services required pursuant to this 
Agreement and is qualified, willing, and able to provide and perform all such professional services in 
accordance with the provisions, conditions and terms hereinafter set forth; and  
  

WHEREAS, all parties hereto agree with all terms and conditions set forth herein. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms and provisions contained 
herein, the parties hereto agree that with the mutual acceptance of this Agreement as indicated 
hereinafter by the execution of this Agreement by both parties that a Contract shall exist between both 
parties consisting of:  
  
ARTICLE 1.00 - DEFINITIONS  
The following are definitions for the terms associated with this Agreement and are provided to establish a 
common understanding, between the parties, regarding the intended usage, application, and 
interpretation of same. 

 
1.01  AGREEMENT - As it relates to the requirement of the work contemplated herein, this Agreement       

shall include Exhibit A , Exhibit B, Exhibit C and Exhibit D and any documentation by 
reference, and shall constitute the entire agreement or understandings, written or oral, relating to 
the matters set forth herein.  Any prior Agreements entered into by the parties hereto, for other 
services shall not be affected by this Agreement nor shall they have any affect, whatsoever, on 
this agreement. 

  
1.02 AMENDMENTS - Any additions, modifications or alterations made to this agreement.  All 

amendments shall be made in accordance with Article 23.00. 
 
1.03 "CONTRACTOR" the individual or firm offering professional services, who has executed this 

Agreement, and who is legally obligated, responsible, and liable for providing and performing any 
and all services as required under the covenants, terms and provisions contained herein and any 
and all Amendments hereto.  Any reference hereinafter made to the CONTRACTOR shall also 
include any employees of the CONTRACTOR, and any SUB-CONTRACTORs or employees 
thereof, who are engaged by the CONTRACTOR for the purpose of performing professional 
services pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

Page 12

Item #4.



Page 2 of 33 
 

1.04 "CITY” a political subdivision of the State of Florida, and any official and/or employees thereof, 
who shall be duly authorized to act on the CITY'S behalf, relative to this Agreement.  

 
1.05 “PARTIES” CITY and the CONTRACTOR as defined hereinabove. 
 
1.06 "PROFESSIONAL SERVICES" all services, work, materials and other professional, technical 

and administrative activities as set forth in Exhibit A, which are necessary to be provided and 
performed by the CONTRACTOR and its employees, and any and all sub-consultants and 
sub-CONTRACTORs the CONTRACTOR may engage to provide, perform and complete the 
services required pursuant to the covenants, terms and provisions contained herein.  

 
1.07 "PROJECT MANAGER” the CITY's Public Works Director or his designee.  The PROJECT 

MANAGER shall be responsible for acting on behalf of the CITY to administer, coordinate, 
interpret and otherwise manage the contractual provisions and requirements as set forth in this 
Agreement, or any AMENDMENT(S) hereto.  The PROJECT MANAGER shall also serve and act 
on behalf of the CITY, to provide direct contact and communication between the CITY and the 
CONTRACTOR, providing information, assistance, guidance, coordination, review, approval and 
acceptance of the professional services, work and materials to be provided and performed by the 
CONTRACTOR, pursuant to this agreement, and any Amendment(s) hereto.  The PROJECT 
MANAGER shall also review and approve any and all requests, submitted by the 
CONTRACTOR, for payment of services performed, pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
1.08 "SUB-CONTRACTOR" any individual or firm who offers professional services to the 

CONTRACTOR, to assist providing and performing the professional services, work and materials 
for which the CONTRACTOR is contractually obligated, responsible and liable to provide and 
perform under this Agreement.  The CITY shall not be a party to, held responsible or liable for, or 
assume any obligation whatsoever for any provision under any Agreement entered by the 
CONTRACTOR and any and all SUB-CONTRACTORS. 

       
1.09 ADDITIONAL DEFINITIONS - RESERVED 
  
ARTICLE 2.00 - SCOPE OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  
The CONTRACTOR agrees to provide to the CITY the services identified in Exhibit A under the price 
schedule contained therein. 
 
ARTICLE 3.00 - TERM 
The Agreement Term shall commence as set forth in the Notice to Proceed and to reach substantial 
completion within 266 calendar days from the date on which work commences with final completion within 
30 calendar days thereafter.  
 
ARTICLE 4.00 FUNDING 
This Agreement or any amendments hereto shall be subject to fund availability.  
  
ARTICLE 5.00 - OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTRACTOR 
The obligations of the CONTRACTOR, with respect to the services provided herein, shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following:  
  
5.01 LICENSES  
 The CONTRACTOR agrees to obtain and maintain, throughout the term of this Agreement, and 

any extensions hereof, all licenses/certifications as required to do business in the State of Florida 
and the CITY of Green Cove Springs, including, but not limited to, licenses required by any State 
Boards, or other governmental agencies, responsible for regulating and licensing the professional 
services provided and performed by the CONTRACTOR pursuant to this Agreement. 

  
5.02 PERSONNEL 
 (l) Qualified Personnel - The CONTRACTOR agrees to employ and/or retain only qualified 

Page 13

Item #4.



Page 3 of 33 
 

personnel where, under Florida law, requires a license, certificate of authorization, or other form 
of legal entitlement, to practice such services. 

 (2) CONTRACTOR’s Project Manager - The CONTRACTOR agrees to employ and designate, a 
qualified professional to serve as its Project Manager.  The CONTRACTOR’s Project Manager 
shall be authorized to act on behalf of the CONTRACTOR with respect to directing, coordinating 
and administering all aspects of the professional services to be provided and performed, pursuant 
to this Agreement, and/or any Amendment(s) hereto.  The CONTRACTOR'S Project Manager 
shall have full authority to bind and obligate the CONTRACTOR on any matter arising under this 
Agreement or any Amendment(s) hereto, except upon express written agreement of the CITY.  
The CONTRACTOR agrees that its Project Manager shall devote whatever time is required to 
satisfactorily manage the professional services performed by the CONTRACTOR, throughout the 
entire term of this Agreement and any extension hereof. The person or individual selected, by the 
CONTRACTOR, to serve as its Project Manager is subject to prior approval and acceptance of 
the CITY. 

 (3) Sub-CONTRACTORs – If the CONTRACTOR utilizes SUBCONTRACTORs to assist in 
providing and performing the professional services, CONTRACTOR will solicit and consider 
Minority-Owned Businesses. 

 
5.03 STANDARDS OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICE 
 The CONTRACTOR agrees to provide and perform the professional services set forth in this 

Agreement, or any Amendments hereto, in accordance with generally accepted standards of 
professional practice and in accordance with the laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules, 
regulations and policies, of any governmental agencies which may regulate, or have jurisdiction 
over the professional services to be provided and/or performed by the CONTRACTOR, pursuant 
to this Agreement. 

  
5.04 INDEMNIFICATION 
 (l)  The CONTRACTOR shall be and agrees to be and remain liable for any and all damages, 

losses, and expenses incurred by the CITY caused by the errors, omissions, negligence, or 
delay(s) of the CONTRACTOR or by any sub-consultant(s) and/or SUBCONTRACTOR(s) 
engaged by the CONTRACTOR in providing, performing and furnishing services, work and 
materials pursuant to this Agreement. 

 
 (2)  The CONTRACTOR shall be liable and agrees to be liable for and shall indemnify, defend 

and hold the CITY harmless for any and all claims, suits, judgments or damages, losses and 
expenses including court costs, expert witness and professional consultation services, and 
attorneys' fees arising out of the CONTRACTOR'S errors, omissions, negligence, or delay(s), or 
those of any and all sub-consultants and/or SUBCONTRACTORs engaged by the 
CONTRACTOR during the providing, performing and furnishing of services, work and materials 
pursuant to this Agreement and any and all Amendments thereto.   

 

5.05 NOT TO DIVULGE CERTAIN INFORMATION  
 During the term of this Agreement and forever thereafter and except for the provisions of 

paragraphs 17 and 18 below, the CONTRACTOR agrees not to divulge, furnish or make 
available, to any third party, without the express written permission of the CITY, any non-public 
information, where such information has not been properly subpoenaed, concerning the services 
rendered by the CONTRACTOR. 

 
ARTICLE 6.00 - OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY  
  
6.01 AVAILABILITY OF CITY INFORMATION  
 At the CONTRACTOR'S request to the PROJECT MANAGER, the CITY agrees to make 

available all pertinent information, known by the CITY to be available, to assist the 
CONTRACTOR in providing and performing the professional services required herein.  Such 

Page 14

Item #4.



Page 4 of 33 
 

information may include, but not be limited to, customer billing information, consumption records, 
other related data.  The CONTRACTOR shall be entitled to reasonably rely on the accuracy and 
completeness of such information.  

  
6.02 AVAILABILITY OF CITY'S DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVES 
 The CITY agrees that the PROJECT MANAGER shall be available within a reasonable period, 

with reasonable prior notice, given by the CONTRACTOR, to meet and/or consult with the 
CONTRACTOR on matters pertaining to the professional services to be provided hereunder.  The 
CITY further agrees that the PROJECT MANAGER shall respond, within a reasonable period, to 
written requests submitted by the CONTRACTOR.    

 
ARTICLE 7.00 - COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT   
 
7.01 COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 
 For the construction services performed by the CONTRACTOR, pursuant to this agreement, the 

CITY hereby agrees to pay the CONTRACTOR per the pricing schedule shown in Exhibit A in an 
amount not to exceed $1,544,374.81. The Contractor shall be allowed one approved draw per 
month during the term of the contract. Payments are net 30 per State guidelines. 5% Retainage 
shall be retained from each draw until the project is 100% complete, at which time the 5% 
Retainage shall be released upon properly executed final pay request and release of lien 
documentation being received and approved by the CITY. 

 
7.02 PAYMENT WHEN SERVICES ARE TERMINATED 
 (l)  In the event of termination of this Agreement by the CITY and not due to the fault of the 

CONTRACTOR, the CITY shall compensate the CONTRACTOR for: (l) all services performed 
prior to the effective date of termination; and (2) shall pay the costs of such as set forth in Section 
7.01 of this agreement. 

 (2)  In the event of termination of this Agreement, due to the fault of the CONTRACTOR or at the 
written request of the CONTRACTOR, the CITY shall compensate the CONTRACTOR for: (l) all 
services completed prior to the effective date of termination, which have resulted in a usable 
product or otherwise tangible benefit to the CITY; and (2) shall pay the costs of such as set forth 
in Section 7.01 of this agreement. Any such payments shall be subject to a set-off, for any 
damages incurred by the CITY, resulting from delays occasioned by the termination. 

  
7.03 PAYMENT WHEN SERVICES ARE SUSPENDED  
 In the event the CITY suspends the professional services required to be performed, by the 

CONTRACTOR, pursuant to this Agreement, the CITY shall compensate the CONTRACTOR for 
all services performed prior to the effective date of suspension and shall pay the costs thereto as 
set forth in Section 7.01 of this agreement. 

 
ARTICLE 8.00 - TIME AND SCHEDULE OF PERFORMANCE  

 
8.01 TIMELY ACCOMPLISHMENT OF SERVICES 
 The timely and expeditious completion, by the CONTRACTOR, of all construction services 

provided under this Agreement, or any Amendments hereto is expected.  The CONTRACTOR 
agrees to employ an adequate number of personnel throughout the period of this Agreement, and 
any extension hereof, so that all professional services to be provided, pursuant to this Agreement, 
or any Amendments hereto will be provided, performed and completed in a timely and 
expeditious manner. 

 
 Should the CONTRACTOR not be able to complete the services for a project in accordance with 

the Scope of Services and Schedule agreed to in Exhibit A, the CONTRACTOR shall provide the 
PROJECT MANAGER a revised schedule and narrative indicating the reasons for the delay 
within a reasonable period of time prior to the expiration date of the original schedule.  The 

Page 15

Item #4.



Page 5 of 33 
 

PROJECT MANAGER shall review this information and either approve the revised schedule as 
submitted or provide a written response indicating the deficiencies in the schedule.  Once the 
revised schedule has been approved by the PROJECT MANAGER, it shall then become the 
schedule for the project.  Requests for changes to Exhibit A that are denied by the PROJECT 
MANAGER shall be further reviewed as proposed contract Amendments pursuant to Article 
23.00.   

 
8.02 FAILURE TO PERFORM IN A TIMELY MANNER  
 Should the CONTRACTOR fail to commence, provide, and/or perform any of the professional 

services required, pursuant to this Agreement, in a timely, continuous, diligent, professional and 
expeditious manner, the CITY may consider such failure as justifiable cause to terminate this 
Agreement.   

 
ARTICLE 9.00 - CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 
The CONTRACTOR represents that it presently has no interest and shall acquire no interest, either 
directly or indirectly, which would conflict in any manner with the performance of services required 
hereunder.  The CONTRACTOR further agrees that no person having any such conflict of interest shall 
be employed or engaged by the CONTRACTOR for performance hereunder.  
  
If the CONTRACTOR, for itself and on behalf of its SUBCONTRACTORs, is about to engage in the  
representation of another client, who it in good faith believes could result in a conflict of interest with the 
services being rendered pursuant to this Agreement, then the CONTRACTOR shall promptly bring such 
potential conflict of interest to the CITY'S attention in writing.  The CITY will decide in a timely manner.  
Upon determination that there is a conflict of interest, the CITY will submit written notice of same to the 
CONTRACTOR and the CONTRACTOR shall decline the new representation.  If the CITY determines 
that there is not any such conflict, then the CITY shall give its written consent to such representation.  If 
CONTRACTOR accepts such a representation without obtaining the CITY'S prior written consent, and if 
the CITY subsequently determines that there is a conflict of interest, the CONTRACTOR agrees to 
promptly terminate such new representation.  CONTRACTOR shall require each sub-CONTRACTOR to 
comply with the provisions of this Section.  Should the CONTRACTOR fail to advise or notify the CITY, as 
provided herein above, of representation, which may, or does, result in a conflict of interest, or should the 
CONTRACTOR fail to discontinue such representation where a conflict is determined to exist, the CITY 
may consider such failure as justifiable cause to terminate this Agreement.  
 
ARTICLE 10.00 - ASSIGNMENT/TRANSFER  
Any assignments or transfer of rights, benefits or obligations hereunder shall only be allowed if approved 
as an amendment pursuant to Article 23.00.  
 
ARTICLE 11.00 - APPLICABLE LAW/VENUE  
This Agreement shall be governed by the ordinances of the CITY of Green Cove Springs, the laws, rules, 
and regulations of the State of Florida, procedural and substantive, and applicable federal statutes, rules 
and regulations.  The venue for any and all litigation, arising under this Agreement, shall lie in Clay 
County, Florida.  
 
ARTICLE 12.00 - WAIVER OF BREACH  
Waiver by the CITY, of a breach of any provision of this Agreement, by the CONTRACTOR, shall not be 
deemed to be a waiver of any other breach and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of 
this Agreement.  
 
12.01 JURY TRAIL WAIVER 
  
 Each Party waives the right to trail by jury on any issues or suits arising hereunder. 
 

Page 16

Item #4.



Page 6 of 33 
 

ARTICLE 13.00 - INSURANCE COVERAGES 
 

 
13.01 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

The CONTRACTOR shall purchase and maintain such insurance meeting the requirements of the 
CITY of Green Cove Springs and as will protect it from claims set forth below which may arise out 
of or result from the CONTRACTOR’S execution of the WORK, whether such execution be by 
himself or by any SUBCONTRACTOR or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of 
them, or by anyone for whose acts may be liable: 

 
Claims under workmen’s compensation, disability benefit and other similar employee 
benefit acts; 

 
Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death 
of his employees; 

 
Claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person 
other than his employees; 

 
Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability coverage which are 
sustained (1) by any person as a result of an offense directly or indirectly related to the 
employment of such person by the CONTRACTOR or (2) by any other person; and  

 
Claims for damages because of injury to or destruction to tangible property, including loss 
of use resulting there from. 

 
Certificates of Insurance acceptable to the OWNER shall be filed with the OWNER prior 
to commencement of the WORK.  These Certificates shall contain a provision that 
coverages afforded under the policies will not be cancelled unless at least thirty (30) days 
prior WRITTEN NOTICE has been given to the OWNER. 

 
The CONTACTOR shall procure and maintain, at his own expense, during the 
CONTRACT TIME, liability insurance as hereinafter specified; 

 

CONTRACTOR’S General Public Liability and Property Damage Insurance including vehicle 
coverage issued to the CONTRACTOR and protecting him from all claims for personal injury, 
including death, and all claims for destruction of or damage to property, arising out of or in 
connection with any operations under the CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, whether such operations 
be by himself or by any SUBCONTRACTOR under him, or anyone directly or indirectly employed 
by the CONTRACTOR or by a SUBCONTRACTOR under him.  Upon award, the bidder shall 
provide a certificate of insurance providing at least thirty (30) calendar days guaranteed written 
notice of cancellation and the CITY listed as an additionally insured with the following minimums: 

 

Workmen’s Comprehensive: meeting State Statutes 
Product Liability: $ 100,000 single/$ 500,000 aggregate 
General Liability: $ 100,000 single/$ 500,000 aggregate 
Commercial General Liability:  $ 1,000,000 combined single limit 
Automobile Liability:  $ 500,000 combined single limit 
 Owned 
 Hired 
 Non-owned 
Current Form/Comprehensive Form 

Page 17

Item #4.



Page 7 of 33 
 

Premises Operations 
Explosion and Collapse Hazard 
Underground Hazard 
Products/Completed Operations Hazard 
Contractual Insurance 
Broad Form Property Damage 
Independent CONTRACTORs 

 

The CONTRACTOR shall acquire and maintain, if applicable, Fire and Extended Coverage insurance 
upon the PROJECT to the full insurable value thereof for the benefit of the CITY, the CONTRACTOR, 
and SUBCONTRACTORS as their may appear.  This provision shall in no way release the 
CONTRACTOR or CONTRACTOR’S surety from obligations under the CONTRACT DOCUMENT to 
fully complete the PROJECT. 

 
The CONTRACTOR shall procure and maintain at his own expense, during the CONTRACT TIME, in 
accordance with the provisions of the laws of the state in which the work is performed, Workmen’s 
Compensation Insurance, including occupational disease provision, for all of his employees at the site 
of the PROJECT and in case any work is sublet, the CONTRACTOR shall require such 
SUBCONTRACTOR similarity to provide Workmen’s Compensation Insurance, including 
occupational disease provisions for all of the latter’s employees unless such employees are covered 
by the protection afforded by the CONTRACTOR.  In case any class of employees engaged in 
hazardous work under this contract at the site of the PROJECT is not protected under Workmen’s 
Compensation statute, the CONTRACTOR shall provide, and shall cause each SUBCONTRACTOR 
to provide, adequate and suitable insurance for the protection of his employees not otherwise 
protected. 

 
 
Insurance for WORK to be performed. Unless specifically authorized by the CITY, the amount of 
such insurance shall not be less than the CONTRACT PRICE totaled in the BID.  The policy shall 
cover not less than the losses due to fire, explosion, hail, lightning, vandalism, malicious, 
mischief, wind, collapse, riot, aircraft, and smoke during the CONTRACT TIME, and until the 
WORK is accepted by the CITY.  The policy shall name as the insured the CONTRACTOR, the 
ENGINEER, and the CITY. 
 
The CITY shall be specifically included as an additional insured.  This does not pertain to workers 
compensation. 

All certificates of insurance must be on file with, and approved by, the CITY before the 
commencement of any work activities. 

 
ARTICLE 14.00 - DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS IMPOSED ON THE CONTRACTOR  
The duties and obligations imposed on the CONTRACTOR, and the rights and remedies available 
hereunder shall be in addition to, and not a limitation on, any such duties and obligations or rights and 
remedies otherwise imposed or available by law or statute.  
 
ARTICLE 15.00 - REPRESENTATION OF THE CITY   
The CONTRACTOR, in performing the professional services required pursuant to this Agreement, or any 
Amendments hereto, shall only represent the CITY in the manner, and to the extent, as specifically set 
forth in this Agreement or any Amendments hereto. 
  
The CITY will neither assume nor accept any obligation, commitment, responsibility or liability, which may 
result from a representation by the CONTRACTOR, which is not specifically provided for and or 

Page 18

Item #4.



Page 8 of 33 
 

authorized by this agreement or any Amendments hereto. 
 
ARTICLE 16.00 - MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS  
The CONTRACTOR shall maintain adequate records and supporting documentation, applicable to all 
services, work, information, expenses, costs, invoices and materials, provided and performed, pursuant to 
the requirements of this Agreement.  Said records and documentation shall be retained by the 
CONTRACTOR for a minimum of five (5) years from the date of natural expiration or termination of this 
Agreement.  
  
The CITY and its authorized agents shall, after providing reasonable notice, have the right to audit, 
inspect and copy all such records and documentation, as often as the CITY deems necessary during the 
term of this Agreement, and during the five (5), year period thereafter, as required above, provided that 
such activity is conducted during normal business hours and at the expense of the CITY.  
 
ARTICLE 18.00 – PUBLIC RECORDS REQUIREMENTS 
Notwithstanding any provision in this agreement to the contrary, the following public records requirements 
shall apply: 
 
The CONTRACTOR, or provider of services hereunder, shall allow public access to all documents, 
papers, letters, or other material subject othe provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes, made or 
received by the CONTRACTOR in conjunction with this Contract.  Specifically, the CONTRACTOR must: 
 
(1) Keep and maintain public records that ordinarily and necessarily would be required by the CITY in 

order to perform the services being performed by the CONTRACTOR. 
(2) Provide the public with access to public records on the same terms and conditions that the CITY 

would provide the records and at a cost that does not exceed the cost provided in Chapter 119, 
Florida Statutes, or as otherwise provided by law. 

(3) Ensure that public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements are not disclosed except as authorized by law. 

(4) Meet all requirements for retaining public records and transfer at no cost to the CITY for all public 
records in possession of the CONTRACTOR upon termination of the contract and destroy any 
duplicate public records that are exempt or confidential and exempt from public records 
disclosure requirements.  All records stored electronically must be provided to the CITY in a 
format that is compatible with the information technology systems of the CITY. 

The City’s point of contact for all Public Records requests is Erin West, City Clerk, 
ewest@greencovesprings.com. 
 
The CONTRACTOR shall promptly provide the CITY with a copy of any request to inspect or copy public 
records in possession of the CONTRACTOR and shall promptly provide the CITY a copy of the 
CONTRACTOR’s response to each such request.  Failure to grant such public access will be grounds for 
immediate termination of this Contract by the CITY. 
 
THIS ARTICLE WILL BE DEEMED TO APPLY TO ALL SERVICE CONTRACTS UNLESS THE 
CONTRACTOR CAN DEMONSTRATE BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT IT IS NOT 
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE CITY UNDER FLORIDA LAW. 
 
 
ARTICLE 19.00 - HEADINGS  
The HEADINGS of any Articles, Sections, and/or Attachments, to this Agreement, are for convenience 
only and shall not be deemed to expand, limit or change any of the provisions contained herein. 
 
ARTICLE 20.00 - RESERVED 
 
ARTICLE 21.00 - NOTICE AND ADDRESS OF RECORD  

Page 19

Item #4.



Page 9 of 33 
 

  
 
21.01 NOTICE BY CONTRACTOR TO CITY  
 All notice to the CITY, pursuant to this Agreement, shall be made in writing and shall be 
 delivered through the United States Postal Service, first class mail, postage prepaid and 
 addressed to the following, CITY, address of record:  
 

The City of Green Cove Springs 
City Hall – Assistant City Manager 

321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, Florida 32043 

                 
 
21.02 NOTICES BY CITY TO CONTRACTOR  

All notices to be given to the CONTRACTOR, pursuant to this agreement, shall be made in 
writing and shall be delivered through the United States Postal Service, first class mail, postage 
prepaid and addressed to the following, CONTRACTOR'S address of record:  

  
EltonAlan, Incorporated 

11420 Sweet Cherry Ln S 
Jacksonville, FL 32225 

 
 
21.03    CHANGE OF ADDRESS OF RECORD 

Either party may change its address of record, at any time, by written notice to the other party 
given in accordance with the requirements as set forth in Article 20.01, above. 

 
 
ARTICLE 22.00 - TERMINATION  
  
22.01 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 This Agreement may be terminated by the CITY or the CONTRACTOR, with or without cause by 

giving thirty (30) days written notice to the other party as required in Article 20.00 above.  
  
22.02 TERMINATION DUE TO BANKRUPTCY OR INSOLVENCY 
 If the CONTRACTOR is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, if it makes a general assignment for the 

benefit of its creditors, if a trustee or receiver is appointed for the CONTRACTOR or for any of its 
property or if it files a petition to take advantage of any debtor's act or to reorganize under 
bankruptcy or other similar laws the CITY may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy, 
and after giving the CONTRACTOR written notice, terminate this Agreement.  

  
22.03 CONTRACTOR TO DELIVER MATERIAL  
 Upon termination for any reason, the CONTRACTOR shall promptly deliver to the CITY all 

documents, papers, drawings, models, or any other materials, which the CITY has exclusive 
rights, by virtue of this Agreement or any other services performed by the CONTRACTOR on 
behalf of the CITY.  

 
ARTICLE 23.00 - AMENDMENTS  
The covenants, terms, and provisions contained herein may be amended, altered and/or modified upon 
express written consent of the parties hereto.  In the event of conflicts between the covenants, terms, 
and/or provisions hereof, and any amendment(s) hereto, the latest executed Amendment(s) shall take 
precedent.  
 
ARTICLE 24.00    ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS 

Page 20

Item #4.



Page 10 of 33 
 

In the event the CITY issues a purchase order, memorandum, letter, or other instruments addressing the 
professional services,  to be provided and performed pursuant to this Agreement, it is hereby specifically 
agreed and understood that such purchase order, memorandum, letter or other instruments are for the 
CITY'S internal control purposes only, and any and all terms, provisions, and conditions contained 
therein, shall in no way modify the covenants, terms and provisions of this Agreement, or any 
amendments hereto,  and shall have no force or effect hereon. 
 
ARTICLE 25.00 - ACCEPTANCE  
Acceptance of this Agreement shall be indicated by the signature of the duly authorized representative of 
the parties hereto, in the space provided, and be attested to as indicated hereafter.  

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, by their duly authorized representatives, have executed this 
Agreement effective this   day of     , 2022.  
  
 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA   CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

By: __________________________________                 By: __________________________________ 

      Matt Johnson, Mayor                                                           Steve Kennedy, City Manager 

 

 

 

 

ATTEST: _____________________________                    Approved as to form only: 

                Erin West, CITY CLERK  

 

                                                                                        ______________________________________ 

                                                                                        L.J. Arnold III, CITY ATTORNEY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTRACTOR –  
 
 
By:          
        Name 

 
 
 
 
 

      __________________________________________________ 
      Witness as to CONTRACTOR 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

Item #4.



Page 11 of 33 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 22

Item #4.



Page 12 of 33 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

 

Request For Proposal 2022-02 incorporated by reference herein to include bid response 

provided by EltonAlan Incorporated. 

 

Page 23

Item #4.



Page 13 of 33 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 

 

STANDARD ADDENDUM TO ALL CITY CONTRACTS 

Page 24

Item #4.



Page 14 of 33 

 

EXHIBIT “C” 

 

 
FHWA-1273 --  Revised May 1, 2012   

  

  
REQUIRED CONTRACT PROVISIONS 

FEDERAL-AID CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 

  

  

  

  

I. General    

II. Nondiscrimination  

III. Nonsegregated Facilities  

IV. Davis-Bacon and Related Act Provisions  

V. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act Provisions  

VI. Subletting or Assigning the Contract  

VII. Safety: Accident Prevention  

VIII. False Statements Concerning Highway Projects  

IX. Implementation of Clean Air Act and Federal Water Pollution 

Control Act  

X. Compliance with Governmentwide Suspension and 

Debarment Requirements  

XI. Certification Regarding Use of Contract Funds for Lobbying  

  

ATTACHMENTS  

  

A. Employment and Materials Preference for Appalachian  

Development Highway System or Appalachian Local Access  
Road Contracts (included in Appalachian contracts only)  

  

  

I.  GENERAL  

  

1. Form FHWA-1273 must be physically incorporated in 

each construction contract funded under Title 23 (excluding 

emergency contracts solely intended for debris removal).  The 

contractor (or subcontractor) must insert this form in each 

subcontract and further require its inclusion in all lower tier 

subcontracts (excluding purchase orders, rental agreements and other 

agreements for supplies or services).    

  

The applicable requirements of Form FHWA-1273 are incorporated 

by reference for work done under any purchase order, rental 

agreement or agreement for other services.  The prime contractor 
shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor, lower-tier 

subcontractor or service provider.    

  

Form FHWA-1273 must be included in all Federal-aid 

designbuild contracts, in all subcontracts and in lower tier 

subcontracts (excluding subcontracts for design services, purchase 
orders, rental agreements and other agreements for supplies or 

services).  The design-builder shall be responsible for compliance 

by any subcontractor, lower-tier subcontractor or service provider.  

   

Contracting agencies may reference Form FHWA-1273 in bid 

proposal or request for proposal documents, however, the Form 
FHWA-1273 must be physically incorporated (not referenced) in 

all contracts, subcontracts and lower-tier subcontracts (excluding 

purchase orders, rental agreements and other agreements for 
supplies or services related to a construction contract).  

  

2. Subject to the applicability criteria noted in the following 

sections, these contract provisions shall apply to all work performed 

on the contract by the contractor's own organization and with the 

assistance of workers under the contractor's immediate 

superintendence and to all work performed on the contract by 

piecework, station work, or by subcontract.  

   

3. A breach of any of the stipulations contained in these 

Required Contract Provisions may be sufficient grounds for 

withholding of progress payments, withholding of final payment, 

termination of the contract, suspension / debarment or any other 

action determined to be appropriate by the contracting agency and 

FHWA.  

  

4. Selection of Labor: During the performance of this 

contract, the contractor shall not use convict labor for any purpose 

within the limits of a construction project on a Federal-aid highway 

unless it is labor performed by convicts who are on parole, 

supervised release, or probation.  The term Federal-aid highway does 

not include roadways functionally classified as local roads or rural 

minor collectors.  

  

  

II.  NONDISCRIMINATION  

  

The provisions of this section related to 23 CFR Part 230 are 

applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts and to all related 
construction subcontracts of $10,000 or more.  The provisions of 23 

CFR Part 230 are not applicable to material supply, engineering, or 

architectural service contracts.    

  

In addition, the contractor and all subcontractors must comply with 

the following policies: Executive Order 11246, 41 CFR 60, 29 CFR 
1625-1627, Title 23 USC Section 140, the Rehabilitation Act of 

1973, as amended (29 USC 794), Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, as amended, and related regulations including 49 CFR Parts 
21, 26 and 27; and 23 CFR Parts 200, 230, and 633.  

  

The contractor and all subcontractors must comply with:  the 

requirements of the Equal Opportunity Clause in 41 CFR 601.4(b) 
and, for all construction contracts exceeding $10,000, the Standard 

Federal Equal Employment Opportunity Construction Contract 

Specifications in 41 CFR 60-4.3.  

  

Note: The U.S. Department of Labor has exclusive authority to 

determine compliance with Executive Order 11246 and the policies 
of the Secretary of Labor including 41 CFR 60, and 29 CFR 1625-

1627.  The contracting agency and the FHWA have the authority and 

the responsibility to ensure compliance with Title 23 USC Section 
140, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 USC 794), and 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, and related 

regulations including 49 CFR Parts 21, 26 and 27; and 23 CFR Parts 
200, 230, and 633.  

  

The following provision is adopted from 23 CFR 230, Appendix A, 
with appropriate revisions to conform to the U.S.  

Department of Labor (US DOL) and FHWA requirements.    

  

1. Equal Employment Opportunity: Equal employment 
opportunity (EEO) requirements not to discriminate and to take 

affirmative action to assure equal opportunity as set forth under laws, 

executive orders, rules, regulations (28 CFR 35, 29 CFR 1630, 29 
CFR 1625-1627, 41 CFR 60 and 49 CFR 27) and orders of the 

Secretary of Labor as modified by the provisions prescribed herein, 

and imposed pursuant to 23 U.S.C. 140 shall constitute the EEO and 
specific affirmative action standards for the contractor's project 

activities under  

this contract. The provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.) set forth under 28 CFR 35 and 29 

CFR 1630 are incorporated by reference in this contract. In the 
execution of this contract, the contractor agrees to comply with the 

Page 25

Item #4.



Page 15 of 33 

 

following minimum specific requirement activities of EEO:  

  

a. The contractor will work with the contracting agency and  

the Federal Government to ensure that it has made every good faith 

effort to provide equal opportunity with respect to all of its terms and 

conditions of employment and in their review of activities under the 
contract.  

  

b. The contractor will accept as its operating policy the following 

statement:  

  

"It is the policy of this Company to assure that applicants are 

employed, and that employees are treated during employment, 
without regard to their race, religion, sex, color, national origin, 

age or disability.  Such action shall include: employment, 

upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment 
advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other forms of 

compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship, 

pre-apprenticeship, and/or on-thejob training."  

  

2. EEO Officer: The contractor will designate and make 

known to the contracting officers an EEO Officer who will have the 

responsibility for and must be capable of effectively administering 

and promoting an active EEO program and who must be assigned 

adequate authority and responsibility to do so.  

  

3. Dissemination of Policy: All members of the 

contractor's staff who are authorized to hire, supervise, promote, and 

discharge employees, or who recommend such action, or who are 

substantially involved in such action, will be made fully cognizant 

of, and will implement, the contractor's EEO policy and contractual 

responsibilities to provide EEO in each grade and classification of 

employment.  To ensure that the above agreement will be met, the 

following actions will be taken as a minimum:  

  

a. Periodic meetings of supervisory and personnel office  

employees will be conducted before the start of work and then not 

less often than once every six months, at which time the contractor's 

EEO policy and its implementation will be reviewed and explained.  
The meetings will be conducted by the EEO Officer.  

   

b. All new supervisory or personnel office employees will be  

given a thorough indoctrination by the EEO Officer, covering all 
major aspects of the contractor's EEO obligations within thirty days 

following their reporting for duty with the contractor.  

  

c. All personnel who are engaged in direct recruitment for  

the project will be instructed by the EEO Officer in the contractor's 
procedures for locating and hiring minorities and women.  

   

d. Notices and posters setting forth the contractor's EEO  

policy will be placed in areas readily accessible to employees, 

applicants for employment and potential employees.  

  

e. The contractor's EEO policy and the procedures to  

implement such policy will be brought to the attention of employees 

by means of meetings, employee handbooks, or other appropriate 
means.  

  

4. Recruitment: When advertising for employees, the contractor 

will include in all advertisements for employees the notation: "An 
Equal Opportunity Employer."  All such advertisements will be 

placed in publications having a large circulation among minorities 

and women in the area from which the project work force would 
normally be derived.  

  

a. The contractor will, unless precluded by a valid  

bargaining agreement, conduct systematic and direct recruitment 

through public and private employee referral sources likely to yield 
qualified minorities and women.  To meet this requirement, the 

contractor will identify sources of potential minority group 

employees, and establish with such identified sources procedures 
whereby minority and women applicants may be referred to the 

contractor for employment consideration.  

  

b. In the event the contractor has a valid bargaining  

agreement providing for exclusive hiring hall referrals, the contractor 
is expected to observe the provisions of that agreement to the extent 

that the system meets the contractor's compliance with EEO contract 

provisions.  Where implementation of such an agreement has the 
effect of discriminating against minorities or women, or obligates the 

contractor to do the same, such implementation violates Federal 

nondiscrimination provisions.  

  

c. The contractor will encourage its present employees to  

refer minorities and women as applicants for employment.  

Information and procedures with regard to referring such applicants 

will be discussed with employees.  

  

5. Personnel Actions: Wages, working conditions, and employee 

benefits shall be established and administered, and personnel actions 

of every type, including hiring, upgrading, promotion, transfer, 
demotion, layoff, and termination, shall be taken without regard to 

race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.  The 

following procedures shall be followed:  

  

a. The contractor will conduct periodic inspections of project  

sites to insure that working conditions and employee facilities do not 

indicate discriminatory treatment of project site personnel.  

  

b. The contractor will periodically evaluate the spread of  

wages paid within each classification to determine any evidence of 

discriminatory wage practices.  

  

c. The contractor will periodically review selected personnel  

actions in depth to determine whether there is evidence of 
discrimination.  Where evidence is found, the contractor will 

promptly take corrective action.  If the review indicates that the 

discrimination may extend beyond the actions reviewed, such 
corrective action shall include all affected persons.  

  

d. The contractor will promptly investigate all complaints of  

alleged discrimination made to the contractor in connection with its 
obligations under this contract, will attempt to resolve such 

complaints, and will take appropriate corrective action within a 

reasonable time.  If the investigation indicates that the discrimination 
may affect persons other than the complainant, such corrective action 

shall include such other persons.  Upon completion of each 

investigation, the contractor will inform every complainant of all of 
their avenues of appeal.  

  

6. Training and Promotion:  
  

a. The contractor will assist in locating, qualifying, and 

increasing the skills of minorities and women who are applicants 

for employment or current employees.  Such efforts should be 

aimed at developing full journey level status employees in the type 

of trade or job classification involved.   

  

b. Consistent with the contractor's work force requirements  

and as permissible under Federal and State regulations, the contractor 

shall make full use of training programs, i.e., apprenticeship, and on-
the-job training programs for the geographical area of contract 

performance.  In the event a special provision for training is provided 

under this contract, this subparagraph will be superseded as indicated 
in the special provision.  The contracting agency may reserve 

Page 26

Item #4.



Page 16 of 33 

 

training positions for persons who receive welfare assistance in 
accordance with 23 U.S.C. 140(a).  

  

c. The contractor will advise employees and applicants for  

employment of available training programs and entrance 

requirements for each.  

  

d. The contractor will periodically review the training and  

promotion potential of employees who are minorities and 

women and will encourage eligible employees to apply for 

such training and promotion.  

  

7. Unions: If the contractor relies in whole or in part upon unions as 

a source of employees, the contractor will use good faith efforts to 

obtain the cooperation of such unions to increase opportunities for 
minorities and women.  Actions by the contractor, either directly or 

through a contractor's association acting as agent, will include the 

procedures set forth below:  

  

a. The contractor will use good faith efforts to develop, in  

cooperation with the unions, joint training programs aimed toward 

qualifying more minorities and women for membership in the unions 
and increasing the skills of minorities and women so that they may 

qualify for higher paying employment.  

  

b. The contractor will use good faith efforts to incorporate 

an EEO clause into each union agreement to the end that such 

union will be contractually bound to refer applicants without 

regard to their race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or 

disability.  

  

c. The contractor is to obtain information as to the referral  

practices and policies of the labor union except that to the extent such 

information is within the exclusive possession of the labor union and 

such labor union refuses to furnish such information to the 

contractor, the contractor shall so certify to the contracting agency 

and shall set forth what efforts have been made to obtain such 

information.  

  

d. In the event the union is unable to provide the contractor  

with a reasonable flow of referrals within the time limit set forth in 

the collective bargaining agreement, the contractor will, through 

independent recruitment efforts, fill the employment vacancies 
without regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or 

disability; making full efforts to obtain qualified and/or qualifiable 

minorities and women.  The failure of a union to provide sufficient 
referrals (even though it is obligated to provide exclusive referrals 

under the terms of a collective bargaining agreement) does not 

relieve the contractor from the requirements of this paragraph.   In 
the event the union referral practice prevents the contractor from 

meeting the obligations pursuant to Executive Order 11246, as 

amended, and these special provisions, such contractor shall 
immediately notify the contracting agency.  

  

8.  Reasonable Accommodation for Applicants /  

Employees with Disabilities:  The contractor must be familiar 
with the requirements for and comply with the Americans with 

Disabilities Act and all rules and regulations established there under.  

Employers must provide reasonable accommodation in all 
employment activities unless to do so would cause an undue 

hardship.  

  

9. Selection of Subcontractors, Procurement of Materials 
and Leasing of Equipment: The contractor shall not discriminate 

on the grounds of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age or 

disability in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including 
procurement of materials and leases of equipment.  The contractor 

shall take all necessary and reasonable steps to ensure 

nondiscrimination in the administration of this contract.  

  

a. The contractor shall notify all potential subcontractors and  

suppliers and lessors of their EEO obligations under this contract.  

  

b. The contractor will use good faith efforts to ensure  

subcontractor compliance with their EEO obligations.  

  

  

10. Assurance Required by 49 CFR 26.13(b):  
  

a. The requirements of 49 CFR Part 26 and the State DOT’s 

U.S. DOT-approved DBE program are incorporated by reference.  

  

b. The contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on  

the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the performance of 
this contract.  The contractor shall carry out applicable requirements 

of 49 CFR Part 26 in the award and administration of DOT-assisted 

contracts.  Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is 
a material breach of this contract, which may result in the termination 

of this contract or such other remedy as the contracting agency 

deems appropriate.  

  

11. Records and Reports: The contractor shall keep such records 

as necessary to document compliance with the EEO requirements.  

Such records shall be retained for a period of three years following 
the date of the final payment to the contractor for all contract work 

and shall be available at reasonable times and places for inspection 

by authorized representatives of the contracting agency and the 
FHWA.  

  

a.  The records kept by the contractor shall document the  
following:  

  

(1) The number and work hours of minority and nonminority 

group members and women employed in each work classification 

on the project;  

  

(2) The progress and efforts being made in cooperation with 

unions, when applicable, to increase employment  

opportunities for minorities and women; and  

  

(3) The progress and efforts being made in locating, hiring, 

training, qualifying, and upgrading minorities and women;   

  

b.  The contractors and subcontractors will submit an annual  

report to the contracting agency each July for the duration of the 
project, indicating the number of minority, women, and non-minority 

group employees currently engaged in each work classification 

required by the contract work.  This information is to be reported on 
Form FHWA-1391.  The staffing data should represent the project 

work force on board in all or any part of the last payroll period 

preceding the end of July.  If on-the-job training is being required by 
special provision, the contractor will be required to collect and report 

training data.  The employment data should reflect the work force on 

board during all or any part of the last payroll period preceding the 
end of July.  

  

  

III. NONSEGREGATED FACILITIES  

  

This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 

and to all related construction subcontracts of $10,000 or more.  

  

The contractor must ensure that facilities provided for employees are 

provided in such a manner that segregation on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex, or national origin cannot result.  The contractor 

may neither require such segregated use by written or oral policies 

Page 27

Item #4.

http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/eforms/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/eforms/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/eforms/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/eforms/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/eforms/
http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/eforms/


Page 17 of 33 

 

nor tolerate such use by employee custom.  The contractor's 
obligation extends further to ensure that its employees are not 

assigned to perform their services at any location, under the 

contractor's control, where the facilities are segregated.  The term 
"facilities" includes waiting rooms, work areas, restaurants and other 

eating areas, time clocks, restrooms, washrooms, locker rooms, and 

other storage or dressing areas, parking lots, drinking fountains, 
recreation or entertainment areas, transportation, and housing 

provided for employees.  The contractor shall provide separate or 

single-user restrooms and necessary dressing or sleeping areas to 
assure privacy between sexes.  

  

  

IV.  DAVIS-BACON AND RELATED ACT PROVISIONS  

This section is applicable to all Federal-aid construction projects 
exceeding $2,000 and to all related subcontracts and lower-tier 

subcontracts (regardless of subcontract size).  The requirements 
apply to all projects located within the right-ofway of a roadway that 

is functionally classified as Federal-aid highway.  This excludes 

roadways functionally classified as local roads or rural minor 
collectors, which are exempt.  Contracting agencies may elect to 
apply these requirements to other projects.  

The following provisions are from the U.S. Department of Labor 

regulations in 29 CFR 5.5 “Contract provisions and related matters” 

with minor revisions to conform to the FHWA1273 format and 
FHWA program requirements.  

1.  Minimum wages  

a. All laborers and mechanics employed or working upon  

the site of the work, will be paid unconditionally and not less often 
than once a week, and without subsequent deduction or rebate on any 

account (except such payroll deductions as are permitted by 

regulations issued by the Secretary of Labor under the Copeland Act 
(29 CFR part 3)), the full amount of wages and bona fide fringe 

benefits (or cash equivalents thereof) due at time of payment 

computed at rates not less than those contained in the wage 
determination of the Secretary of Labor which is attached hereto and 

made a part hereof, regardless of any contractual relationship which 

may be alleged to exist between the contractor and such laborers and 
mechanics.  

Contributions made or costs reasonably anticipated for bona fide 
fringe benefits under section 1(b)(2) of the Davis-Bacon Act on 

behalf of laborers or mechanics are considered wages paid to such 
laborers or mechanics, subject to the provisions of paragraph 1.d. of 

this section; also, regular contributions made or costs incurred for 

more than a weekly period (but not less often than quarterly) under 
plans, funds, or programs which cover the particular weekly period, 

are deemed to be constructively made or incurred during such weekly 

period. Such laborers and mechanics shall be paid the appropriate 
wage rate and fringe benefits on the wage determination for the 

classification of work actually performed, without regard to skill, 

except as provided in 29 CFR 5.5(a)(4). Laborers or mechanics 
performing work in more than one classification may be 

compensated at the rate specified for each classification for the time 

actually worked therein: Provided, That the employer's payroll 
records accurately set forth the time spent in each classification in 

which work is performed. The wage determination (including any 

additional classification and wage rates conformed under paragraph 
1.b. of this section) and the Davis-Bacon poster (WH–1321) shall be 

posted at all times by the contractor and its subcontractors at the site 

of the work in a prominent and accessible place where it can be 

easily seen by the workers.  

b. (1) The contracting officer shall require that any class of  

laborers or mechanics, including helpers, which is not listed in the 

wage determination and which is to be employed under the contract 
shall be classified in conformance with the wage determination. The 

contracting officer shall approve an additional classification and 

wage rate and fringe benefits therefore only when the following 
criteria have been met:  

(i) The work to be performed by the classification requested 

is not performed by a classification in the wage determination; 

and  

(ii) The classification is utilized in the area by the 

construction industry; and  

(iii) The proposed wage rate, including any bona fide fringe 

benefits, bears a reasonable relationship to the wage rates 

contained in the wage determination.  

(2) If the contractor and the laborers and mechanics to be 

employed in the classification (if known), or their representatives, 

and the contracting officer agree on the classification and wage 

rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits where 

appropriate), a report of the action taken shall be sent by the 

contracting officer to the Administrator of the Wage and Hour 

Division, Employment  

Standards Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, 
DC 20210. The Administrator, or an authorized representative, 

will approve, modify, or disapprove every additional classification 

action within 30 days of receipt and so advise the contracting 
officer or will notify the contracting officer within the 30-day 

period that additional time is necessary.  

(3) In the event the contractor, the laborers or mechanics to 

be employed in the classification or their representatives, and the 

contracting officer do not agree on the proposed classification and 

wage rate (including the amount designated for fringe benefits, 

where appropriate), the contracting officer shall refer the 

questions, including the views of all interested parties and the 

recommendation of the contracting officer, to the Wage and Hour 

Administrator for determination. The Wage and Hour 

Administrator, or an authorized representative, will issue a 

determination within 30 days of receipt and so advise the 

contracting officer or  

will notify the contracting officer within the 30-day period that 
additional time is necessary.  

(4) The wage rate (including fringe benefits where 

appropriate) determined pursuant to paragraphs 1.b.(2) or 1.b.(3) 

of this section, shall be paid to all workers performing work in the 

classification under this contract from the first day on which work 

is performed in the classification.  

c. Whenever the minimum wage rate prescribed in the  

contract for a class of laborers or mechanics includes a fringe benefit 

which is not expressed as an hourly rate, the contractor shall either 

pay the benefit as stated in the wage determination or shall pay 

another bona fide fringe benefit or an hourly cash equivalent thereof.  

d. If the contractor does not make payments to a trustee or 

other third person, the contractor may consider as part of the wages 

of any laborer or mechanic the amount of any costs reasonably 

anticipated in providing bona fide fringe benefits under a plan or 

program, Provided, That the Secretary of Labor has found, upon the 

Page 28

Item #4.



Page 18 of 33 

 

written request of the contractor, that the applicable standards of the 

Davis-Bacon Act have been met. The Secretary of Labor may 

require the contractor to set aside in a separate account assets for the 

meeting of obligations under the plan or program.  

2.  Withholding   

The contracting agency shall upon its own action or upon written 
request of an authorized representative of the Department of Labor, 

withhold or cause to be withheld from the contractor under this 

contract, or any other Federal contract with the same prime 
contractor, or any other federallyassisted contract subject to Davis-

Bacon prevailing wage requirements, which is held by the same 

prime contractor, so much of the accrued payments or advances as 
may be considered necessary to pay laborers and mechanics, 

including apprentices, trainees, and helpers, employed by the 

contractor or any subcontractor the full amount of wages required by 

the contract.  In the event of failure to pay any laborer or mechanic, 

including any apprentice, trainee, or helper, employed or working on 
the site of the work, all or part of the wages required by the contract, 

the contracting agency may, after written notice to the contractor, 

take such action as may be necessary to cause the suspension of any 
further payment, advance, or guarantee of funds until such violations 

have ceased.  

3.  Payrolls and basic records   

a. Payrolls and basic records relating thereto shall be  

maintained by the contractor during the course of the work and 

preserved for a period of three years thereafter for all laborers and 
mechanics working at the site of the work. Such records shall contain 

the name, address, and social security number of each such worker, 

his or her correct classification, hourly rates of wages paid (including 
rates of contributions or costs anticipated for bona fide fringe 

benefits or cash equivalents thereof of the types described in section 

1(b)(2)(B) of the Davis-Bacon Act), daily and weekly number of 
hours worked, deductions made and actual wages paid. Whenever the 

Secretary of Labor has found under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(1)(iv) that the 

wages of any laborer or mechanic include the amount of any costs 
reasonably anticipated in providing benefits under a plan or program 

described in section 1(b)(2)(B) of the DavisBacon Act, the contractor 

shall maintain records which show that the commitment to provide 
such benefits is enforceable, that the plan or program is financially 

responsible, and that the plan or program has been communicated in 

writing to the laborers or mechanics affected, and records which 
show the costs anticipated or the actual cost incurred in providing 

such benefits. Contractors employing apprentices or trainees under 

approved programs shall maintain written evidence of the registration 
of apprenticeship programs and certification of trainee programs, the 

registration of the apprentices and trainees, and the ratios and wage 

rates prescribed in the applicable programs.  

b. (1) The contractor shall submit weekly for each week in  

which any contract work is performed a copy of all payrolls to the 

contracting agency.   The payrolls submitted shall set out accurately 

and completely all of the information required to be maintained 
under 29 CFR 5.5(a)(3)(i), except that full social security numbers 

and home addresses shall not be included on weekly transmittals. 

Instead the payrolls shall only need to include an individually 
identifying number for each employee ( e.g. , the last four digits of 

the employee's social security number). The required weekly payroll 

information may be submitted in any form desired. Optional Form 
WH–347 is available for this purpose from the Wage and Hour 

Division Web site at 

http://www.dol.gov/esa/whd/forms/wh347instr.htm or its successor 
site. The prime contractor is responsible for the submission of copies 

of payrolls by all subcontractors. Contractors and subcontractors 

shall maintain the full social security number and current address of 
each covered worker, and shall provide them upon request to the 

contracting agency for transmission to the State DOT, the FHWA or 

the Wage and Hour Division of the Department of Labor for 
purposes of an investigation or audit of compliance with prevailing 

wage requirements. It is not a violation of this section for a prime 

contractor to require a subcontractor to provide addresses and social 
security numbers to the prime contractor for its own records, without 

weekly submission to the contracting agency..  

(2) Each payroll submitted shall be accompanied by a  

“Statement of Compliance,” signed by the contractor or 

subcontractor or his or her agent who pays or supervises the payment 
of the persons employed under the contract and shall certify the 
following:  

(i) That the payroll for the payroll period contains the 

information required to be provided under §5.5 (a)(3)(ii) of 

Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, the appropriate information is being 

maintained under §5.5 (a)(3)(i) of Regulations, 29 CFR part 5, 

and that such information is correct and complete;  

(ii) That each laborer or mechanic (including each helper, 

apprentice, and trainee) employed on the contract during the 

payroll period has been paid the full weekly wages earned, 

without rebate, either directly or indirectly, and that no 

deductions have been made either directly or indirectly from the 

full wages earned, other than permissible deductions as set forth 

in Regulations, 29 CFR part 3;  

(iii) That each laborer or mechanic has been paid not less than 

the applicable wage rates and fringe benefits or cash equivalents 

for the classification of work performed, as specified in the 

applicable wage determination incorporated into the contract.  

(3) The weekly submission of a properly executed 

certification set forth on the reverse side of Optional Form WH–

347 shall satisfy the requirement for submission of the “Statement 

of Compliance” required by paragraph 3.b.(2) of this section.  

(4) The falsification of any of the above certifications may 

subject the contractor or subcontractor to civil or criminal 

prosecution under section 1001 of title 18 and section 231 of title 

31 of the United States Code.  

c. The contractor or subcontractor shall make the records  

required under paragraph 3.a. of this section available for inspection, 

copying, or transcription by authorized representatives of the 
contracting agency, the State DOT, the FHWA,  or the Department of 

Labor, and shall permit such representatives to interview employees 

during working hours on the job. If the contractor or subcontractor 

fails to submit the required records or to make them available, the 

FHWA may, after written notice to the contractor, the contracting 

agency or the State DOT, take such action as may be necessary to 
cause the suspension of any further payment, advance, or guarantee 

of funds. Furthermore, failure to submit the required records upon 

request or to make such records available may be grounds for 

debarment action pursuant to 29 CFR 5.12.  

4.  Apprentices and trainees   

a. Apprentices (programs of the USDOL).   

Apprentices will be permitted to work at less than the predetermined 
rate for the work they performed when they are employed pursuant to 

Page 29

Item #4.



Page 19 of 33 

 

and individually registered in a bona fide apprenticeship program 
registered with the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and 

Training Administration, Office of Apprenticeship Training, 

Employer and Labor Services, or with a State Apprenticeship 
Agency recognized by the Office, or if a person is employed in his or 

her first 90 days of probationary employment as an apprentice in 

such an apprenticeship program, who is not individually registered in 
the program, but who has been certified by the Office of 

Apprenticeship Training, Employer and Labor Services or a State 

Apprenticeship Agency (where appropriate) to be eligible for 
probationary employment as an apprentice.   

 The allowable ratio of apprentices to journeymen on the job site in 
any craft classification shall not be greater than the ratio permitted to 

the contractor as to the entire work force under the registered 

program. Any worker listed on a payroll at an apprentice wage rate, 
who is not registered or otherwise employed as stated above, shall be 

paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination 

for the classification of work actually performed. In addition, any 
apprentice performing work on the job site in excess of the ratio 

permitted under the registered program shall be paid not less than the 

applicable wage rate on the wage determination for the work actually 
performed. Where a contractor is performing construction on a 

project in a locality other than that in which its program is registered, 

the ratios and wage rates (expressed in percentages of the 
journeyman's hourly rate) specified in the contractor's or 
subcontractor's registered program shall be observed.   

 Every apprentice must be paid at not less than the rate specified in 

the registered program for the apprentice's level of progress, 
expressed as a percentage of the journeymen hourly rate specified in 

the applicable wage determination. Apprentices shall be paid fringe 

benefits in accordance with the provisions of the apprenticeship 
program. If the apprenticeship program does not specify fringe 

benefits, apprentices must be paid the full amount of fringe benefits 

listed on the wage determination for the applicable classification. If 
the Administrator determines that a different practice prevails for the 

applicable apprentice classification, fringes shall be paid in 
accordance with that determination.   

In the event the Office of Apprenticeship Training, Employer and 

Labor Services, or a State Apprenticeship Agency recognized by the 
Office, withdraws approval of an apprenticeship program, the 

contractor will no longer be permitted to utilize apprentices at less 

than the applicable predetermined rate for the work performed until 
an acceptable program is approved.  

b. Trainees (programs of the USDOL).   

Except as provided in 29 CFR 5.16, trainees will not be permitted to 
work at less than the predetermined rate for the work performed 

unless they are employed pursuant to and individually registered in a 

program which has received prior approval, evidenced by formal 
certification by the U.S. Department of Labor, Employment and 
Training Administration.   

The ratio of trainees to journeymen on the job site shall not be 

greater than permitted under the plan approved by the Employment 
and Training Administration.   

Every trainee must be paid at not less than the rate specified in the 

approved program for the trainee's level of progress, expressed as a 
percentage of the journeyman hourly rate specified in the applicable 

wage determination. Trainees shall be paid fringe benefits in 

accordance with the provisions of the trainee program. If the trainee 
program does not mention fringe benefits, trainees shall be paid the 

full amount of fringe benefits listed on the wage determination unless 
the Administrator of the Wage and Hour Division determines that 

there is an apprenticeship program associated with the corresponding 

journeyman wage rate on the wage determination which provides for 
less than full fringe benefits for apprentices. Any employee listed on 

the payroll at a trainee rate who is not registered and participating in 

a training plan approved by the Employment and Training 
Administration shall be paid not less than the applicable wage rate on 

the wage determination for the classification of work actually 

performed. In addition, any trainee performing work on the job site 
in excess of the ratio permitted under the registered program shall be 

paid not less than the applicable wage rate on the wage determination 
for the work actually performed.   

In the event the Employment and Training Administration withdraws 

approval of a training program, the contractor will no longer be 
permitted to utilize trainees at less than the applicable predetermined 

rate for the work performed until an acceptable program is approved.  

c. Equal employment opportunity. The utilization of  

apprentices, trainees and journeymen under this part shall be in 
conformity with the equal employment opportunity requirements of 

Executive Order 11246, as amended, and 29 CFR part 30.  

d. Apprentices and Trainees (programs of the U.S. DOT).  

Apprentices and trainees working under apprenticeship and skill 

training programs which have been certified by the Secretary of 

Transportation as promoting EEO in connection with Federal-aid 
highway construction programs are not subject to the requirements of 

paragraph 4 of this Section IV. The straight time hourly wage rates 

for apprentices and trainees under such programs will be established 
by the particular programs. The ratio of apprentices and trainees to 

journeymen shall not be greater than permitted by the terms of the 
particular program.  

5. Compliance with Copeland Act requirements.   The 

contractor shall comply with the requirements of 29 CFR part 3, 

which are incorporated by reference in this contract.  

6. Subcontracts.   The contractor or subcontractor shall insert 

Form FHWA-1273 in any subcontracts and also require the 

subcontractors to include Form FHWA-1273 in any lower tier 

subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for the 

compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with 

all the contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5.  

7. Contract termination: debarment.   A breach of the 

contract clauses in 29 CFR 5.5 may be grounds for termination 

of the contract, and for debarment as a contractor and a 

subcontractor as provided in 29 CFR 5.12.  

8. Compliance with Davis-Bacon and Related Act 

requirements.  All rulings and interpretations of the 

DavisBacon and Related Acts contained in 29 CFR parts 1, 3, 

and 5 are herein incorporated by reference in this contract.  

9. Disputes concerning labor standards. Disputes arising 

out of the labor standards provisions of this contract shall not be 

subject to the general disputes clause of this contract. Such 

disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the procedures of 

the Department of Labor set forth in 29 CFR parts 5, 6, and 7. 

Disputes within the meaning of this clause include disputes 

between the contractor (or any of its subcontractors) and the 

contracting agency, the U.S. Department of Labor, or the 

employees or their representatives.  

Page 30

Item #4.



Page 20 of 33 

 

10. Certification of eligibility.  

a. By entering into this contract, the contractor certifies that 

neither it (nor he or she) nor any person or firm who has an interest 

in the contractor's firm is a person or firm ineligible to be awarded 

Government contracts by virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon 

Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  

b. No part of this contract shall be subcontracted to any 

person or firm ineligible for award of a Government contract by 

virtue of section 3(a) of the Davis-Bacon Act or 29 CFR 5.12(a)(1).  

c. The penalty for making false statements is prescribed in 

the U.S. Criminal Code, 18 U.S.C. 1001.  

  

  

V.   CONTRACT WORK HOURS AND SAFETY STANDARDS 

ACT   

The following clauses apply to any Federal-aid construction contract 
in an amount in excess of $100,000 and subject to the overtime 

provisions of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act. 

These clauses shall be inserted in addition to the clauses required by 
29 CFR 5.5(a) or 29 CFR 4.6.  As used in this paragraph, the terms 
laborers and mechanics include watchmen and guards.  

1. Overtime requirements.   No contractor or 

subcontractor contracting for any part of the contract work which 

may require or involve the employment of laborers or mechanics 

shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any 

workweek in which he or she is employed on such work to work in 

excess of forty hours in such workweek unless such laborer or 

mechanic receives compensation at a rate not less than one and one-

half times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 

forty hours in such workweek.  

2. Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated 

damages.  In the event of any violation of the clause set forth in 

paragraph (1.) of this section, the contractor and any subcontractor 

responsible therefor shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition, 

such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States 

(in the case of work done under contract for the District of Columbia 

or a territory, to such District or to such territory), for liquidated 

damages. Such liquidated damages shall be computed with respect to 

each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen and 

guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1.) 

of this section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which 

such individual was required or permitted to work in excess of the 

standard workweek of forty hours without payment of the overtime 

wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph (1.) of this 

section.  

3. Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated 

damages. The FHWA or the contacting agency shall upon its own 

action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the 

Department of Labor withhold or cause to be withheld, from any 

moneys payable on account of work performed by the contractor or 

subcontractor under any such contract or any other Federal contract 

with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted 

contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards 

Act, which is held by the same prime contractor, such sums as may 

be determined to be necessary to satisfy any liabilities of such 

contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and liquidated damages 

as provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (2.) of this section.  

4. Subcontracts.  The contractor or subcontractor shall 

insert in any subcontracts the clauses set forth in paragraph (1.) 

through (4.) of this section and also a clause requiring the 

subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier 

subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for 

compliance by any subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with the 

clauses set forth in paragraphs (1.) through (4.) of this section.  

  

  

  

  

VI. SUBLETTING OR ASSIGNING THE CONTRACT  

  

This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 

on the National Highway System.  

  

1. The contractor shall perform with its own organization contract 

work amounting to not less than 30 percent (or a greater percentage if 
specified elsewhere in the contract) of the total original contract 

price, excluding any specialty items designated by the contracting 

agency.  Specialty items may be performed by subcontract and the 
amount of any such specialty items performed may be deducted from 

the total original contract price before computing the amount of work 

required to be performed by the contractor's own organization (23 
CFR 635.116).  

  

a.  The term “perform work with its own organization” refers  

to workers employed or leased by the prime contractor, and 

equipment owned or rented by the prime contractor, with or without 

operators.  Such term does not include employees or equipment of a 
subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor, agents of the prime 

contractor, or any other assignees.  The term may include payments 

for the costs of hiring leased employees from an employee leasing 

firm meeting all relevant Federal and State regulatory requirements.  

Leased employees may only be included in this term if the prime 

contractor meets all of the following conditions:  

  

(1) the prime contractor maintains control over the 

supervision of the day-to-day activities of the leased employees;  

(2) the prime contractor remains responsible for the quality of 

the work of the leased employees;  

(3) the prime contractor retains all power to accept or exclude 

individual employees from work on the project; and  

(4) the prime contractor remains ultimately responsible for 

the payment of predetermined minimum wages, the submission of 

payrolls, statements of compliance and all other Federal regulatory 

requirements.  

  

b. "Specialty Items" shall be construed to be limited to work  

that requires highly specialized knowledge, abilities, or equipment 

not ordinarily available in the type of contracting organizations 

qualified and expected to bid or propose on the contract as a whole 
and in general are to be limited to minor components of the overall 

contract.  

  

2. The contract amount upon which the requirements set 

forth in paragraph (1) of Section VI is computed includes the cost of 

material and manufactured products which are to be purchased or 

produced by the contractor under the contract provisions.  

  

3. The contractor shall furnish (a) a competent 

superintendent or supervisor who is employed by the firm, has full 

authority to direct performance of the work in accordance with the 

contract requirements, and is in charge of all construction operations 

(regardless of who performs the work) and (b) such other of its own 

organizational resources (supervision, management, and engineering 

Page 31

Item #4.



Page 21 of 33 

 

services) as the contracting officer determines is necessary to assure 

the performance of the contract.  

  

4. No portion of the contract shall be sublet, assigned or 

otherwise disposed of except with the written consent of the 

contracting officer, or authorized representative, and such consent 

when given shall not be construed to relieve the contractor of any 

responsibility for the fulfillment of the contract.  Written consent 

will be given only after the contracting agency has assured that each 

subcontract is evidenced in writing and that it contains all pertinent 

provisions and requirements of the prime contract.  

  

5. The 30% self-performance requirement of paragraph (1) 

is not applicable to design-build contracts; however, contracting 

agencies may establish their own self-performance requirements.  

  

  

VII. SAFETY: ACCIDENT PREVENTION  

  

T h i s p r o v i s i o n i s applicable to all Federal-aid construction 
contracts and to all related subcontracts.  

  

1. In the performance of this contract the contractor shall 

comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws governing 

safety, health, and sanitation (23 CFR 635). The contractor shall 

provide all safeguards, safety devices and protective equipment and 

take any other needed actions as it determines, or as the contracting 

officer may determine, to be reasonably necessary to protect the life 

and health of employees on the job and the safety of the public and 

to protect property in connection with the performance of the work 

covered by the contract.  

  

2. It is a condition of this contract, and shall be made a 

condition of each subcontract, which the contractor enters into 

pursuant to this contract, that the contractor and any subcontractor 

shall not permit any employee, in performance of the contract, to 

work in surroundings or under conditions which are unsanitary, 

hazardous or dangerous to his/her health or safety, as determined 

under construction safety and health standards (29 CFR 1926) 

promulgated by the Secretary of Labor, in accordance with Section 

107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 

U.S.C. 3704).  

  

3. Pursuant to 29 CFR 1926.3, it is a condition of this 

contract that the Secretary of Labor or authorized representative 

thereof, shall have right of entry to any site of contract performance 

to inspect or investigate the matter of compliance with the 

construction safety and health standards and to carry out the duties of 

the Secretary under Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and 

Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C.3704).  

  

  

VIII. FALSE STATEMENTS CONCERNING HIGHWAY 

PROJECTS  

  

T h i s p r o v i s i o n i s applicable to all Federal-aid construction 

contracts and to all related subcontracts.  

  

  In order to assure high quality and durable construction in 

conformity with approved plans and specifications and a high degree 
of reliability on statements and representations made by engineers, 

contractors, suppliers, and workers on Federalaid highway projects, it 

is essential that all persons concerned with the project perform their 
functions as carefully, thoroughly, and honestly as possible.  Willful 

falsification, distortion, or misrepresentation with respect to any facts 

related to the project is a violation of Federal law.  To prevent any 
misunderstanding regarding the seriousness of these and similar acts, 

Form FHWA-1022 shall be posted on each Federal-aid highway 
project (23 CFR 635) in one or more places where it is readily 

available to all persons concerned with the project:  

  

  

18 U.S.C. 1020 reads as follows:  

  

  "Whoever, being an officer, agent, or employee of the United 
States, or of any State or Territory, or whoever, whether a person, 

association, firm, or corporation, knowingly makes any false 

statement, false representation, or false report as to the character, 
quality, quantity, or cost of the material used or to be used, or the 

quantity or quality of the work performed or to be performed, or the 

cost thereof in connection with the submission of plans, maps, 
specifications, contracts, or costs of construction on any highway or 

related project submitted for approval to the Secretary of 
Transportation; or  

  Whoever knowingly makes any false statement, false 

representation, false report or false claim with respect to the 
character, quality, quantity, or cost of any work performed or to be 

performed, or materials furnished or to be furnished, in connection 

with the construction of any highway or related project approved by 
the Secretary of Transportation; or  

  Whoever knowingly makes any false statement or false 
representation as to material fact in any statement, certificate, or 

report submitted pursuant to provisions of the Federal-aid Roads Act 
approved July 1, 1916, (39 Stat. 355), as amended and supplemented;  

  Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than 5 years 
or both."  

IX. IMPLEMENTATION OF CLEAN AIR ACT AND FEDERAL 

WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT 

This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 
and to all related subcontracts.  

By submission of this bid/proposal or the execution of this contract, 

or subcontract, as appropriate, the bidder, proposer, Federal-aid 

construction contractor, or subcontractor, as appropriate, will be 

deemed to have stipulated as follows:  

1. That any person who is or will be utilized in 

theperformance of this contract is not prohibited from receiving an 

award due to a violation of Section 508 of the Clean Water Act or 

Section 306 of the Clean Air Act. 

2. That the contractor agrees to include or cause to 

beincluded the requirements of paragraph (1) of this Section X in 

every subcontract, and further agrees to take such action as the 

contracting agency may direct as a means of enforcing such 

requirements. 

X. CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, 

SUSPENSION, INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY 

EXCLUSION 

This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts, 

design-build contracts, subcontracts, lower-tier subcontracts, 
purchase orders, lease agreements, consultant contracts or any other 

covered transaction requiring FHWA approval or that is estimated to 

cost $25,000 or more –  as defined in 2 CFR Parts 180 and 1200.  

1. Instructions for Certification – First Tier Participants: 

Page 32

Item #4.



Page 22 of 33 

 

a. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective 

first tier participant is providing the certification set out below.  

b. The inability of a person to provide the certification set outbelow 

will not necessarily result in denial of participation in this 

covered transaction. The prospective first tier participant shall 

submit an explanation of why it cannot provide the certification 

set out below. The certification or explanation will be considered 

in connection with the department or agency's determination 

whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the 

prospective first tier participant to furnish a certification or an 

explanation shall disqualify such a person from participation in 

this transaction.  

c. The certification in this clause is a material representation  

of fact upon which reliance was placed when the contracting agency 

determined to enter into this transaction. If it is later determined that 

the prospective participant knowingly rendered an erroneous 

certification, in addition to other remedies available to the Federal 

Government, the contracting agency may terminate this transaction 

for cause of default.  

d. The prospective first tier participant shall provide  

immediate written notice to the contracting agency to whom this 
proposal is submitted if any time the prospective first tier participant 

learns that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has 
become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.  

e. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," 

"ineligible," "participant," "person,"  "principal," and 

"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, are defined in 2 

CFR Parts 180 and 1200.  “First Tier Covered Transactions” 

refers to any covered transaction between a grantee or 

subgrantee of Federal funds and a participant (such as the prime 

or general contract).  “Lower Tier Covered Transactions” refers 

to any covered transaction under a First Tier Covered 

Transaction (such as subcontracts).  “First Tier Participant” 

refers to the participant who has entered into a covered 

transaction with a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds (such 

as the prime or general contractor).  “Lower Tier Participant” 

refers any participant who has entered into a covered transaction 

with a First Tier Participant or other Lower Tier Participants 

(such as subcontractors and suppliers).   

f. The prospective first tier participant agrees by submitting  

this proposal that, should the proposed covered transaction be entered 
into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered 

transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered 
transaction, unless authorized by the department or agency entering 

into this transaction.  

g. The prospective first tier participant further agrees by 

submitting this proposal that it will include the clause titled 

"Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and 
Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered Transactions," provided by 

the department or contracting agency, entering into this covered 

transaction, without modification, in all lower tier covered 
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions 

exceeding the $25,000 threshold.  

h. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a  

certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered 
transaction that is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily 

excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the 

certification is erroneous.  A participant is responsible for ensuring 
that its principals are not suspended, debarred, or otherwise ineligible 

to participate in covered transactions.  To verify the eligibility of its 

principals, as well as the eligibility of any lower tier prospective 

participants, each participant may, but is not required to, check the 
Excluded Parties List System website (https://www.epls.gov/), which 

is compiled by the General Services Administration.  

i. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require 

the establishment of a system of records in order to render in 

good faith the certification required by this clause. The 

knowledge and information of the prospective participant is not 

required to exceed that which is normally possessed by a prudent 

person in the ordinary course of business dealings.  

  

j. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph (f) of these 

instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction knowingly 

enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is 

suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 

participation in this transaction, in addition to other remedies 

available to the Federal Government, the department or agency 

may terminate this transaction for cause or default.  

  

* * * * *  

  

2.  Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, 
Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion – First Tier 
Participants:  
  

a.  The prospective first tier participant certifies to the best of its 

knowledge and belief, that it and its principals:  

  

(1) Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 

debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 

participating in covered transactions by any Federal  

department or agency;  

  

(2) Have not within a three-year period preceding this 

proposal been convicted of or had a civil judgment rendered against 

them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection 

with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, 

State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; 

violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes or commission of 

embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of 

records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;  

  

(3) Are not presently indicted for or otherwise criminally or 

civilly charged by a governmental entity (Federal, State or local) 

with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in  

paragraph (a)(2) of this certification; and  

  

(4) Have not within a three-year period preceding this 

application/proposal had one or more public transactions (Federal, 

State or local) terminated for cause or default.  

  

  b.   Where the prospective participant is unable to certify to any of 

the statements in this certification, such prospective participant shall 

attach an explanation to this proposal.  

  

  2. Instructions for Certification - Lower Tier Participants:  
  

(Applicable to all subcontracts, purchase orders and other lower tier 

transactions requiring prior FHWA approval or estimated to cost 

$25,000 or more - 2 CFR Parts 180 and  
1200)  

  

a. By signing and submitting this proposal, the prospective 

lower tier is providing the certification set out below.  

  

b. The certification in this clause is a material representation 

of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 

entered into. If it is later determined that the prospective lower tier 

Page 33

Item #4.



Page 23 of 33 

 

participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in 

addition to other remedies available to the Federal Government, the 

department, or agency with which this transaction originated may 

pursue available remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.  

  

c. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide 

immediate written notice to the person to which this proposal is 

submitted if at any time the prospective lower tier participant learns 

that its certification was erroneous by reason of changed 

circumstances.  

  

d. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," 

"suspended," "ineligible," "participant," "person," "principal," and 

"voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, are defined in 2 CFR 

Parts 180 and 1200.  You may contact the person to which this 

proposal is submitted for assistance in obtaining a copy of those 

regulations.  “First Tier Covered Transactions” refers to any covered 

transaction between a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds and a 

participant (such as the prime or general contract).  “Lower Tier 

Covered Transactions” refers to any covered transaction under a 

First Tier Covered Transaction (such as subcontracts).  “First Tier 

Participant” refers to the participant who has entered into a covered 

transaction with a grantee or subgrantee of Federal funds  

(such as the prime or general contractor).  “Lower Tier Participant” 

refers any participant who has entered into a covered transaction with 

a First Tier Participant or other Lower Tier Participants (such as 
subcontractors and suppliers).  

  

e. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by 

submitting this proposal that, should the proposed covered 

transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any 

lower tier covered transaction with a person who is debarred, 

suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 

participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by the 

department or agency with which this transaction originated.  

  

f. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by 

submitting this proposal that it will include this clause titled 

"Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and 

Voluntary Exclusion-Lower Tier Covered Transaction," without 

modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all 

solicitations for lower tier covered transactions exceeding the 

$25,000 threshold.  

  

g. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a 

certification of a prospective participant in a lower tier covered 

transaction that is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or voluntarily 

excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the 

certification is erroneous. A participant is responsible for ensuring 

that its principals are not suspended, debarred, or otherwise 

ineligible to participate in covered transactions.  To verify the 

eligibility of its principals, as well as the eligibility of any lower tier 

prospective participants, each participant may, but is not required to, 

check the Excluded Parties List System website 

(https://www.epls.gov/), which is compiled by the General Services 

Administration.    

  

h. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to 

require establishment of a system of records in order to render in 

good faith the certification required by this clause. The knowledge 

and information of participant is not required to exceed that which is 

normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of 

business dealings.  

  

i. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph e of 

these instructions, if a participant in a covered transaction knowingly 

enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is 

suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 

participation in this transaction, in addition to other remedies 

available to the Federal Government, the  

department or agency with which this transaction originated   may pursue 

available remedies, including suspension and/or   debarment.    

    

* * * * *    

      

Certification Regarding Debarment, 
Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary 
Exclusion--Lower Tier Participants:  
  

1. The prospective lower tier participant certifies, by 

submission of this proposal, that neither it nor its principals is presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or 

voluntarily excluded from participating in covered transactions by any 

Federal department or agency.  

  

2. Where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to 

certify to any of the statements in this certification, such prospective 

participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal.  

  

* * * * *  

  

XI. CERTIFICATION REGARDING USE OF CONTRACT FUNDS FOR LOBBYING  

  

This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid construction contracts 

and to all related subcontracts which exceed $100,000 (49 CFR 20).  

  

  1. The prospective participant certifies, by signing and submitting this 

bid or proposal, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:  

  

a. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 

paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to any person for influencing 

Page 34

Item #4.



Page 24 of 33 

 

or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any Federal 

agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, 

or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the 

awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, 

the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 

agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 

modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative 

agreement.  

  

b. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have 

been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting 

to influence an officer or employee of any Federal agency, a Member 

of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 

Member of Congress in connection with this Federal contract, grant, 

loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and 

submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying," 

in accordance with its instructions.  

  

2. This certification is a material representation of fact upon 

which reliance was placed when this transaction was made or entered 

into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or 

entering into this transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Any person 

who fails to file the required certification shall be subject to a civil 

penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for each 

such failure.  

  

3. The prospective participant also agrees by submitting its 

bid or proposal that the participant shall require that the language of 

this certification be included in all lower tier subcontracts, which 

exceed $100,000 and that all such recipients shall certify and disclose 

accordingly.  

  

Page 35

Item #4.



 

Page 25 of 33 

 

ATTACHMENT A - EMPLOYMENT AND MATERIALS PREFERENCE FOR APPALACHIAN DEVELOPMENT HIGHWAY 

SYSTEM OR APPALACHIAN LOCAL ACCESS ROAD CONTRACTS  

This provision is applicable to all Federal-aid projects funded under the Appalachian Regional Development Act of 1965.  

  

  1. During the performance of this contract, the contractor undertaking to do work which is, or reasonably may be, done as on-site work, shall 

give preference to qualified persons who regularly reside in the labor area as designated by the DOL wherein the contract work is situated, or the 
subregion, or the Appalachian counties of the State wherein the contract work is situated, except:  

  

a. To the extent that qualified persons regularly residing in the area are not available.  

  

b. For the reasonable needs of the contractor to employ supervisory or specially experienced personnel necessary to assure an efficient 

execution of the contract work.  

  

c. For the obligation of the contractor to offer employment to present or former employees as the result of a lawful collective bargaining 

contract, provided that the number of nonresident persons employed under this subparagraph (1c) shall not exceed 20 percent of the total number 

of employees employed by the contractor on the contract work, except as provided in subparagraph (4) below.  

  

2. The contractor shall place a job order with the State Employment Service indicating (a) the classifications of the laborers, mechanics 

and other employees required to perform the contract work, (b) the number of employees required in each classification, (c) the date on which the 

participant estimates such employees will be required, and (d) any other pertinent information required by the State Employment Service to 

complete the job order form.  The job order may be placed with the State Employment Service in writing or by telephone.  If during the course of 

the contract work, the information submitted by the contractor in the original job order is substantially modified, the participant shall promptly 

notify the State Employment Service.  

  

3. The contractor shall give full consideration to all qualified job applicants referred to him by the State Employment Service.  The 

contractor is not required to grant employment to any job applicants who, in his opinion, are not qualified to perform the classification of work 

required.  

  

4. If, within one week following the placing of a job order by the contractor with the State Employment Service, the State Employment 

Service is unable to refer any qualified job applicants to the contractor, or less than the number requested, the State Employment Service will 

forward a certificate to the contractor indicating the unavailability of applicants.  Such certificate shall be made a part of the contractor's 

permanent project records.  Upon receipt of this certificate, the contractor may employ persons who do not normally reside in the labor area to 

fill positions covered by the certificate, notwithstanding the provisions of subparagraph (1c) above.  

  

5. The provisions of 23 CFR 633.207(e) allow the contracting agency to provide a contractual preference for the use of mineral resource 

materials native to the Appalachian region.    

  

6. The contractor shall include the provisions of Sections 1 through 4 of this Attachment A in every subcontract for work which is, or 

reasonably may be, done as on-site work.  

  

  

  

  

Page 36

Item #4.



 

Page 26 of 33 

 

EXHIBIT “D” 

 

"General Decision Number: FL20220162 02/25/2022 

 

Superseded General Decision Number: FL20210162 

 

State: Florida 

 

Construction Type: Highway 

 

County: Clay County in Florida. 

 

HIGHWAY CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS 

 

Note: Contracts subject to the Davis-Bacon Act are generally 

required to pay at least the applicable minimum wage rate 

required under Executive Order 14026 or Executive Order 13658. 

Please note that these Executive Orders apply to covered 

contracts entered into by the federal government that are 

subject to the Davis-Bacon Act itself, but do not apply to 

contracts subject only to the Davis-Bacon Related Acts, 

including those set forth at 29 CFR 5.1(a)(2)-(60). 

 

______________________________________________________________ 

|If the contract is entered    |. Executive Order 14026      | 

|into on or after January 30,  |  generally applies to the   | 

|2022, or the contract is      |  contract.                  | 

|renewed or extended (e.g., an |. The contractor must pay    | 

|option is exercised) on or    |  all covered workers at     | 

|after January 30, 2022:       |  least $15.00 per hour (or  | 

|                              |  the applicable wage rate   | 

|                              |  listed on this wage        | 

|                              |  determination, if it is    | 

|                              |  higher) for all hours      | 

|                              |  spent performing on the    | 

|                              |  contract in 2022.          | 

|______________________________|_____________________________| 

|If the contract was awarded on|. Executive Order 13658      | 

|or between January 1, 2015 and|  generally applies to the   | 

|January 29, 2022, and the     |  contract.                  | 

|contract is not renewed or    |. The contractor must pay all| 

|extended on or after January  |  covered workers at least   | 

|30, 2022:                     |  $11.25 per hour (or the    | 

|                              |  applicable wage rate listed| 

|                              |  on this wage determination,| 

|                              |  if it is higher) for all   | 

|                              |  hours spent performing on  | 

|                              |  that contract in 2022.     | 

|______________________________|_____________________________| 

 

Page 37

Item #4.



 

Page 27 of 33 

 

The applicable Executive Order minimum wage rate will be 

adjusted annually. If this contract is covered by one of the 

Executive Orders and a classification considered necessary for 

performance of work on the contract does not appear on this 

wage determination, the contractor must still submit a 

conformance request. 

 

Additional information on contractor requirements and worker 

protections under the Executive Orders is available at 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts. 

 

 

Modification Number     Publication Date 

          0              01/07/2022 

          1              02/25/2022 

 

*  SUFL2013-023 08/19/2013 

 

                                  Rates          Fringes 

 

CARPENTER, Includes Form Work....$ 12.74 **          0.00 

   

CEMENT MASON/CONCRETE FINISHER...$ 12.25 **          0.00 

   

ELECTRICIAN......................$ 21.87             0.00 

   

FENCE ERECTOR....................$ 11.41 **          0.00 

   

HIGHWAY/PARKING LOT STRIPING:    

 Operator (Striping Machine).....$ 12.37 **          0.32 

   

HIGHWAY/PARKING LOT STRIPING:    

 Painter.........................$ 12.13 **          0.00 

   

INSTALLER - GUARDRAIL............$ 11.94 **          0.00 

   

IRONWORKER, ORNAMENTAL...........$ 13.48 **          0.00 

   

IRONWORKER, REINFORCING..........$ 15.77             0.00 

   

IRONWORKER, STRUCTURAL...........$ 17.50             0.00 

   

LABORER (Traffic Control    

Specialist)......................$ 10.94 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Asphalt, Includes    

Raker, Shoveler, Spreader and    

Distributor......................$ 13.61 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Common or General......$ 10.39 **          0.00 

Page 38

Item #4.



 

Page 28 of 33 

 

   

LABORER:  Concrete Saw (Hand    

Held/Walk Behind)................$ 12.04 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Flagger................$ 12.02 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Grade Checker..........$ 13.64 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Landscape &    

Irrigation.......................$ 11.48 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Mason Tender -    

Cement/Concrete..................$ 12.81 **          0.00 

   

LABORER:  Pipelayer..............$ 14.46 **          1.17 

   

OPERATOR:  Auger.................$ 12.43 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:     

Backhoe/Excavator/Trackhoe.......$ 14.81 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Bobcat/Skid    

Steer/Skid Loader................$ 12.86 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Boom..................$ 16.50             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Boring Machine........$ 17.18             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Broom/Sweeper.........$ 11.60 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Bulldozer.............$ 15.76             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Concrete Finishing    

Machine..........................$ 15.44             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Concrete Pump.........$ 19.57             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Concrete Saw..........$ 15.09             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Crane.................$ 20.62             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Curb Machine..........$ 19.21             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Distributor...........$ 15.01             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Drill.................$ 14.71 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Forklift..............$ 12.02 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Gradall...............$ 14.71 **          0.00 

Page 39

Item #4.



 

Page 29 of 33 

 

   

OPERATOR:  Grader/Blade..........$ 18.21             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Grinding/Grooving    

Machine..........................$ 16.07             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Loader................$ 16.23             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Mechanic..............$ 18.20             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Milling Machine.......$ 15.27             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Oiler.................$ 14.92 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Paver  (Asphalt,    

Aggregate, and Concrete).........$ 15.32             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Piledriver............$ 17.23             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Post Driver    

(Guardrail/Fences)...............$ 20.22             0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Roller................$ 12.07 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Scraper...............$ 12.01 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Screed................$ 14.97 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Tractor...............$ 12.91 **          0.00 

   

OPERATOR:  Trencher..............$ 20.17             0.00 

   

PAINTER:  Spray..................$ 19.57             0.00 

   

TRAFFIC SIGNALIZATION:     

Traffic Signal Installation......$ 16.36             0.00 

   

TRUCK DRIVER:  Dump Truck........$ 14.61 **          0.00 

   

TRUCK DRIVER:  Flatbed Truck.....$ 14.28 **          0.00 

   

TRUCK DRIVER:  Lowboy Truck......$ 14.58 **          0.00 

   

TRUCK DRIVER:  Slurry Truck......$ 11.96 **          0.00 

   

TRUCK DRIVER:  Vactor Truck......$ 13.70 **          0.00 

   

TRUCK DRIVER:  Water Truck.......$ 14.23 **          0.00 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

Page 40

Item #4.



 

Page 30 of 33 

 

WELDERS - Receive rate prescribed for craft performing 

operation to which welding is incidental. 

 

===============================================================

= 

 

** Workers in this classification may be entitled to a higher 

minimum wage under Executive Order 14026 ($15.00) or 13658 

($11.25).  Please see the Note at the top of the wage 

determination for more information. 

 

Note: Executive Order (EO) 13706, Establishing Paid Sick Leave 

for Federal Contractors applies to all contracts subject to the 

Davis-Bacon Act for which the contract is awarded (and any 

solicitation was issued) on or after January 1, 2017.  If this 

contract is covered by the EO, the contractor must provide 

employees with 1 hour of paid sick leave for every 30 hours 

they work, up to 56 hours of paid sick leave each year. 

Employees must be permitted to use paid sick leave for their 

own illness, injury or other health-related needs, including 

preventive care; to assist a family member (or person who is 

like family to the employee) who is ill, injured, or has other 

health-related needs, including preventive care; or for reasons 

resulting from, or to assist a family member (or person who is 

like family to the employee) who is a victim of, domestic 

violence, sexual assault, or stalking.  Additional information 

on contractor requirements and worker protections under the EO 

is available at 

https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/government-contracts. 

 

Unlisted classifications needed for work not included within 

the scope of the classifications listed may be added after 

award only as provided in the labor standards contract clauses 

(29CFR 5.5 (a) (1) (ii)). 

 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

 

The body of each wage determination lists the classification 

and wage rates that have been found to be prevailing for the 

cited type(s) of construction in the area covered by the wage 

determination. The classifications are listed in alphabetical 

order of ""identifiers"" that indicate whether the particular 

rate is a union rate (current union negotiated rate for local), 

a survey rate (weighted average rate) or a union average rate 

(weighted union average rate). 

 

Union Rate Identifiers 

 

Page 41

Item #4.



 

Page 31 of 33 

 

A four letter classification abbreviation identifier enclosed 

in dotted lines beginning with characters other than ""SU"" or 

""UAVG"" denotes that the union classification and rate were 

prevailing for that classification in the survey. Example: 

PLUM0198-005 07/01/2014. PLUM is an abbreviation identifier of 

the union which prevailed in the survey for this 

classification, which in this example would be Plumbers. 0198 

indicates the local union number or district council number 

where applicable, i.e., Plumbers Local 0198. The next number, 

005 in the example, is an internal number used in processing 

the wage determination. 07/01/2014 is the effective date of the 

most current negotiated rate, which in this example is July 1, 

2014. 

 

Union prevailing wage rates are updated to reflect all rate 

changes in the collective bargaining agreement (CBA) governing 

this classification and rate. 

 

Survey Rate Identifiers 

 

Classifications listed under the ""SU"" identifier indicate that 

no one rate prevailed for this classification in the survey and 

the published rate is derived by computing a weighted average 

rate based on all the rates reported in the survey for that 

classification.  As this weighted average rate includes all 

rates reported in the survey, it may include both union and 

non-union rates. Example: SULA2012-007 5/13/2014. SU indicates 

the rates are survey rates based on a weighted average 

calculation of rates and are not majority rates. LA indicates 

the State of Louisiana. 2012 is the year of survey on which 

these classifications and rates are based. The next number, 007 

in the example, is an internal number used in producing the 

wage determination. 5/13/2014 indicates the survey completion 

date for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 

 

Survey wage rates are not updated and remain in effect until a 

new survey is conducted. 

 

Union Average Rate Identifiers 

 

Classification(s) listed under the UAVG identifier indicate 

that no single majority rate prevailed for those 

classifications; however, 100% of the data reported for the 

classifications was union data. EXAMPLE: UAVG-OH-0010 

08/29/2014. UAVG indicates that the rate is a weighted union 

average rate. OH indicates the state. The next number, 0010 in 

the example, is an internal number used in producing the wage 

determination. 08/29/2014 indicates the survey completion date 

for the classifications and rates under that identifier. 

 

Page 42

Item #4.



 

Page 32 of 33 

 

A UAVG rate will be updated once a year, usually in January of 

each year, to reflect a weighted average of the current 

negotiated/CBA rate of the union locals from which the rate is 

based. 

 

 

 

---------------------------------------------------------------- 

 

                   WAGE DETERMINATION APPEALS PROCESS 

 

1.) Has there been an initial decision in the matter? This can 

be: 

 

*  an existing published wage determination 

*  a survey underlying a wage determination 

*  a Wage and Hour Division letter setting forth a position on 

   a wage determination matter 

*  a conformance (additional classification and rate) ruling 

 

On survey related matters, initial contact, including requests 

for summaries of surveys, should be with the Wage and Hour 

National Office because National Office has responsibility for 

the Davis-Bacon survey program. If the response from this 

initial contact is not satisfactory, then the process described 

in 2.) and 3.) should be followed. 

 

With regard to any other matter not yet ripe for the formal 

process described here, initial contact should be with the 

Branch of Construction Wage Determinations.  Write to: 

 

            Branch of Construction Wage Determinations 

            Wage and Hour Division 

            U.S. Department of Labor 

            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. 

            Washington, DC 20210 

 

2.) If the answer to the question in 1.) is yes, then an 

interested party (those affected by the action) can request 

review and reconsideration from the Wage and Hour Administrator 

(See 29 CFR Part 1.8 and 29 CFR Part 7). Write to: 

 

            Wage and Hour Administrator 

            U.S. Department of Labor 

            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. 

            Washington, DC 20210 

 

The request should be accompanied by a full statement of the 

interested party's position and by any information (wage 

payment data, project description, area practice material, 

Page 43

Item #4.



 

Page 33 of 33 

 

etc.) that the requestor considers relevant to the issue. 

 

3.) If the decision of the Administrator is not favorable, an 

interested party may appeal directly to the Administrative 

Review Board (formerly the Wage Appeals Board).  Write to: 

 

            Administrative Review Board 

            U.S. Department of Labor 

            200 Constitution Avenue, N.W. 

            Washington, DC 20210 

 

4.) All decisions by the Administrative Review Board are final. 

 

===============================================================

= 

 

          END OF GENERAL DECISION" 

Page 44

Item #4.



Page 45

Item #4.



Page 46

Item #4.



Palmetto Ave. MLK Nature Preserve (US 17) & VF Hall Park
Clay County
Bid No.  2022-02
FPID: 435677-1-58-01
Bid Tab Review

AMOUNT BID AMOUNT BID AMOUNT BID
(EXT TOTAL) (EXT TOTAL) (EXT TOTAL)

0101  1 MOBILIZATION 1 LS $742,805.50 $742,805.50 $115,376.00 $115,376.00 $245,000.00 $245,000.00 

0102  1 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC 1 LS $980,765.00 $980,765.00 $98,177.00 $98,177.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 

0104 10  3 SEDIMENT BARRIER 2,598 LF $3.50 $9,093.00 $1.26 $3,273.48 $2.00 $5,196.00 

0104 18 INLET PROTECTION SYSTEM 47 EA $300.00 $14,100.00 $132.26 $6,216.22 $200.00 $9,400.00 

0110  1  1 CLEARING & GRUBBING (AC = 2.91) 1 LS $253,722.00 $253,722.00 $124,701.00 $124,701.00 $175,000.00 $175,000.00 

0110  4 10 REMOVAL OF EXISTING CONCRETE 6324 SY $30.00 $189,720.00 $12.82 $81,073.68 $25.00 $158,100.00 

0110  7  1 MAILBOX, F&I SINGLE 11 EA $500.00 $5,500.00 $315.64 $3,472.04 $300.00 $3,300.00 

0120  1 REGULAR EXCAVATION 1014.9 CY $75.00 $76,117.50 $23.08 $23,423.89 $40.00 $40,596.00 

0120  6 EMBANKMENT 558.70 CY $100.00 $55,870.00 $40.75 $22,767.03 $40.00 $22,348.00 

0285 704 OPTIONAL BASE, BASE GROUP 04 198 SY $70.00 $13,860.00 $66.13 $13,093.74 $12.00 $2,376.00 

0334  1 13 SUPERPAVE ASPHALTIC CONC, TRAFFIC C 32.60 TN $400.00 $13,040.00 $165.31 $5,389.11 $650.00 $21,190.00 

0339  1 SUMMARY OF MISCELLANEOUS ASPHALT PAVEMENT 2.4 TN $1,000.00 $2,400.00 $165.42 $397.01 $750.00 $1,800.00 

0425  1201 INLETS, CURB, TYPE 9, <10' 1 EA $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $5,923.00 $5,923.00 $8,000.00 $8,000.00 

0425  1421 INLETS, CURB, TYPE J-2, <10' 1 EA $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $7,091.00 $7,091.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 

0425  1521 INLETS, DT BOT, TYPE C,<10' 4 EA $10,000.00 $40,000.00 $5,377.50 $21,510.00 $7,000.00 $28,000.00 

0425  1543 INLETS, DT BOT, TYPE D, J BOT, <10' 1 EA $15,000.00 $15,000.00 $6,554.00 $6,554.00 $8,500.00 $8,500.00 

0425  1711 INLETS, GUTTER, TYPE V, <10' 2 EA $10,500.00 $21,000.00 $6,290.50 $12,581.00 $8,500.00 $17,000.00 

0425  2 41 MANHOLES, P-7, <10' 1 EA $11,000.00 $11,000.00 $6,618.00 $6,618.00 $9,000.00 $9,000.00 

0425  2 63 MANHOLES, P-8, PARTIAL 1 EA $14,000.00 $14,000.00 $4,863.00 $4,863.00 $9,500.00 $9,500.00 

0425  2 71 MANHOLES, J-7, <10' 1 EA $20,000.00 $20,000.00 $7,997.00 $7,997.00 $9,500.00 $9,500.00 

0425  5 MANHOLE, ADJUST 4 EA $2,500.00 $10,000.00 $901.00 $3,604.00 $2,000.00 $8,000.00 

0425  5  1 MANHOLE, ADJUST, UTILITIES 1 EA $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $902.00 $902.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 

0425  6 VALVE BOXES, ADJUST 44 EA $500.00 $22,000.00 $363.84 $16,008.96 $350.00 $15,400.00 

0430175118 PIPE CULVERT,OPTIONAL MATERIAL,ROUND, 18"S/CD 17 LF $200.00 $3,400.00 $120.24 $2,044.08 $100.00 $1,700.00 

0430175215 PIPE CULVERT,OPTIONAL MATERIAL,OTHER-ELIP/ARCH, 
15"S/CD 238 LF $220.00 $52,360.00 $132.46 $31,525.48 $95.00 $22,610.00 

0430175218 PIPE CULVERT,OPTIONAL MATERIAL,OTHER-ELIP/ARCH, 
18"S/CD 173 LF $250.00 $43,250.00 $146.29 $25,308.17 $110.00 $19,030.00 

Marquee Development, Inc

UNIT PRICEITEM NO. FDOT PAY 
ITEM # DESCRIPTION EST 

QUANTITY UNIT

CGC Inc. EltonAlan Inc.

UNIT PRICEUNIT PRICE

Page 47

Item #4.



Palmetto Ave. MLK Nature Preserve (US 17) & VF Hall Park
Clay County
Bid No.  2022-02
FPID: 435677-1-58-01
Bid Tab Review

AMOUNT BID AMOUNT BID AMOUNT BID
(EXT TOTAL) (EXT TOTAL) (EXT TOTAL)

Marquee Development, Inc

UNIT PRICEITEM NO. FDOT PAY 
ITEM # DESCRIPTION EST 

QUANTITY UNIT

CGC Inc. EltonAlan Inc.

UNIT PRICEUNIT PRICE

0515  1  1 PIPE HANDRAIL - GUIDERAIL, STEEL 12 LF $500.00 $6,000.00 $164.75 $1,977.00 $75.00 $900.00 

0520  1 10 CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER, TYPE F 1643 LF $80.00 $131,440.00 $31.64 $51,984.52 $35.00 $57,505.00 

0520  1 12 CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER, TYPE F WITH SPECIAL 
GUTTER PROFILE 42 LF $100.00 $4,200.00 $41.07 $1,724.94 $35.00 $1,470.00 

0520  2  2 CONCRETE CURB, TYPE B 1053 LF $80.00 $84,240.00 $38.44 $40,477.32 $30.00 $31,590.00 

0520  2  4 CONCRETE CURB, TYPE D 332 LF $80.00 $26,560.00 $37.65 $12,499.80 $30.00 $9,960.00 

0520  6 SHOULDER GUTTER- CONCRETE 71 LF $100.00 $7,100.00 $35.64 $2,530.44 $35.00 $2,485.00 

0522  1 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND DRIVEWAYS, 4" THICK 9155 SY $70.00 $640,850.00 $45.56 $417,101.80 $48.00 $439,440.00 

0522  2 CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND DRIVEWAYS, 6" THICK 2402 SY $95.00 $228,190.00 $59.19 $142,174.38 $65.00 $156,130.00 

0527  2 DETECTABLE WARNINGS 1322 SF $60.00 $79,320.00 $26.40 $34,900.80 $30.00 $39,660.00 

0570  1  2 PERFORMANCE TURF, SOD 8,191 SY $9.00 $73,719.00 $9.48 $77,650.68 $6.00 $49,146.00 

1080 21500 UTILITY FIXTURE, VALVE/METER BOX, ADJUST 36 EA $1,000.00 $36,000.00 $365.50 $13,158.00 $350.00 $12,600.00 

1644 800 FIRE HYDRANT, (RELOCATE) 8 EA $8,000.00 $64,000.00 $1,983.75 $15,870.00 $7,000.00 $56,000.00 

700-1-11 SINGLE POST SIGN, F&I GROUND MOUNT, UP TO 12 SF 34 AS $700.00 $23,800.00 $919.15 $31,251.10 $650.00 $22,100.00 

700-1-12 SINGLE POST SIGN, F&I GROUND MOUNT, 12-20 SF 13 AS $2,000.00 $26,000.00 $1,124.15 $14,613.95 $1,200.00 $15,600.00 

700-1-50 SINGLE POST SIGN, RELOCATE 8 AS $200.00 $1,600.00 $287.63 $2,301.04 $175.00 $1,400.00 

700-1-60 SINGLE POST SIGN, REMOVE 34 AS $100.00 $3,400.00 $77.94 $2,649.96 $125.00 $4,250.00 

700-3-601 SINGLE POST SIGN, REMOVE 7 EA $100.00 $700.00 $72.14 $504.98 $100.00 $700.00 

706-1-3 RAISED PAVEMENT MARKER, TYPE B WITHOUT FINAL 
SURFACE MARKINGS 21 EA $15.00 $315.00 $9.93 $208.53 $175.00 $3,675.00 

710-11-123 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, STANDARD, WHITE, SOLID 
FOR CROSSWALK, 12" 91 LF $8.00 $728.00 $1.56 $141.96 $12.00 $1,092.00 

710-11-125 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, STANDARD, WHITE, SOLID 
FOR STOP LINE OR CROSSWALK, 24" 13 LF $16.00 $208.00 $4.51 $58.63 $10.00 $130.00 

710-11-201 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, STANDARD, YELLOW, 
SOLID, 6" 0.005 GM $40,000.00 $200.00 $3,070.00 $15.35 $52,800.00 $264.00 

711-11-123 THERMOPLASTIC, STD, WHITE, SOLID, 12" FOR CROSSWALK 1998 LF $4.00 $7,992.00 $4.51 $9,010.98 $12.00 $23,976.00 

711-11-125 THERMOPLASTIC, STD, WHITE, SOLID, 24" FOR STOP LINE 1928 LF $6.50 $12,532.00 $9.02 $17,390.56 $18.00 $34,704.00 

711-16-201 THERMOPLASTIC, STANDARD-OTHER SURFACES, YELLOW, 
SOLID, 6" 0.005 GM $100,000.00 $500.00 $12,030.00 $60.15 $52,800.00 $264.00 

711-17-1 THERMOPLASTIC, REMOVE EXISTING THERMOPLASTIC 
PAVEMENT MARKINGS- SURFACE TO REMAIN 1065 SF $10.00 $10,650.00 $3.97 $4,228.05 $15.00 $15,975.00 

$1,907,562.00TOTAL BID AMOUNT $4,112,747.00 $1,544,374.80

Page 48

Item #4.



Palmetto Ave. MLK Nature Preserve (US 17) & VF Hall Park
Clay County
Bid No.  2022-02
FPID: 435677-1-58-01
Bid Tab Review

 Contractor  Price Proposal  Bid Bond  Acknowledgement of 
Addenda 

 FDOT Cert of 
Qualifications  Bid Opp Form 

 LAP Certification of 
Current Capacity 

Form 
 Non-Collusion  Lobbying Cert  Disclosure of 

Lobbying 
 Debarment, 

Suspension Form 
 Public Entities 

Crimes 
 Drug Free 
Workplace 

 Standard 
Addendum Form  W-9  Refferences  On the Suspension 

List 

 CGC, Inc. Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y N Y

 EltonAlan Inc. Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y N Y

 Marquee Development, Inc Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y N Y

 Responsive  

Page 49

Item #4.



 
 

 STATE BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
OF FLORIDA 

 
1801 HERMITAGE BOULEVARD, SUITE 100 

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32308 
 (850) 488-4406 

 
POST OFFICE BOX 13300 

32317-3300 

RON DESANTIS 
GOVERNOR 

CHAIR 
 

JIMMY PATRONIS 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
ASHLEY MOODY 

ATTORNEY GENERAL 
 

LAMAR TAYLOR 
INTERIM EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR &  

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER 

 
 

Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel 
Chapter 215.4725, Florida Statutes 

 
 

In 2016, the SBA was directed to create a "scrutinized companies" list composed of companies that 
participate in a boycott of Israel, including actions that limit commercial relations with Israel or Israeli-
controlled territories. The SBA is prohibited from acquiring direct holdings of the companies on this list. 
The law requires the SBA to use best efforts in identifying companies that boycott Israel, publish the list 
on a quarterly basis, send written notice to the companies, engage with the SBA's external managers 
concerning holdings of the companies on the list, and publish a list of the SBA's directly-held securities. 
 
As required by statute, SBA will review publicly available information, including from NGOs, non-profits, 
government entities and research firms, and/or contact asset managers or other institutional investors. 
SBA staff will contract with external research providers to obtain preliminary lists of potential scrutinized 
companies and evaluate the evidence to make a final determination of scrutinized status. 
 
This list is updated as part of the Global Governance Mandates and Florida Statutes Quarterly Report, 
upon review and approval by the Trustees of the State Board of Administration.  
 
 

Table 9: Scrutinized Companies that Boycott Israel 
New companies on the list are shaded and in bold. (No companies added this quarter.) 

 

Scrutinized Company that Boycott Israel Country of  
Incorporation 

Date of Initial Scrutinized 
Classification 

Betsah Invest SA Luxembourg August 2, 2016 

Betsah SA Luxembourg August 2, 2016 

Cactus SA Luxembourg August 2, 2016 

Co-operative Group Limited United Kingdom September 26, 2017 

Guloguz Dis Deposu Ticaret Ve Pazarlama Ltd Turkey August 2, 2016 

Unilever PLC (Ben & Jerry’s parent company) United Kingdom July 29, 2021 

     Hindustan Unilever Ltd India July 29, 2021 

     PT Unilever Indonesia Tbk Indonesia July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Bangladesh Ltd Bangladesh July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Capital Corp (Unilever PLC bond issuance) United States July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Caribbean Ltd Trinidad and Tobago July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Consumer Care Ltd Bangladesh July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Côte d'Ivoire Ivory Coast July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Finance Netherlands BV (Unilever PLC bond issuance) Netherlands July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Ghana Ltd Ghana July 29, 2021 

Page 50

Item #4.



 
 
June 22, 2022 
Page 2 
 

Scrutinized Company that Boycott Israel Country of  
Incorporation 

Date of Initial Scrutinized 
Classification 

     Unilever Nigeria Plc Nigeria July 29, 2021 

     Unilever Pakistan Foods Ltd Pakistan July 29, 2021 

# of Companies that Boycott Israel 17  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51

Item #4.



 

Florida Department of Transportation 

RON DESANTIS 

GOVERNOR 
605 Suwannee Street 

Tallahassee, FL  32399-0450 

JARED W. PERDUE, P.E. 

SECRETARY 

 

Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 

www.fdot.gov 

      June 30, 2022 
 
 
Mike Null 
City of Green Cove Springs 

321 Walnut Street 

Green Cove Springs, FL 32043 

 
Subject: CONCURRENCE IN AWARD OF CONTRACT – Sent Via Email 

Project description: Sidewalk on Palmetto Avenue, MLK Nature Preserve (US 17) 

& VF Hall Park 

  Financial Project ID: 435677-1-58-01, 68-02 
  Federal ID: D221-019-B 
  Contract No.: G2390 

 
Dear Mr. Null: 
 

This letter serves as your notice of Concurrence in the Award of the subject contract to the lowest 
responsive bidder: EltonAlan, Inc. The draft construction contract has been reviewed by District staff 
and is approved for use. You are authorized to proceed with award of the contract.  
 
Once you have executed the contract, please provide us with the following information: 
 

• Copy of the executed contract with the bid bond, required forms signed by the contractor 
and FHWA 1273 included 
 

This information shall be placed in GAP. All supplemental agreements and/or change orders, regardless 
of dollar amount/time, must be approved by the LAP Administrator prior to the effective date. Invoices 
should be sent quarterly to d2.lgp_invoicing@dot.state.fl.us and questions should be directed to 
Coordinator/Administrator at 386-961-7831. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
 
 
      Lacey Boatright 
      Local Programs Coordinator 
 
cc:  Paul Webb, PE District Program Admin Engineer 

Kimberly Evans, District LAP Administrator 
 Derek Gil, PE, Element Engineering 
 Lori Williams, PE, Consor Engineering 
 Skip Flint, District Two Project Manager 

Page 52

Item #4.

mailto:d2.lgp_invoicing@dot.state.fl.us


 

 

 Brent Shaw, District Construction LAP Coordinator 
 Brenda Crews, District Two DCCM 
 Shellie Raulerson, Materials Contract Coordinator 
 Sally Morgan, Materials Manager - Contracts  

 
 

Page 53

Item #4.



Page 54

Item #4.



Page 55

Item #4.



Page 56

Item #4.



Page 57

Item #4.



Page 58

Item #4.



Page 59

Item #4.



Page 60

Item #4.



Page 61

Item #4.



Page 62

Item #4.



Page 63

Item #4.



Page 64

Item #4.



Page 65

Item #4.



Page 66

Item #4.



Page 67

Item #4.



Page 68

Item #4.



Page 69

Item #4.



Page 70

Item #4.



Page 71

Item #4.



Page 72

Item #4.



Page 73

Item #4.



Page 74

Item #4.



Page 75

Item #4.



Page 76

Item #4.



Page 77

Item #4.



Page 78

Item #4.



Page 79

Item #4.



Page 80

Item #4.



Page 81

Item #4.



Page 82

Item #4.



Page 83

Item #4.



Page 84

Item #4.



Page 85

Item #4.



Page 86

Item #4.



Page 87

Item #4.



Page 88

Item #4.



Page 89

Item #4.



Page 90

Item #4.



Page 91

Item #4.



Page 92

Item #4.



Page 93

Item #4.



Page 94

Item #4.



Page 95

Item #4.



Page 96

Item #4.



Page 97

Item #4.



Page 98

Item #4.



Page 99

Item #4.



Page 100

Item #4.



Page 101

Item #4.



Page 102

Item #4.



Page 103

Item #4.



Page 104

Item #4.



Page 105

Item #4.



Page 106

Item #4.



Page 107

Item #4.



Page 108

Item #4.



Page 109

Item #4.



Page 110

Item #4.



Page 111

Item #4.



Page 112

Item #4.



Page 113

Item #4.



Page 114

Item #4.



Page 115

Item #4.



Page 116

Item #4.



Page 117

Item #4.



Page 118

Item #4.



Page 119

Item #4.



Page 120

Item #4.



Page 121

Item #4.



Page 122

Item #4.



Page 123

Item #4.



Page 124

Item #4.



Page 125

Item #4.



Page 126

Item #4.



Page 127

Item #4.



Page 128

Item #4.



Page 129

Item #4.



Page 130

Item #4.



Page 131

Item #4.



Page 132

Item #4.



Page 133

Item #4.



Page 134

Item #4.



Page 135

Item #4.



Page 136

Item #4.



Page 137

Item #4.



Page 138

Item #4.



Page 139

Item #4.



Page 140

Item #4.



Page 141

Item #4.



Page 142

Item #4.



Page 143

Item #4.



Page 144

Item #4.



Page 145

Item #4.



FMPA Monthly Report 
 

July 2022 
 
Rate Call 
 
The average price of natural gas for the month was $7.76. Daily natural gas prices have 
fluctuated in the $6.15 - 9.50 range over the last month. A fire in an LNG terminal in 
early June has caused the price to fall to the lower end of the range. The terminal is 
projected to be back on line by the end of the year. 
 

Natural gas accounted for 81% of the generation mix. Coal was 11% and nuclear was 
5%. Solar generation was 1%. You can track the performance of the solar projects at 
FMPA.com/solar. 
 

The peak for the month was 24 May at 5PM. 
 
Board of directors 
 
The Board of Directors approved the FY23 budgets for Stanton I & II, Tri-Cities, St 
Lucie, Pooled Loan and the Agency.  
 

Information items included an update on Solar projects, Member Services charter, a 
natural gas market update, quarterly compliance update and an extension of the St. 
Lucie nuclear reliability exchange agreement. 
 
Executive Committee 
 
The Executive Committee approved the Fuel Portfolio Risk policy, the ARP FY23 budget, 
amended the ARP FY22 budget, a summer prepaid natural gas agreement and the results of 
the forward natural gas purchase (the average price over the twenty four months is $5.92). 

  
Information items included reports on the Stock Island fuel leak, report by the consultant 
on the feasibility of the North Star acquisition, environmental report update, Cane Island 
III/GE resolution, potential Reedy Creek power sale, Solar project update, regulator 
compliance update and ARP summer power cost. 
 
Other Energy Resources 
 
Energy Information Administration (eia.gov) 

Page 146

Item #5.

http://via.gov/


Board of Directors 
Barbara Quiñones, Homestead –Chair Joey Curry, Lakeland 
Lynne Tejeda, Key West – Vice Chair Brad Chase, Leesburg 
Larry Mattern, Kissimmee – Secretary Vacant, Moore Haven 
Allen Putnam, Jacksonville Beach – Treasurer Steve Langley, Mount Dora 
Rodolfo Valladares, Alachua Mike New, Newberry 
Bradley Hiers, Bartow Joe Bunch, New Smyrna Beach 
Vacant, Blountstown Doug Peebles, Ocala 
Steve Macholz, Bushnell Claston Sunanon, Orlando 
Robert Presnell, Chattahoochee Vacant, Quincy 
Lynne Mila, Clewiston Keith Trace, St. Cloud 
Jan Bagnall, Fort Meade Drew Mullins, Starke 
Javier Cisneros, Fort Pierce Tony Guillen, Tallahassee 
Dino DeLeo, Gainesville James Braddock, Wauchula 
Robert Page, Green Cove Springs Vacant, Williston 
Howard McKinnon, Havana Dan D’Alessandro, Winter Park 
Ed Liberty, Lake Worth Beach 

FMPA BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AGENDA PACKAGE 

June 23, 2022 
9:00 a.m. [NOTE TIME] 

Dial-in Info: 1-321-299-0575 
Conference ID Number: 134 078 094# 

Meeting Location 
Florida Municipal Power Agency 

8553 Commodity Circle 
Orlando, FL  32819 

(407) 355-7767

Page 1 of 177 Page 147

Item #5.



 

 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: FMPA Board of Directors 

FROM: Jacob A. Williams, General Manager and CEO 

DATE: June 14, 2022 

RE: FMPA Board of Directors Meeting – 9:00 a.m., June 23, 2022 
  

PLACE: Florida Municipal Power Agency 
 8553 Commodity Circle, Orlando, FL 32819 

DIAL-IN: DIAL-IN INFO 321-299-0575 
MEETING NO. 134 078 094# 

Link:  Click here to join the meeting 
(If you have trouble connecting via phone or internet, call 407-355-7767) 

 

AGENDA 
 
Chair Barbara Quiñones, Presiding 
 
1. Call to Order, Roll Call, Declaration of Quorum ............................................... 4 
 
2. Recognition of Guests ........................................................................................ 5 

 
3. Public Comments (Individual public comments limited to 3 minutes) ........... 6 
 
4. Set Agenda (by vote) .......................................................................................... 7 

 
5. Report from the General Manager (Jacob Williams) ........................................ 9 

 
6. Sunshine Law Update (Dan O’Hagan) ............................................................. 16 

 
7. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of the Minutes for the Meeting Held May 19, 2022 ......................... 18 

b. Approval of the Projects’ Preliminary Financials as of April 30, 2022 ............ 24 

c. Approval of the Treasury Reports as of April 30, 2022 .................................. 26 

  

Page 2 of 177 Page 148

Item #5.

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGI4ZTUyZDAtODcwZS00NDM2LWJiZWItNGUxYTUxNjBmNmY5%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%22ef0d3ba4-6530-433d-874d-37b1691285dd%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22f7fa1d29-5a60-494d-8ae2-bd81f7ad3714%22%7d


FMPA Board of Directors Meeting Being Held June 23, 2022 
June 14, 2022 
Page 2 

 

 
8. Action Items 

a. Approval of Resolution 2022-B5 – Approval of the FY 2023 Small Projects 
Budgets and Agency Allocation (Jason Wolfe/Denise Fuentes) .................... 30 

 

9. Information Items 

a. Florida Municipal Solar Project Update * (Susan Schumann) .................... 107 

b. 2022 Member Relations Survey Results (Rachel Ilardi) ............................. 115 

c. Member Services Advisory Committee Charter (Sharon Adams) ............... 125 

d. Natural Gas Markets Update (TEA The Energy Authority) ......................... 134 

e. Quarterly Compliance Update * (LaKenya VanNorman) ............................ 155 

f. Extension of St. Lucie Nuclear Reliability Exchange  
Agreement (Chris Gowder) ......................................................................... 162 

g. Return of $13 Million Deposit for Solar Projects Network Upgrade * (Chris 

Gowder) ...................................................................................................... 170 

 
10. Member Comments ......................................................................................... 176 
 
11. Adjournment.................................................................................................... 177 

 
*Also on the Executive Committee agenda. 

 
JW/su 

 
 
 
NOTE: One or more participants in the above referenced public meeting may participate by telephone. At 
the above location there will be a speaker telephone so that any interested person can attend this public 
meeting and be fully informed of the discussions taking place either in person or by telephone 
communication. If anyone chooses to appeal any decision that may be made at this public meeting, such 
person will need a record of the proceedings and should accordingly ensure that a verbatim record of the 
proceedings is made, which includes the oral statements and evidence upon which such appeal is based. 
This public meeting may be continued to a date and time certain, which will be announced at the meeting. 
Any person requiring a special accommodation to participate in this public meeting because of a disability, 
should contact FMPA at (407) 355-7767 or (888) 774-7606, at least two (2) business days in advance to 
make appropriate arrangements. 

 

Page 3 of 177 Page 149

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER, 
ROLL CALL, DECLARATION OF 
QUORUM 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
June 23, 2022 

Page 4 of 177 Page 150

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 2 – RECOGNITION OF 
GUESTS 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
June 23, 2022 

Page 5 of 177 Page 151

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 3 – PUBLIC 
COMMENTS (Individual Public 
Comments Limited to 3 Minutes) 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
June 23, 2022 

Page 6 of 177 Page 152

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 4 – SET AGENDA (By 
Vote) 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
June 23, 2022 

Page 7 of 177 Page 153

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – REPORT FROM 
THE GENERAL MANAGER 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting  
June 23, 2022 

Page 8 of 177 Page 154

Item #5.



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY 2022 
Target Comment

1. Safety
Lost-time Accidents 0 0 0 0

OSHA Recordables 0 0 0 0

2. Compliance
Environmental 0 0 0 0 Compliance doing internal NERC 

standard-by-standard top-down review 
with compliance and SMEs. Completed 
70% of NERC applicable standards 
internally.

Financial 0 0 0 0

Regulatory 0 0 0 0

3. Low Cost
($/MWh)

Under $70/MWh $96.54 $92.95 $77.00 < $70.00 YTD April 2022 MWh sales 
~.5% <budget. All-in costs $15.95/MWh 
(17%) > YTD target, due to fuel expense 
62%> target; partially offset by A&G 
(12%), O&M (8%) and Project Costs (9%) 
< budget

Fuel $44.96 $39.07 $23.17 $22.00

Non-Fuel $51.58 $53.88 $53.83 $48.00

4. Capacity Replacement Plan
Complete evaluation of
alternatives meeting ARP needs 
to 2027 & provide Non-
ARP members participation 
options

1

Negotiating PPA for 155 MW. Signed LOI 
on purchase of two facilities of ~220 
MW. Due diligence process for July ARP 
decision. Non-ARP members 
considering purchase.

Fiscal 2022 Management Goals – May 2022 Data

Page 9 of 177 Page 155

Item #5.



FY 2022 NYMEX Contract $3.89/MMBtu Above Budget

2

Natural Gas Settlement as of June 13

$2.45

$2.95

$3.45

$3.95

$4.45

$4.95

$5.45

$5.95

$6.45

$6.95

$7.45

$7.95

$8.45

$8.95

$/
M

M
Bt

u

NYMEX Contract 
Settlement

NYMEX Price when
Fiscal 2022 Budget Avg. 

4/13/21 to 5/12/21

Page 10 of 177 Page 156

Item #5.



Natural Gas Production Flat Despite Changes in Oil Prices

3

Average Monthly Change Since 2019 (as of July 13)

$15

$35

$55

$75

$95

$115

76

80

84

88

92

96

Bc
f/

D
ay

2020 Avg

Monthly 
Average Gas 
Production 

2019 Avg

WTI Crude NYMEX
Monthly Avg  

$/
bb

l

2021 Avg
2022 Avg

Page 11 of 177 Page 157

Item #5.



$15

$35

$55

$75

$95

$115

235
285
335
385
435
485
535
585
635
685
735
785
835
885
935
985

1035
1085

Rig Count Slightly Increases, Oil Prices Remain High

4

WTI Prices Above $100 for Past Four Months (as of June 13)

U.S. Drilling Rig Count vs. WTI Prompt

Rig Count WTI Prompt 
($/b)

Page 12 of 177 Page 158

Item #5.



Gas Storage Inventory as of Week Ending June 13     

5

2022 Season Forecast to Remain in Lower Level of 5-Year Avg.
Tc

f

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

2021
2022
Avg
Forecast

Projected 2022 
Inventory

Page 13 of 177 Page 159

Item #5.



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY 2022 
Target Comment

5.Cyber-
security

Breaches 0 0 0 0

Phishing tests 0% 3.5% 3% or < 3% or < Zero people clicked on a fake DocuSign 
request from their manager

6. Reliability
CC EAF 95.9% 81.9% 81.4% 89% Cane 3 ST outage continued through May 4

SI black start and 
trans. backup 100% 82% 100% 100% No starts for reliability this month. 14 of 17 

successful YTD

7. Member
Reliability

Individual member 
reliability 

recommendations/
projects

1 8 8 12 Blountstown fault indicators and remote 
control of reclosers

8. Member
Services

Leadership
member visits 9 57 50 75 Several visits in June

Projects managed 
for members 4 22 16 24

Ocala Financial Modeling; FPUA TripSaver
support and refresher training; Williston 
County Lane Estates; NSB Transmission Loop

Page 14 of 177 Page 160

Item #5.



Goal Status Actual
YTD 

Actual
YTD 

Target
FY 2022 
Target Comment

9. Value of Muni Presentations,
social media 3 11 7 10

Nine completed, nine upcoming, several 
communication pieces on energy prices

10. Financing

15K of Prepaid gas
min. svgs. of 

$0.25/mmBtu
25 32.4 7.5 15k 

/day
32.4k/day of deals completed at 
~$0.31/mmBtu savings of $3.1M/year

Refinance Stanton II 1 Forward delivery approved; soft close 
on 2/28/22; final close set for 7/6/22

11. Solar Phase III

• Meetings scheduled in June with three 
short-listed developers

• Supply Chain, Inflation, and Dept. of 
Commerce investigation will impact 
schedule and costs

• Indicative interest requested by July 1

12. People
2

8

2

8

1

8

2

8

• 41 from team participated 
in emotional intelligence training

• 25 scheduled for communications 
training in June

• Completed leadership training for 
supervisors/potential leadersPage 15 of 177 Page 161

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 

VERBAL REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 6 – SUNSHINE LAW 
UPDATE 
 
 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 

Page 16 of 177 Page 162

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – CONSENT 
AGENDA  
 
a. Approval of the Minutes for the 

Meeting Held May 19, 2022 
 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 

Page 17 of 177 Page 163

Item #5.



 
Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2022 
Page 1 of 5 

CLERKS DULY NOTIFIED ....................................................................... MAY 11, 2022 
AGENDA PACKAGES POSTED ...................................................... MAY 10 & 12, 2022 
 

MINUTES 
FMPA BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 
8553 COMMODITY CIRCLE 

ORLANDO, FL 32819 
THURSDAY, MAY 19, 2022 

9:00 A.M. 
 
MEMBERS Brad Hiers, Bartow* (virtual) 
PRESENT Steve Macholz, Bushnell 

Lynne Mila, Clewiston  
David Lord, Fort Meade (virtual) 
Javier Cisneros, Fort Pierce (virtual) 
Bob Page, Green Cove Springs 
Barbara Quinones, Homestead  
Allen Putnam, Jacksonville Beach (virtual) 
Lynne Tejeda, Key West (virtual) 
Larry Mattern, Kissimmee 
Ed Liberty, Lake Worth Beach (virtual) 
Joey Curry, Lakeland (virtual) 
Brad Chase, Leesburg (virtual) 
Steve Langley, Mount Dora 
Joe Bunch, New Smyrna Beach* (virtual) 
Doug Peebles, Ocala (virtual) 
Claston Sunanon, Orlando 
Keith Trace, St. Cloud (virtual)  
Tony Guillen, Tallahassee (virtual) 
James Braddock, Wauchula (virtual) 
Dan D’Alessandro, Winter Park 
 
*joined after roll call. 

 
OTHERS  Ed Leongomez, Fort Pierce (virtual) 
PRESENT Bill Anderson, Fort Pierce (virtual)   
  William Branch, Homestead 
  Mike Staffopoulos, Jacksonville Beach (virtual)  
  Mike Wedincamp, Key West (virtual) 
  Brian Horton, Kissimmee 
  James Terry, Kissimmee (virtual) 
  Kevin Crawford, Kissimmee (virtual) 
  Brian King, Lake Worth Beach(virtual) 
  Jim Williams, Leesburg (virtual)  
  Selvin Dottin, Leidos (virtual) 
    
   

Page 18 of 177 Page 164

Item #5.



 
Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2022 
Page 2 of 5 

  Craig Dunlap, Dunlap & Associates, Inc. 
  Tom Geoffroy, FGU (virtual)   
  Katie Hall, FGU (virtual)   
  Mike Gehring, The Energy Authority (TEA) (virtual) 
  Christine Fitzgerald, The Energy Authority (TEA) (virtual) 
  Rafael Couret, Power Engineers (virtual)   
  Steven Stein, nFront Consulting   

 
STAFF Jacob Williams, General Manager and CEO 
PRESENT Jody Finklea, General Counsel and CLO 

Ken Rutter, Chief Operating Officer 
Linda S. Howard, Chief Financial Officer 
Dan O’Hagan, Assistant General Counsel and Regulatory 
     Compliance Counsel 
Sue Utley, Executive Asst. /Asst. Secy. to the Board 
Lindsay Jack, Administrative Specialist 
Mike McCleary, Manager of Member Services Development 
Sharon Adams, Vice President of Human Resources & Shared Services 
Cairo Vanegas, Manager of Member Services Development 
Susan Schumann, Manager of External Affairs and Solar Projects 
David Schumann, Power Generation Fleet Director 
Carter Manucy, IT/OT & Cybersecurity Director 
LaKenya VanNorman, Regulatory Compliance Specialist 
Danyel Sullivan-Marrero, Controller 
Ryan Dumas, Senior Public Relations Specialist  
Angel Dias, IT Support Specialist 
Wayne Koback, IT Manager 
Chris Gowder, Business Development & System Operations Director 
Jose Bravo, Manager of Member Services Department 
Ryan Dumas, Senior Public Relations Specialist 
Rachel Ilardi, Public Relations Specialist 
Navid Nowakhtar Resource and Strategic Planning Manager 

 
ITEM 1 - CALL TO ORDER, ROLL CALL AND DECLARATION OF QUORUM 
 
Chair Barbara Quiñones, Homestead, called the Board of Directors meeting to order 
at 9:00a.m. on Thursday, May 19, 2022, in the Frederick M. Bryant Board Room at 
Florida Municipal Power Agency, 8553 Commodity Circle, Orlando, Florida.  The roll 
was taken, and a quorum was declared with 19 members present representing 31 
votes out of a possible 47.5. Brad Hiers, Bartow, and Joe Bunch, New Smyrna Beach, 
joined after the roll call, bringing the total present to 21 members representing 33.5 
votes present 
 
ITEM 2 – Recognition of Guests 
 
Chair Barbara Quiñones welcomed Steve Stein, nFront Consulting, Craig Dunlap, Dunlap 
and Associates, Inc., Tom Geoffrey, and Katie Hall from FGU, Mike Gehring and Christine 
Fitzgerald from TEA, Rafael Couret from Power Engineers, and Jose Bravo, FMPA’s new 

Page 19 of 177 Page 165

Item #5.



 
Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2022 
Page 3 of 5 

Manager of Member Services Development. 
 
ITEM 3 – PUBLIC COMMENTS (Individual Public Comments Limited to 3 Minutes) 
 
None. 
 
ITEM 4 – SET AGENDA (by vote) 
 
MOTION:  Chair Barbara Quiñones said Item 9b – Annual Disclosure Training will be 
postponed to a later date.  Allen Putnam, Jacksonville Beach, moved approval of the 
amended agenda. Bob Page, Green Cove Springs, seconded the motion. Motion 
carried 33.5 – 0. 
 
ITEM 5 – REPORT FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER 
 
Jacob Williams reported on the following items: 

1. Update on Energy Prices 
2. Fiscal 2022 Management Goals 
3. Member-specific communications materials on rising energy costs 
 

 
ITEM 6 – SUNSHINE LAW UPDATE 
 
Dan O'Hagan reported that a proposed bill that would create a Florida public records 
exemption for Critical Energy Infrastructure Information failed to pass during the 2022 
Legislative Session, but a cybersecurity exemption passed. 
 
ITEM 7 – CONSENT AGENDA 
 

a. Approval of Minutes – Meeting Held April 21, 2022 
 

b. Approval of the Projects’ Preliminary Financials as of March 31, 2022 
 

c. Approval of the Treasury Reports as of March 31, 2022  
 
MOTION: Bob Page, Green Cove Springs, moved approval of the Consent Agenda as 
presented. Larry Mattern, Kissimmee seconded the motion. Motion carried 33.5 – 0. 
 
ITEM 8 – ACTION ITEMS 
 

a. Approval of Use of Development Fund for Exploring Capacity Acquisition 
 
MOTION: Bob Page, Green Cove Springs, moved approval to authorize General 
Manager to utilize no more than $550,000 of the FMPA Development Fund to support 
exploration of ARP acquisition of the Northern Star Mulberry and Orange generation 
facilities. Larry Mattern, Kissimmee, seconded the motion. Motion carried 33.5 – 0. 
  

Page 20 of 177 Page 166

Item #5.



 
Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2022 
Page 4 of 5 

 
b. Approval of Resolution 2022-B3 – Budget Amendment for Stanton Project  

 
MOTION: Larry Mattern, Kissimmee moved approval of Resolution 2022-B3. Bob Page, 
Green Cove Springs, seconded the motion. Motion carried 33.5 – 0. 
 

c. Approval of Resolution 2022-B4 – Budget Amendment for Tri-City Project  
 
MOTION: Doug Peebles, Ocala, moved approval of Resolution 2022-B4. Steve 
Macholz, Bushnell, seconded the motion. Motion carried 33.5 – 0. 
 

d. Appointment of a Nominating Committee  
 

MOTION: Steve Macholz, Bushnell, moved approval of appointment of Howard 
McKinnon, Havana, on behalf of the FMPA small cities, Lynne Mila, Clewiston, on 
behalf of the FMPA medium cities, and Doug Peebles, Ocala, on behalf of the FMPA 
large cities, to serve on the FMPA Nominating Committee. Bob Page, Green Cove 
Springs, seconded the motion. Motion carried 33.5 – 0. 
  
ITEM 9 – INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

a. Summary of Finance Committee Items 
 
Linda S. Howard reported on the upcoming items from the Finance Committee: 
 

• Approval of the 2023 operating budgets and 5-year capital plan 

• Approval of Risk Policy changes 

• Following ESG discussion/ratings indications 

• Solar projects – impact on the $13M investment 
 

b. Annual Continuing Disclosure Training 
 
**This item was postponed to a later date.  
 
ITEM 10 – MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Bob Page, Green Cove Springs, thanked Susan Schumann & team for helping in Green 
Cove Springs with the materials for their bill stuffers.  
 
Barbara Quiñones, Homestead, thanked Jacob for his informative presentation on energy 
prices.  
 
Doug Peebles, Ocala, thanked Mike McCleary & Sharon Adams for their help with the 
City Council Presentation on energy prices.  
  

Page 21 of 177 Page 167

Item #5.



 
Board of Directors Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2022 
Page 5 of 5 

 
ITEM 11 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 10:11am. 
 
 
 
 
          
Barbara Quiñones    Larry Mattern 
Chairperson, Board of Directors   Secretary 
 
 
 
 
Approved:      Seal   
 
BQ/LM/su 
 
 
 
 

Page 22 of 177 Page 168

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – CONSENT 
AGENDA  
 
b. Approval of the Projects’ 

Preliminary Financials as of April 
30, 2022 
 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23 of 177 Page 169

Item #5.



 
 

 

 
AGENDA PACKAGE MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO: FMPA Board of Directors 

FROM: Linda Howard 

DATE:  June 14, 2022 

ITEM: 7b – Approval of Projects’ Financials as of April 30, 2022 

 
 

 
Discussion:          The summary financial statements and detailed financial statements, which 

include GASB #62 transactions, of the Projects for the period ended April 30, 
2022 are posted on the Document Portal section of FMPA’s website.  

______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Recommended: Move approval of the Projects’ Financial Reports for the month ended April 

30, 2022. 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
LH/GF 
 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 177 Page 170

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 7 – CONSENT 
AGENDA  
 
c. Approval of the Treasury Reports 

as of April 30, 2022 
 

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25 of 177 Page 171

Item #5.



 

    

    

    
              

    

 
AGENDA PACKAGE MEMORANDUM 

 

TO: FMPA Board of Directors 

FROM: Sena Mitchell 

DATE: June 14, 2022  

ITEM: BOD 7(c) – Approval of Treasury Reports as of April 30, 2022     

 

 
Introduction This agenda item is a quick summary update of the Treasury  
 Department’s functions.    
 
 The Treasury Department reports for April are posted in the member portal 

section of FMPA’s website. 
 

 
Debt Discussion Below is a summary of the total debt outstanding and the percentage of 

debt that was fixed, variable or synthetically fixed with interest rate swaps 
as of April 30, 2022.  

 

  
Total debt 

Outstanding Fixed Rate 
Variable 

Rate 
Synthetically 

Fixed 

Agency 0.00 0% 0% 0% 

St Lucie 80,790,000 100% 0% 0% 

Stanton 0.00 0% 0% 0% 

Stanton II 89,548,354 100% 0% 0% 

Tri City 0.00 0% 0% 0% 

 
 

 
 
Investment 
Discussion The investments in the Projects are comprised of debt from the 

government-sponsored enterprises such as the Federal Farm Credit Bank, 
Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
(Freddie Mac), and Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), as 
well as investments in U.S. Treasuries, Certificates of Deposits, Commercial 
Paper, Municipal Bonds, Corporate Notes, Local Government Investment 
Pools and Money Market Mutual Funds.   

 

Page 26 of 177 Page 172

Item #5.



 

 

 

BOD 7 (c) – Approval of Treasury Reports as of April 30, 2022     

June 14, 2022 

Page 2 
 

 

Below is a graph of daily US Treasury yields for the past 2 years. The orange line is 
the 2-year Treasury which closed the month of April at 2.70%. The yellow line is the 
5-year Treasury which was 2.92%.  

 

  

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

A
p

r-
2

0

Ju
n

-2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

O
ct

-2
0

D
e

c-
2

0

Fe
b

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

Ju
n

-2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

O
ct

-2
1

D
e

c-
2

1

Fe
b

-2
2

A
p

r-
2

2

US Government Treasury Securities Daily Interest Rates 
2-Year History

2-Yr Treasury Yield 5-Yr Treasury Yield

Page 27 of 177 Page 173

Item #5.



 

 

 

BOD 7 (c) – Approval of Treasury Reports as of April 30, 2022     

June 14, 2022 

Page 3 
 

 

The weighted average yields on investments earned as of April 30, 2022, in the 
Projects, along with their benchmark (Average of Florida Prime Fund and 2-year 
treasury), are as follows:  
 
 

 
 

 

 
Recommended 
Motion Move approval of the Treasury Reports for April 30, 2022. 
 

0.00%

0.25%

0.50%

0.75%

1.00%

1.25%

1.50%

1.75%

FMPA Weighted Avearge Yields vs Benchmark
1-Year History

 Benchmark St. Lucie Stanton Stanton II Tri -City Agency

Page 28 of 177 Page 174

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 AGENDA ITEM 8 – ACTION ITEMS 
 
a.  Approval of Resolution 2022-B5 – 

Approval of the FY 2023 Small 
Project Budgets and Agency 
Allocation  

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29 of 177 Page 175

Item #5.



Board of Directors

8a – Approval of Resolution 2022-B5 – Approval of the FY 
2023 Small Projects Budgets and Agency Allocations

June 23, 2022
Page 30 of 177 Page 176

Item #5.



Stanton and Tri-City Projects

Page 31 of 177 Page 177

Item #5.



Stanton and Tri-City Projects Summary

• Both Projects’ $/MWh costs well above 2021 actuals and 2022 budget
• FY 2023 budgeted generation in line with recent actuals
• Coal costs budgeted much higher to reflect market conditions
• FY 2023 Budget reflects OUC’s plan to retire Stanton 1 by end of 2025; building 

Project reserves to fund ongoing post-retirement costs and decommissioning
• R&R funding higher in FY 2023 due to budgeted common capital projects but much 

lower thereafter
• OUC planning normal O&M spending in FY 2023
• Continuing to coordinate with OUC on retirement timing and costs, including 

ongoing costs until the plant is decommissioned
• Added unfunded contingencies for spending authority:  $1.6M for Stanton and 

$0.6M for Tri-City; each set as 5% of total budgeted expenses 

Key Points to Note

3Page 32 of 177 Page 178

Item #5.



Stanton FY 2023 Budgeted Cost is $113/MWh
Costs Up Due to Continued High Forecasted Fuel Costs

Stanton Project – Historical & Budgeted All-in Rate ($/MWh) and Sales (GWh)

4

Debt
$27 

$28 

All Other
$25 

$39 

$70 

$16 

$39 $32 
$46 

$34 

Fuel Costs
$32 

$31 $30 

$32 

$31 
$55 

$67 

$60 

$83 

$98 $100 

$47 

$70 

$87 

$113 

$94 
336 332 

229 

322 
256 

317 
297 

311 

0

100

200

300

400

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

Actual
2018

Actual
2019

Actual
2020

Actual
2021

Budget
2022

Estimate
2022

Proposed
 Budget 2023

Proposed
 Plan 2024

Sales (G
W

h)
Bi

lle
d 

Pa
rt

ic
ip

an
t C

os
t (

$/
M

W
h)

Annual Sales

Page 33 of 177 Page 179

Item #5.



FY 2023 Budgeted $/MWh Cost 139% > FY 2021 Actual Cost
Driven by Higher Fuel Costs and Adjustment for 60-Days Cash
Stanton Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget All-in Rate ($/MWh)

5

$47.39 

$35.57 
$6.21 $3.07 

$7.36 $0.05 

$13.69 $113.34 

 $-

 $20

 $40

 $60

 $80

 $100

 $120

2021
Actual

Fuel Plant
O&M

A&G Trans.
& Other

Non-Rate
Revenue

Working
Capital

2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases Page 34 of 177 Page 180

Item #5.



FY 2023 Budgeted Expenses $14M (77%)* > FY 2021 Actuals
Primarily Driven by Fuel Costs, but All Categories Up in FY 2023
Stanton Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget Total Expenses ($Millions)

6

$18.4 

$9.8 $1.5 $0.8 
$2.1 $0.0 

$1.6 $34.1 

 $-

 $5

 $10

 $15

 $20

 $25

 $30

 $35

 $40

2021
Actual

Fuel/
Utilization

Plant
O&M

A&G Trans.
& Other

Non-Rate
Revenue

Contingency 2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

Unfunded

$32.5M w/o 
Contingency

* Excluding contingency
Page 35 of 177 Page 181

Item #5.



FY 2023 Tri-City Project Rate is $131/MWh
Costs Up Due to Continued High Forecasted Fuel Costs
Tri-City Project – Historical & Budgeted All-in Rate ($/MWh)

7

Debt
$26 

$27 

All Other
$29 

$42 

$51 

$22 

$52 
$42 

$63 

$38 

Fuel Costs
$32 

$32 

$33 

$32 

$31 $55 

$67 

$60 

$87 

$101 

$83 

$55 

$83 

$97 

$131 

$98 

125 122 

78 
103 91 

112 

106 
111 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 140

Actual
2018

Actual
2019

Actual
2020

Actual
2021

Budget
2022

Estimate
2022

Proposed
 Budget 2023

Proposed
 Plan 2024

Sales (GW
h)

Bi
lle

d 
Pa

rt
ic

ip
an

t C
os

t (
$/

M
W

h)

Annual 
Sales

Page 36 of 177 Page 182

Item #5.



FY 2023 Budgeted Rate 139% > FY 2021 Actuals
Driven by Higher Fuel Costs and Adjustment for 60-Days Cash
Tri-City Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget All-in Rate ($/MWh)

8

$54.72 

$35.03 $4.56 $2.88 
$7.42 $0.19 

$25.73 $130.53 

 $-

 $20

 $40

 $60

 $80

 $100

 $120

 $140

2021
Actual

Fuel Plant
O&M

A&G Trans.
& Other

Non-Rate
Revenue

Working
Capital

2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

Higher 60-Days 
Cash Target

Page 37 of 177 Page 183

Item #5.



FY 2023 Budgeted Expenses $5.5M (86%)* > FY 2021 Actuals
Higher Fuel Expense Accounts for 69% of Increase

Tri-City Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget Total Expenses ($Millions)

9

$6.4 

$3.8 $0.5 $0.3 
$0.8 $0.0 

$0.6 $12.5 

 $-

 $2

 $4

 $6

 $8

 $10

 $12

 $14

2021
Actual

Fuel/
Utilization

Plant
O&M

A&G Trans.
& Other

Non-Rate
Revenue

Contingency 2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

Unfunded

$11.9M w/o 
Contingency

* Excluding contingency
Page 38 of 177 Page 184

Item #5.



Stanton II Project

Page 39 of 177 Page 185

Item #5.



Stanton II Project FY 2023 Budget

• FY 2023 Stanton II Project $/MWh budgeted ~$25/MWh higher than FY 
2022 budget, ~$35/MWh higher than FY 2021 actuals

• Coal costs budgeted much higher to reflect market conditions

• FY 2023 budgeted generation higher than projected FY 2022 actuals

• OUC currently doesn’t plan to convert Stanton 2 to natural gas until 2027; 
planning to pay Stanton II Project share using General Reserve Fund

• 2022 refinancing reduces FY 2023 debt service costs ~$1.5M

• Some OUC benefits costs shifted from O&M to A&G

• Added $3.5M (5%) unfunded contingency for spending authority

Key Points to Note

11Page 40 of 177 Page 186

Item #5.



FY 2023 Stanton II Participant Cost is $110/MWh
Project Costs without Debt ~$90/MWh
Stanton II Project – Historical & Budgeted All-in Rate ($/MWh) and Sales (GWh)

12

Debt
$25 

$27 $24 $24 $24 $25 $20 $22 

All Other
$23 

$41 
$28 $26 $32 

$42 
$29 $30 

Fuel Costs
$30 

$31 

$27 $30 
$30 

$50 

$61 $53 
$79 

$99 

$80 $80 
$86 

$117 
$110 

$105 

602 

508 

617 594 604 

494 

640 
580 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 140

Actual
2018

Actual
2019

Actual
2020

Actual
2021

Budget
2022

Estimate
2022

Proposed
 Budget 2023

Proposed
 Plan 2024

Sales (GW
h)

Bi
lle

d 
Pa

rt
ic

ip
an

t C
os

t (
$/

M
W

h)

Annual 
Sales

Page 41 of 177 Page 187

Item #5.



FY 2023 $/MWh Budget 45% > FY 2021 Actuals 
Increase is 4.4% Excluding Fuel Costs
Stanton II Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget All-in Rate ($/MWh)

13

$1.06 $4.07 

$76.31 

$30.72 $1.57 $2.10 $0.21 
$4.57 $110.36 

 $-

 $20

 $40

 $60

 $80

 $100

 $120

2021
Actual

Fuel Plant
O&M

A&G Debt Svc Trans.
& Other

Non-Rate
Revenue

Working
Capital

2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

2022 
Refinancing

Page 42 of 177 Page 188

Item #5.



Total FY 2023 Expenses $21.9M (46%)* > FY 2021 Actuals
Net Increase Driven Almost Entirely by Higher Fuel Costs
Stanton II Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget Total Expenses ($Millions)

14

$0.0 $1.5 

$47.6 

$21.0 $1.2 $1.8 $0.1 
$3.5 $73.6 

 $-

 $10

 $20

 $30

 $40

 $50

 $60

 $70

 $80

2021
Actual

Fuel/
Utilization

Plant
O&M

A&G Debt Svc Trans.
& Other

Non-Rate
Revenue

Contin-
gency

2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

Unfunded

$69.5M w/o 
Contingency

2022 
Refinancing

* Excluding contingency
Page 43 of 177 Page 189

Item #5.



St. Lucie Project

Page 44 of 177 Page 190

Item #5.



St. Lucie Project Summary

• Total St. Lucie FY 2023 Participant cost of $54.18/MWh excluding transmission, 
continuing the goal of sustainably reducing Participant costs

• Generation down from FY 2022 budget with planned refueling outages for both 
St. Lucie 1 and St. Lucie 2 during FY 2023

• FY 2023 budgets for FPL O&M and A&G costs again developed based on recent 
historical experience and anticipated trends
 O&M costs reflect refueling outage in FY 2023 vs. no outage in FY 2022

• R&R funding increased to rebuild and maintain target balance
• FPL plans to seek additional 20-year operating license extension (to 2063), long-

term capital needs not currently known
• Budget reflects continuation of reliability exchange agreement
• Added $2M (5%) unfunded contingency for spending authority

9% Lower Rate for FY 2023 than FY 2022 Budget

16Page 45 of 177 Page 191

Item #5.



FY 2023 St. Lucie Project Rate is $53.90/MWh 
All-in Rate is ~$50/MWh Net of Projected True-Up

St. Lucie Project – Historical & Budgeted All-in Rate ($/MWh) and Sales (GWh)

$16 $12 $15 $17 $11 $12 $15 $17 

$27 $40 
$18 

$39 
$35 $39 $31 $26 

$32 
$26 

$41 
$11 

$14 $8 
$7 

$8 

$75 $78 
$74 

$67 
$60 $60 

$54 
$50 

691 683 697 689 718 717 719 
687 

0

200

400

600

800

 $-

 $10

 $20

 $30

 $40

 $50

 $60

 $70

 $80

 $90

 $100

Actual
2018

Actual
2019

Actual
2020

Actual
2021

Budget
2022

Estimate
2022

Proposed
Budget

2023

Proposed
Plan
2024

Ra
te

 ($
/M

W
h)

Sales (GW
h)

Annual Sales

17Page 46 of 177 Page 192

Item #5.



FY 2023 Budget Rate 20% Below FY 2021 Actual Cost
Lower Debt, Fund Contributions Partially Offset by Higher Working 
Capital Funding Due to Anticipated $3M+ True-Up[1]

St. Lucie Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget All-in Rate ($/MWh)

$2.94 $1.15 $0.42 
$4.18 

$10.34 

$67.48 

$0.77 
$4.68 $53.90 

 $-

 $10

 $20

 $30

 $40

 $50

 $60

 $70

 $80

2021
Actual

Fuel
Funding
& NREA

Plant O&M A&G and
Other

Debt
Service

R&R and
GRF

(Non-Fuel)

Non-Rate
Revenue

Working
Capital

2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

18
[1] Due to the refinancing of debt in summer 2021, the St. Lucie Project will achieve ~$4 million of debt service savings during FY 2022 that were 
not reflected in the FY 2022 Budget.  As a result, the true-up due to Participants in FY 2023 is currently estimated to be at least $3 million.Page 47 of 177 Page 193

Item #5.



FY 2023 Total Costs Projected ~$11.5M* < 2021 Actuals 
Budgeted Debt and Fund Contributions Lower in FY 2023
St. Lucie Project – 2021 Actual to 2023 Budget Total Expenses ($Millions)

$1.7 $0.3 $0.1 
$2.7 

$6.7 

$48.9 

$2.0 $39.4 

 $-

 $10

 $20

 $30

 $40

 $50

 $60

2021
Actual

Fuel
Funding
& NREA

Plant O&M A&G and
Trans.

Debt
Service

R&R and
GRF

(Non-Fuel)

Contingency 2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

Unfunded

$37.4M w/o 
Contingency

* Excluding contingency 19Page 48 of 177 Page 194

Item #5.



$6.80 

$9.37 

$59.76 $0.05 
$4.23 $0.18 

$0.03 
$5.82 $53.90 

 $-

 $10

 $20

 $30

 $40

 $50

 $60

 $70

 $80

2022
Budget

Fuel
Funding
& NREA

Plant O&M A&G and
Other

Debt
Service

R&R and
GRF

(Non-Fuel)

Non-Rate
Revenue

Working
Capital

2023
Budget

Totals Decreases Increases

FY 2023 Budget Rate ~$6/MWh < FY 2022 Budget Rate
O&M, Working Capital Funding Offset by Other Savings

St. Lucie Project - 2022 Budget to 2023 Budget All-in Rate ($/MWh)

O&M Costs Lower in 
FY 2022 due to no SL2 

refueling outage

Lower due to impact of 
2021B refinancing

20Page 49 of 177 Page 195

Item #5.



Solar Projects

Page 50 of 177 Page 196

Item #5.



Solar Projects Summary

• FY 2023 Budgets assume the Solar Projects do not come online during 
FY 2023 due to delays and uncertainty in market

• Will bring back to the Board for budget amendment if ultimately 
needed

Key Points to Note

22Page 51 of 177 Page 197

Item #5.



Pooled Loan Project

Page 52 of 177 Page 198

Item #5.



Pooled Loan Project Summary

• Currently $21.8M par amount issued
• Current participants: 
 Bushnell $7.9M 

 Stanton II Project $3.9M 

 Clewiston $1.4M 

 Homestead $8.6M

• Potential future loans for Starke and ARP with a total of $17M+ being 
explored

• Approved for up to additional $25M in loans, with a maximum individual 
loan amount of $15 million

24Page 53 of 177 Page 199

Item #5.



Pooled Loan FY 2023 Budget is $616,257

• FMPA A&G billing budgeted at $2,600 per year regardless of loan 
amount

• $3,500 trustee fees per loan remain

• $1,500 arbitrage fees per loan budgeted for 5 loans

• Start-up costs included as a member service

• Budgeting for up to 6 loans for the year

• Stanton II Project debt service budgeted as an expense for spending 
authority purposes (conduit loan), with offsetting revenue 

25Page 54 of 177 Page 200

Item #5.



Agency Allocation

26Page 55 of 177 Page 201

Item #5.



Agency Allocation To Projects

• Calculated based on revised methodology approved by Board in 
FY 2021

• Pooled Loan program receiving flat fee allocation per loan

• Both solar projects included in calculation but ignored for FY 2023 
budget since neither anticipated to be in service

27

FY 2023 Agency Budget Allocation

Page 56 of 177 Page 202

Item #5.



FY 2023 Proposed Agency Overhead Allocations

28

FY 2022 Budget 
($)

FY 2023 Budget ($) 
[2]

% Change from FY 
2022

With Solar Projects 
($) [3]

Member Assessments [1] $60,000 $63,234 5.4% $63,234 

St. Lucie Project 746,292 648,536 -13.1% 636,056

Stanton Project 429,235 438,276 2.1% 438,276

Tri-City Project 429,235 438,276 2.1% 438,276

Stanton II Project 537,448 469,463 -12.6% 462,523

Pooled Loan Project 15,000 15,600 4.0% 15,600

Solar Project -- -- -- 175,310

Solar II Project -- -- -- 175,310

Joint Owner Contract Audits 86,000 118,000 37.2% 118,000

All-Requirements Project 14,864,780 15,069,649 1.4% 14,738,448

Total $17,167,990 $17,261,034 $17,261,034

[1] Assessments to FMPA members that do not participate in an FMPA power supply project. 
[2] FY 2023 Budget assumes neither solar project comes online during FY 2023.
[3] Reflects Agency overhead allocations assuming both solar projects were online. Page 57 of 177 Page 203

Item #5.



Recommended Motion

• Move adoption of the Budget Resolution 2022-B5, which will approve 
the Fiscal Year 2023 Stanton, Tri-City, Stanton II, St. Lucie, Solar, Solar 
II, and Pooled Loan Projects Budgets and the Fiscal Year 2023 Agency 
Allocations

29Page 58 of 177 Page 204

Item #5.



 - 1 - 

Resolution 2022-B5 
FMPA Board of Directors 

June 23, 2022 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY: (I) ESTABLISHING, 
APPROVING, AND ADOPTING THE ANNUAL BUDGETS FOR 
THE PROJECTS OF THE FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER 
AGENCY, OTHER THAN THE ALL-REQUIREMENTS POWER 
SUPPLY PROJECT, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THIRTY-NINE MILLION FOUR HUNDRED 
SIXTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($39,416,000) 
FOR THE ST. LUCIE PROJECT, 

 
THIRTY-FOUR MILLION NINETY 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($34,090,000) FOR THE 
STANTON PROJECT, 
 
SEVENTY-FOUR MILLION TWO HUNDRED 
SIXTY-FOUR THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($74,264,000) FOR THE STANTON II PROJECT, 
 
TWELVE MILLION SIX HUNDRED THIRTEEN 
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($12,613,000) FOR THE 
TRI-CITY PROJECT, 
 
ZERO DOLLARS ($0) FOR THE SOLAR 
PROJECT,  
 
ZERO DOLLARS ($0) FOR THE SOLAR II 
PROJECT, AND 
 
SIX HUNDRED SIXTEEN THOUSAND TWO 
HUNDRED FIFTY-SEVEN DOLLARS ($616,257) 
FOR THE INITIAL POOLED LOAN PROJECT 

 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2022, AND 
ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2023, AND THE CORRESPONDING 
BUDGET DOCUMENTS; (II) DEFINING BUDGET 
AMENDMENTS; (III) ESTABLISHING LEVELS OF APPROVAL 
REQUIRED FOR BUDGET AMENDMENTS; (IV) PROVIDING 
FOR ACCOUNT ADJUSTMENTS; (V) PROVIDING FOR LAPSE 

Page 59 of 177 Page 205

Item #5.



 - 2 - 

OF UNEXPENDED FUNDS; (VI) PROVIDING FOR 
ALLOCATIONS OF THE FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER 
AGENCY GENERAL BUDGET TO THE PROJECTS; (VII) 
PROVIDING FOR INTERIM FUNDING AND REIMBURSEMENT 
FROM DEBT FINANCING OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS AND 
PROVIDING FOR THE RELATED DELEGATION TO 
AUTHORIZED OFFICERS; (VIII) MAKING A DETERMINATION 
OF A PUBLIC PURPOSE FOR BUDGETED EXPENDITURES; (IX) 
PROVIDING FOR A CAP ON FINANCIAL ADVISOR FEES; (X) 
PROVIDING FOR USE OF THE AGENCY DEVELOPMENT 
FUND; (XI) PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND (XII) 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Whereas, the Interlocal Agreement Creating the Florida Municipal Power 

Agency, as amended (the “Interlocal Agreement”), requires the Board of Directors of 
the Florida Municipal Power Agency (the “Agency”) to annually approve and adopt a 
budget for the Agency’s projects, as defined in the Interlocal Agreement, other than 
the All-Requirements Power Supply Project, for the succeeding fiscal year; and 
 

Whereas, pursuant to these requirements the annual budget documents for the 
budgets of the Agency’s projects, other than the All-Requirements Power Supply 
Project, for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2022, and ending September 30, 2023, 
(“Fiscal Year 2023”) have been prepared and presented by Agency staff, reviewed and 
approved by the Finance Committee, and recommended for approval to the Board of 
Directors. 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE FLORIDA 

MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY THAT: 
 
 SECTION I.    Project Budgets. (A) The budgets for the Agency’s 
projects, other than the All-Requirements Power Supply Project, for Fiscal Year 2023 
are hereby established as follows: 
 

(i) $39,416,000 for the St. Lucie Project, 
(ii)  $34,090,000 for the Stanton Project, 
(iii) $74,264,000 for the Stanton II Project, 
(iv)  $12,613,000 for the Tri-City Project, 
(v) $0 for the Solar Project,  
(vi) $0 for the Solar II Project, and 
(vii) $616,257 for the Initial Pooled Loan Project. 

 

Page 60 of 177 Page 206

Item #5.



 - 3 - 

(collectively, the St. Lucie Project, Stanton Project, Stanton II Project, Tri-City 
Project, Solar Project, Solar II Project, and Initial Pooled Loan Project budgets 
established in this Section I(A) are the “Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets”). The 
Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets are established hereby as finally approved by the 
Finance Committee, and described in detail in the “Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Book.” 
The Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Book as it relates to the Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets 
is incorporated by this reference as a material part of this resolution. 
 

(B) The Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets, as 
established in subsection (A) above and described in detail in the Fiscal Year 2023 
Budget Book, are hereby approved and adopted. Approval is also hereby given to 
those documents in the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Book related to the plan for the 
Agency’s projects, other than the All-Requirements Power Supply Project, for the 
fiscal year beginning October 1, 2023, and ending September 30, 2024 (“Fiscal Year 
2024”), which are hereby approved as the plan to be used to prepare the Fiscal Year 
2024 budgets for the Agency’s projects, other than the All-Requirements Power 
Supply Project (the “Fiscal Year 2024 Projects Budget Plan”). 
 

SECTION II.  Definition of Budget Amendments. For purposes of this 
Resolution, “Budget Amendment” means an increase or decrease in any expenditure 
within the Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets, the effect of which alters the total dollar 
amount of any of the Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets. 
 

SECTION III.  Approval of Budget Amendments. The Fiscal Year 2023 
Project Budgets may only be amended by the Board of Directors at a duly called 
meeting of the Board of Directors by resolution and in accordance with Agency 
requirements and requirements of law. 
 

SECTION IV.  Account Adjustment. The General Manager may adjust 
the appropriate accounts for the Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets by a maximum 
amount of unexpended funds for approved and appropriated project expenditures 
(other than expenditures for the All-Requirements Power Supply Project) for 
undertakings remaining active as of September 30, 2022. However, any such 
adjustment must be reported to and approved by the Board of Directors, in accordance 
with Section III. 
 

SECTION V.  Lapse of Unexpended Funds. Any funds in the Fiscal 
Year 2023 Project Budgets appropriated but not expended, unless otherwise amended 
pursuant to Section III, automatically lapse upon FMPA’s close of business on 
September 30, 2023, unless otherwise approved by a resolution of the Board of 
Directors. 

 

Page 61 of 177 Page 207

Item #5.



 - 4 - 

SECTION VI.  Project Allocations. The Board of Directors hereby 
allocates financial responsibility for the Agency general budget for Fiscal Year 2023, 
as adopted by the Executive Committee, to the Agency’s projects in the following 
percentages: [NB] 

 
 (i)  All-Requirements Power Supply Project  ............ 87.30% 
 (ii)  St. Lucie Project  .................................................. 3.76% 
 (iii)  Stanton Project .................................................... 2.54% 
 (iv)  Stanton II Project  ................................................ 2.72% 
 (v)  Tri-City Project  ................................................... 2.54% 
 (vi) Solar Project ............................................................ 0% 
 (vii) Solar II Project ......................................................... 0% 
 (viii) Initial Pooled Loan Project ................................... 0.09% 

 
[NB] The amounts shown in clauses (i) through (viii) of this Section VI do not add to 100% due to 
rounding and the inclusion of other revenue amounts, other than project allocations, for the coverage of 
certain costs, as described in the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Book and the Agency and ARP Fiscal Year 
2023 Budgets, as defined in Resolution 2022-EC1, adopted by the FMPA Executive Committee on an 
even date herewith. 
 

SECTION VII. Interim Funding of Total Capital Financed. (A) Capital 
improvements described in the Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets under the heading of 
“Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Capital Funding Plan,” “Fiscal Year 2023 Budget Capital 
Plan,” or otherwise described as expected to be financed with loans or other debt 
obligations may initially be paid with other temporarily available funds of the Agency, 
pending issuance of such loans or other debt; it is the expectation of the Agency that 
such expended amounts will be reimbursed when the proceeds of such debt become 
available, that the maximum principal amount of debt issued for such purposes will 
also include the amount necessary to fund associated issuance costs, debt reserve 
funds, capitalized interest and similar items customarily included in a debt financing 
of such capital expenditures (as grossed up, for purposes of this Section VII, the 
“Maximum Principal Amount”), and it is the Agency’s intention that this Section VII 
be treated as a statement of the Agency’s “official intent” within the meaning of IRS 
regulations section 1.150-2. While this is the current intention of the Agency, it does 
not in any way obligate the Agency to proceed with tax-exempt financing for any such 
expenditures, or to reimburse itself from the proceeds of any such loan or debt 
financing or financings which may be undertaken, in the event that the Agency later 
determines that such action is not in its best interest. In addition, in the event that (i) it 
becomes apparent during Fiscal Year 2023 that the actual costs of capital 
improvements for Fiscal Year 2023 may or will exceed the amount set forth in the 
Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets as adopted; (ii) the Agency determines that the 
amount expected to be financed with loans or other debt obligations will exceed the 
Maximum Principal Amount; or (iii) the Florida Municipal Power Agency otherwise 

Page 62 of 177 Page 208

Item #5.



 - 5 - 

determines that a further statement of “official intent” is warranted due to other 
changes in circumstances; then, a further statement of “official intent” under 
applicable federal income tax regulations may be subsequently adopted by the 
Authorized Officers (as set forth further in Section VII(B)) in a timely manner in order 
to preserve the ability to reimburse such excess from the proceeds of additional loans 
or debt obligations.  

 
(B) For purposes of Section VII(A), “Authorized 

Officers” means (i) the Chair of the Board of Directors or the Vice Chair of the Board 
of Directors or the elected Treasurer of the Board of Directors and (ii) the General 
Manager and CEO of FMPA or the Chief Financial Officer of FMPA. 

 
SECTION VIII. Determination of a Public Purpose. The Board of 

Directors hereby determines that all budgeted expenditures described in the Fiscal 
Year 2023 Project Budgets, and those otherwise permitted and within the limits 
established in the Fiscal Year 2023 Project Budgets, have and do serve a public 
purpose and further the purposes of the Agency and each of the Agency’s projects 
(other than the All-Requirements Power Supply Project), as provided for in the 
Interlocal Agreement, the Power Sales Contracts and Project Support Contracts 
between FMPA and each of the Project Participants (as defined therein) and other 
applicable project agreements, and applicable law. 

 
SECTION IX  Cap on Financial Advisor Fees. In March 2018 the 

FMPA Board of Directors and FMPA Executive Committee approved engaging 
Dunlap & Associates, Inc. (“Dunlap”) and PFM Financial Advisors LLC (“PFM”) as 
the Managing Financial Advisor and Co-Financial Advisor, respectively, with the 
understanding that the total fees paid for both firms would not exceed the total fees 
paid for financial advisor services in the previous year. The Board of Directors hereby 
caps the budgetary authority for financial advisor fees paid to both Dunlap and PFM, 
together, at no more than a total of $185,000 for Fiscal Year 2023, regardless of 
whether those financial advisor fees are provided for in the Agency and ARP Fiscal 
Year 2023 Budgets, or elsewhere.    

 
SECTION X.  Use of the Agency Development Fund. For any use of 

the Agency Development Fund authorized during Fiscal Year 2023 by the Board of 
Directors, consideration must be given to whether moneys to be repaid to the 
Development Fund should be repaid with interest, or not. In making such 
consideration, the Board of Directors hereby directs the staff to make a 
recommendation, including a recommended interest rate or methodology, for the term 
of repayment, considering then-current interest rate and other financial market 
conditions. 

 

Page 63 of 177 Page 209

Item #5.



 - 6 - 

SECTION XI. Severability. If one or more provisions of this resolution 
should be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be contrary to law, such 
provisions shall be deemed to be severable from the remaining provisions hereof, and 
shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability of such remaining provisions. 
 

SECTION XI.   Effective Date. This resolution shall take effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 
 

This Resolution 2022-B5 is hereby approved and adopted by the Board of 
Directors of the Florida Municipal Power Agency on June 23, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Chair, Board of Directors 
 
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on June 23, 2022, the above Resolution 2022-B5 was 
approved and adopted by the Board of Directors of the Florida Municipal Power 
Agency, and that this is a true and conformed copy of Resolution 2022-B5. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_______________________________    SEAL 
Secretary or Assistant Secretary 

Page 64 of 177 Page 210

Item #5.



Stanton Project

Page 65 of 177 Page 211

Item #5.



Exhibit 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)

 Proposed % Increase/Decrease

Line Actual Budget Y/E Est. [1] Budget Plan FY22 Est/ FY23 Bud/ FY24 Bud/

No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY22 Bud/ FY22 Bud/ FY23 Bud/

REVENUES 

Participant Billings:  

1 Demand 3,665$             8,567$             8,567$             12,099$           9,053$             (0.0%) 41.2% (25.2%)

2 Energy (Fuel) 10,219$           7,927$             17,420$           20,020$           18,562$           119.7% 152.5% (7.3%)

3 Transmission 1,353$             1,511$             1,511$             1,571$             1,626$             0.0% 3.9% 3.5%

4 Total Participant Billings 15,237$           18,005$           27,498$           33,689$           29,240$           52.7% 87.1% (13.2%)

Other Income

5  Brine Plant and Other 384                  385                  371                  385                  395                  (3.7%) 0.0% 2.6%

6  Interest Income 62                    43                    5                      13                    36                    (89.0%) (70.6%) 183.9%

7 Total Other Income 446                  428                  376                  398                  431                  (12.3%) (7.1%) 8.4%

8 Total Revenues 15,683$           18,433$           27,873$           34,087$           29,671$           51.2% 84.9% (13.0%)

EXPENSES

Operating Expenses

9  Fuel Burned - Variable 10,219$           7,927$             17,420$           20,020$           18,562$           119.7% 152.5% (7.3%)

10 Operation and Maintenance Expenses 4,844               5,989               6,411               6,320               6,243               7.0% 5.5% (1.2%)

11  User Fee 184                  175                  168                  175                  180                  (4.2%) 0.0% 2.9%

12 OUC Transmission 1,417               1,511               1,518               1,571               1,626               0.4% 3.9% 3.5%

13 OUC A&G Expenses 939                  1,004               1,570               1,700               1,762               56.4% 69.3% 3.6%

14 FMPA A&G Expenses 394                  475                  429                  438                  449                  (9.6%) (7.7%) 2.5%

15 Other Expenses 11                    14                    16                    17                    17                    13.3% 17.9% 3.0%

16 Total Operating Expenses 18,007$           17,095$           27,531$           30,240$           28,838$           61.0% 76.9% (4.6%)

Fund Contributions

17 Renewal & Replacement 350                  2,000               2,000               1,750               500                  0.0% (12.5%) (71.4%)

18 General Reserve Funding -                       500                  500                  500                  500                  0.0% (0.0%) 0.0%

19 Debt Service Deposit -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       N/A N/A N/A

20 Total Fund Contributions 350                  2,500               2,500               2,250               1,000               0.0% -10.0% -55.6%

21 Total Expenses 18,357$           19,595$           30,031$           32,490$           29,838$           53.3% 65.8% (8.2%)

22 NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJUST. (2,674)$            (1,162)$            (2,158)$            1,597$             (167)$               

23 Contingency (Unfunded) -$                   1,600$             

24 Total Spending Authority 19,474$           19,595$           34,000$           34,090$           

25 Generation (Sales) (GWh) 322 256 317 297 311 23.8% 16.2% 4.7%

26 Capacity Factor (%) 56% 44% 55% 52% 54%  

27 Fuel Cost ($/MWh) 31.78$             31.00$             55.01$             67.35$             59.66$             77.5% 117.3% (11.4%)

28 Total Cost ($/MWh) 57.09$             76.63$             94.84$             109.30$           95.91$             23.8% 42.6% (12.3%)

29 Participant Cost ($/MWh) 55.71$             74.95$             93.66$             107.97$           94.53$             25.0% 44.0% (12.4%)

30 Billed Cost ($/MWh) 47.39$             70.41$             86.84$             113.34$           93.99$             23.3% 61.0% (17.1%)
 

P:\Financial Planning\Budget\FY 2023 Budget\Stanton\Stanton Project FY 2023 Budget Model v2.xlsx 5/21/2022Page 66 of 177 Page 212

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 1 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

R E V E N U E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Demand and Trans. Billings 17,328$       22,138$       15,989$       5,018$         10,078$       13,669$       10,679$       

Energy (Fuel) Billings 10,700 10,383 6,966 10,219 7,927 20,020 18,562

Interest Income 89 153 182 62 43 17 49

Other Revenues 412 452 379 384 385 380 382

Total Revenues 28,528$       33,126$       23,517$       15,683$       18,433$       34,087$       29,671$       

$28,528 

$33,126 

$23,517 

$15,683 
$18,433 

$34,087 

$29,671 

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$30,000

$35,000

$40,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

REVENUES ($000)

Demand and Trans. Billings Energy (Fuel) Billings Interest Income Other Revenues

Page 67 of 177 Page 213

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 2 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

0 0

39 52 47

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

            E X P E N S E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Debt Service 8,921$         9,242$         -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Fuel Burned 10,700         10,383         6,966           10,219         7,927           20,020         18,562         

OUC O&M and A&G 6,306           6,605           7,036           5,783           6,993           8,020           8,005           

Transmission 1,176           1,170           1,289           1,417           1,511           1,571           1,626           

Other Fund Contributions 1,658           3,000           5,000           350              2,500           2,250           1,000           

FMPA A&G and Other 474              531              461              405              489              455              466              

Total Expenses 29,235$       30,931$       20,752$       18,174$       19,420$       32,315$       29,658$       

Generation (Sales) (GWh) 336.4 332.1 228.9 321.5 255.7 297.2 311.1

Total Power Cost ($/MWh) 86.91$         93.14$         90.64$         56.52$         75.94$         108.72$       95.33$         

Participant Billed Power Cost ($/MWh) 83.33$         97.92$         100.26$       47.39$         70.41$         113.34$       93.99$         

$29,235 
$30,931 

$20,752 
$18,174 $19,420 

$32,315 
$29,658 

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$30,000

$35,000

$40,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

EXPENSES ($000)

Debt Service Fuel Burned OUC O&M and A&G Transmission Other Fund Contributions FMPA A&G and Other

Page 68 of 177 Page 214

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 1 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 3,099$        2,709$        13$             (117)$          5,704$        5,704$        

Working Capital Account 600 -              -              -              600 600

Rate Stabilization Account 1,400 -              -              -              1,400 1,400

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 5,099$        2,709$        13$             (117)$          7,704$        7,704$        [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Debt Service Accounts -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

 SUBORDINATED  DEBT  SERVICE

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Loans

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Loans -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Subordinated Debt paid from O&M account

Page 69 of 177 Page 215

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 2 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits  Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 3,970$        1,750$        23$             (2,662)$       3,081$        3,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 1,070 -$            2$               -$            1,072$        

[2] The Stanton Project's minimum targeted balance is $3 million.

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023

General Reserve Fund 9,604$        500$           39$             -$            10,143$      

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
FY 2023

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

Stanton 1 Capital 323$           

Stanton Common Facilities 2,339$        

Total Capital 2,662$        

Page 70 of 177 Page 216

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 3 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 5,704$        461$           36$             (628)$          5,573$        5,573$        

Working Capital Account 600 -              -              -              600 600

Rate Stabilization Account 1,400 -              -              -              1,400 1,400

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 7,704$        461$           36$             (628)$          7,573$        7,573$        [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Debt Service Accounts -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

 SUBORDINATED  DEBT  SERVICE

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024
*Loans

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Loans -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Subordinated Debt paid from O&M account

Page 71 of 177 Page 217

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 4 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 3,081$        500$           18$             (577)$          3,022$        3,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 1,072$        -$            2$               -$            1,074$        

[2] The Stanton Project's minimum targeted balance is $3 million.

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024

General Reserve Fund 10,143$      500$           41$             -$            10,684$      

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
FY 2024

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

Stanton 1 Capital 82$             

Stanton Common Facilities 496$           

Total Capital 577$           

Page 72 of 177 Page 218

Item #5.



Exhibit 4

Page 1 of 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Five-Year Capital Plan ($000)

Activity FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027

Renewal and Replacement Beginning Balance 3,970$          3,081$          3,022$          3,141$          3,011$          

Capital Expenses - Stanton 1 (323) (82) (74) (74) (74)

Capital Expenses - Common Facilities (2,339) (496) (74) (74) (74)

Capital Expenses Paid from General Reserve Fund 0 0 0 0 0

Renewal and Replacement Contributions 1,750 500 250 0 0

Retained Interest Earnings 23 18 17 18 17

Renewal and Replacement Ending Balance [1] 3,081$          3,022$          3,141$          3,011$          2,880$          

[1] Plan is to fund to and maintain a $3 million balance for future capital needs and unanticipated capital 
changes made by the operator owner.

Page 73 of 177 Page 219

Item #5.



Tri-City Project

Page 74 of 177 Page 220

Item #5.



Exhibit 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)

 Proposed % Increase/Decrease

Line Actual Budget Y/E Est. [1] Budget Plan FY22 Est/ FY23 Bud/ FY24 Bud/

No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY22 Bud/ FY22 Bud/ FY23 Bud/

REVENUES 

Participant Billings:  

1 Demand 1,837$             4,203$             4,203$             6,156$             3,698$             (0.0%) 46.5% (39.9%)

2 Energy (Fuel) 3,341$             2,835$             6,139$             7,161$             6,640$             116.5% 152.6% (7.3%)

3 Transmission 479$                519$                519$                563$                582$                (0.0%) 8.4% 3.5%

4 Total Participant Billings 5,657$             7,557$             10,861$           13,880$           10,920$           43.7% 83.7% (21.3%)

Other Income

5  Brine Plant and Other 137                  136                  133                  138                  141                  (2.5%) 1.3% 2.6%

6  Interest Income 22                    20                    3                      6                      14                    (84.2%) (69.4%) 123.4%

7 Total Other Income 159                  156                  136                  144                  155                  (12.9%) (7.8%) 7.7%

8 Total Revenues 5,815$             7,713$             10,997$           14,024$           11,075$           42.6% 81.8% (21.0%)

EXPENSES

Operating Expenses

9  Fuel Burned - Variable 3,341$             2,835$             6,139$             7,161$             6,640$             116.5% 152.6% (7.3%)

10 Operation and Maintenance Expenses 1,722               2,141               2,293               2,261               2,233               7.1% 5.6% (1.2%)

11  User Fee 66                    62                    60                    63                    64                    (3.3%) 1.0% 2.9%

12 OUC Transmission 505                  519                  544                  563                  582                  4.7% 8.4% 3.5%

13 OUC A&G Expenses 336                  360                  562                  608                  630                  56.0% 68.9% 3.6%

14 FMPA A&G Expenses 394                  429                  429                  438                  449                  0.1% 2.2% 2.5%

15 Other Expenses 8                      13                    13                    19                    19                    (0.2%) 46.2% 0.0%

16 Total Operating Expenses 6,370$             6,359$             10,040$           11,113$           10,618$           57.9% 74.7% (4.5%)

Fund Contributions

17 Renewal & Replacement 150                  750                  750                  600                  300                  0.0% (20.0%) (50.0%)

18 General Reserve Funding -                       150                  150                  300                  300                  0.0% 100.0% 0.0%

19 Debt Service Deposit -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       N/A N/A N/A

20 Total Fund Contributions 150                  900                  900                  900                  600                  0.0% 0.0% -33.3%

21 Total Expenses 6,520$             7,259$             10,940$           12,013$           11,218$           50.7% 65.5% (6.6%)

22 NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJUST. (705)$               454$                57$                  2,011$             (143)$               

23 Contingency (Unfunded) -$                   -$                   600$                

24 Total Spending Authority 7,518$             7,259$             12,500$           12,613$           

25 Generation (Sales) (GWh) 103 91 112 106 111 22.7% 16.2% 4.7%

26 Capacity Factor (%) 50% 44% 55% 52% 54%  

27 Fuel Cost ($/MWh) 32.32$             31.00$             54.69$             67.35$             59.66$             76.4% 117.3% (11.4%)

28 Total Cost ($/MWh) 63.08$             79.36$             97.46$             112.98$           100.80$           22.8% 42.4% (10.8%)

29 Participant Cost ($/MWh) 61.54$             77.65$             96.25$             111.62$           99.41$             23.9% 43.7% (10.9%)

30 Billed Cost ($/MWh) 54.72$             82.62$             96.75$             130.53$           98.12$             17.1% 58.0% (24.8%)
 

P:\Financial Planning\Budget\FY 2023 Budget\Stanton\Tri‐City Project FY 2023 Budget Model.xlsx 5/21/2022Page 75 of 177 Page 221

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 1 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

R E V E N U E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Demand and Trans. Billings 6,858$         8,443$         3,951$         2,316$         4,722$         6,718$         4,280$         

Energy (Fuel) Billings 3,936 3,853 2,529 3,341 2,835 7,161 6,640

Interest Income 47 64 76 22 20 9 20

Other Revenues 128 134 135 137 136 135 135

Total Revenues 10,969$       12,494$       6,691$         5,815$         7,713$         14,024$       11,075$       

$10,969 

$12,494 

$6,691 
$5,815 

$7,713 

$14,024 

$11,075 

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

$16,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

REVENUES ($000)

Demand and Trans. Billings Energy (Fuel) Billings Interest Income Other Revenues

Page 76 of 177 Page 222

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 2 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

0 0

39 52 47

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

            E X P E N S E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Debt Service 3,286$         3,302$         -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Fuel Burned 3,936           3,853           2,529           3,341           2,835           7,161           6,640           

OUC O&M and A&G 2,235           2,364           2,529           2,057           2,501           2,869           2,863           

Transmission 415              415              456              505              519              563              582              

Other Fund Contributions 787              1,700           1,200           150              900              900              600              

FMPA A&G and Other 449              468              451              402              442              457              468              

Total Expenses 11,109$       12,102$       7,165$         6,455$         7,197$         11,950$       11,154$       

Generation (Sales) (GWh) 124.6 121.9 77.8 103.4 91.5 106.3 111.3

Total Power Cost ($/MWh) 89.19$         99.26$         92.08$         62.44$         78.68$         112.39$       100.22$       

Participant Billed Power Cost ($/MWh) 86.66$         100.86$       83.29$         54.72$         82.62$         130.53$       98.12$         

$11,109 
$12,102 

$7,165 
$6,455 

$7,197 

$11,950 
$11,154 

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

EXPENSES ($000)

Debt Service Fuel Burned OUC O&M and A&G Transmission Other Fund Contributions FMPA A&G and Other

Page 77 of 177 Page 223

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 1 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 937$           2,011$        6$               (397)$          2,557$        2,557$        

Working Capital Account 225 -              -              -              225 225

Rate Stabilization Account 150 -              -              -              150 150

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 1,312$        2,011$        6$               (397)$          2,932$        2,932$        [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Debt Service Accounts -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

 SUBORDINATED  DEBT  SERVICE

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Loans

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Loans -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Subordinated Debt paid from O&M account

Page 78 of 177 Page 224

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 2 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits  Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 1,408$        600$           6$               (952)$          1,062$        1,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 326 -$            2$               -$            328$           

[2] The Tri-City Project's minimum targeted balance is $1 million.

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023

General Reserve Fund 876$           300$           4$               -$            1,179$        

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
FY 2023

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

Stanton 1 Capital 116$           

Stanton Common Facilities 837$           

Total Capital 952$           

Page 79 of 177 Page 225

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 3 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 2,557$        123$           14$             (266)$          2,428$        2,428$        

Working Capital Account 225 -              -              -              225 225

Rate Stabilization Account 150 -              -              -              150 150

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 2,932$        123$           14$             (266)$          2,803$        2,803$        [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Debt Service Accounts -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

 SUBORDINATED  DEBT  SERVICE

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024
*Loans

Principal -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

Interest -              -              -              -              -              

Total Loans -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Subordinated Debt paid from O&M account

Page 80 of 177 Page 226

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 4 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 1,062$        300$           5$               (206)$          1,160$        1,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 328$           -$            2$               -$            330$           

[2] The Tri-City Project's minimum targeted balance is $1 million.

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024

General Reserve Fund 1,179$        300$           5$               -$            1,485$        

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
FY 2024

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

Stanton 1 Capital 29$             

Stanton Common Facilities 177$           

Total Capital 206$           

Page 81 of 177 Page 227

Item #5.



Exhibit 4

Page 1 of 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
TRI-CITY PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Five-Year Capital Plan ($000)

Activity FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027

Renewal and Replacement Beginning Balance 1,408$          1,062$          1,160$          1,213$          1,165$          

Capital Expenses - Stanton 1 (116) (29) (27) (27) (27)

Capital Expenses - Common Facilities (837) (177) (27) (27) (27)

Capital Expenses Paid from General Reserve Fund 0 0 0 0 0

Renewal and Replacement Contributions 600 300 100 0 0

Retained Interest Earnings 6 5 5 5 5

Renewal and Replacement Ending Balance [1] 1,062$          1,160$          1,213$          1,165$          1,117$          

[1] Plan is to fund to and maintain a $1 million balance for future capital needs and unanticipated capital 
changes made by the operator owner.

Page 82 of 177 Page 228

Item #5.



Stanton II Project

Page 83 of 177 Page 229

Item #5.



Exhibit 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)

 Proposed % Increase/Decrease

Line Actual Budget Y/E Est. [1] Budget Plan FY22 Est/ FY23 Bud/ FY24 Bud/

No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY22 Bud/ FY22 Bud/ FY23 Bud/

REVENUES 

Participant Billings:  

1 Demand 25,635$           31,112$           31,112$           29,347$           26,622$           0.0% (5.7%) (9.3%)

2 Energy (Fuel) 17,692$           18,115$           24,759$           38,721$           30,741$           36.7% 113.8% (20.6%)

3 Transmission 1,990$             2,458$             2,458$             2,555$             2,645$             0.0% 4.0% 3.5%

4 Total Participant Billings 45,316$           51,685$           58,329$           70,624$           60,008$           12.9% 36.6% (15.0%)

Other Income

5  Brine Plant and Other 602                  605                  581                  604                  619                  (3.9%) (0.2%) 2.6%

6  Interest Income 131                  136                  24                    49                    55                    (82.4%) (63.9%) 11.3%

7 Total Other Income 733                  741                  605                  653                  674                  (18.3%) (11.9%) 3.3%

8 Total Revenues 46,049$           52,426$           58,934$           71,277$           60,682$           12.4% 36.0% (14.9%)

EXPENSES

Operating Expenses

9  Fuel Burned - Variable 17,692$           18,115$           24,772$           38,721$           30,741$           36.7% 113.8% (20.6%)

10 Operation and Maintenance Expenses 8,172               8,911               7,227               8,168               8,098               (18.9%) (8.3%) (0.9%)

11  User Fee 250                  232                  209                  232                  239                  (9.7%) (0.1%) 2.9%

12 OUC Transmission 2,297               2,458               2,469               2,555               2,645               0.4% 4.0% 3.5%

13 OUC A&G Expenses 1,472               1,575               2,462               2,666               2,762               56.3% 69.2% 3.6%

14 FMPA A&G Expenses 470                  525                  459                  469                  481                  (12.5%) (10.6%) 2.5%

15 Other Expenses 116                  41                    37                    85                    85                    (10.2%) 107.3% 0.0%

16 Total Operating Expenses 30,469$           31,857$           37,635$           52,896$           45,051$           18.1% 66.0% (14.8%)

Fund Contributions

17 Renewal & Replacement 3,000               5,000               5,000               3,500               2,000               0.0% (30.0%) (42.9%)

18 General Reserve Funding -                       1,000               2,889               1,000               1,000               188.9% 0.0% 0.0%

19 Debt Service Deposit 14,248             14,197             12,409             12,795             12,734             (12.6%) (9.9%) (0.5%)

20 Pooled Loan 572                  572                  572                  572                  572                  0.0% 0.0% (0.0%)

21 Total Fund Contributions 17,821             20,769             20,871             17,867             16,306             0.5% -14.0% -8.7%

22 Total Expenses 48,289$           52,626$           58,506$           70,764$           61,357$           11.2% 34.5% (13.3%)

23 NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJUST. (2,240)$            (200)$               428$                513$                (675)$               

24 Contingency (Unfunded) -$                   3,500$             

25 Total Spending Authority 50,316$           52,626$           52,626$           74,264$           

26 Generation (Sales) (GWh) 594 604 494 640 580 (18.1%) 6.0% (9.3%)

27 Capacity Factor (%) 64% 65% 53% 69% 63%  

28 Fuel Cost ($/MWh) 29.79$             30.00$             50.11$             60.51$             52.97$             67.0% 101.7% (12.5%)

29 Total Cost ($/MWh) 81.31$             87.16$             118.34$           110.58$           105.71$           35.8% 26.9% (4.4%)

30 Participant Cost ($/MWh) 80.08$             85.93$             117.12$           109.56$           104.55$           36.3% 27.5% (4.6%)

31 Billed Cost ($/MWh) 76.31$             85.60$             117.98$           110.36$           103.39$           37.8% 28.9% (6.3%)
 

P:\Financial Planning\Budget\FY 2023 Budget\Stanton\Stanton II Project FY 2023 Budget Model rev1.xlsx 5/21/2022Page 84 of 177 Page 230

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 1 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

R E V E N U E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Demand and Trans. Billings 32,609$       31,551$       37,456$       27,625$       33,570$       31,903$       29,267$       

Energy (Fuel) Billings 18,324 15,620 16,767 17,692 18,115 38,721 30,741

Interest Income (419) 340 237 115 112 73 104

Other Revenues 738 792 721 618 629 580 570

Total Revenues 51,252$       48,302$       55,181$       46,049$       52,426$       71,277$       60,682$       

$51,252 
$48,302 

$55,181 

$46,049 
$52,426 

$71,277 

$60,682 

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

REVENUES ($000)

Demand and Trans. Billings Energy (Fuel) Billings Interest Income Other Revenues

Page 85 of 177 Page 231

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 2 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

0 0

39 52 47

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

            E X P E N S E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Debt Service 15,231$       13,883$       14,770$       14,248$       14,197$       12,795$       12,734$       

Fuel Burned 18,324         15,620         16,767         17,692         18,115         38,721         30,741         

OUC O&M and A&G 9,460           11,004         10,479         9,644           10,486         10,833         10,860         

Transmission 1,895           1,895           2,082           2,297           2,458           2,555           2,645           

Other Fund Contributions 1,848           8,000           5,189           3,572           6,572           5,072           3,572           

FMPA A&G and Other 516              604              519              585              566              554              566              

Total Expenses 47,275$       51,006$       49,805$       48,039$       52,394$       70,532$       61,119$       

Generation (Sales) (GWh) 601.7 507.7 616.8 593.9 603.8 639.9 580.4

Total Power Cost ($/MWh) 78.57$         100.47$       80.75$         80.89$         86.78$         110.22$       105.30$       

Participant Billed Power Cost ($/MWh) 84.65$         92.92$         87.91$         76.31$         85.60$         110.36$       103.39$       

$47,275 
$51,006 $49,805 $48,039 

$52,394 

$70,532 

$61,119 

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

$80,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

EXPENSES ($000)

Debt Service Fuel Burned OUC O&M and A&G Transmission Other Fund Contributions FMPA A&G and Other

Page 86 of 177 Page 232

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 1 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2022 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 8,546$        1,552$        49$             (411)$          9,736$        9,736$        

Working Capital Account 600 -              -              -              600 600

Rate Stabilization Account 1,400 -              -              -              1,400 1,400

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 10,546$      1,552$        49$             (411)$          11,736$      11,736$      [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2022
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal 5,228$        11,295$      11$             (5,415)$       11,119$      

Interest (1,238)         1,500          1                 (1,457)         (1,194)         

Total Debt Service Accounts 3,990$        12,795$      11$             (6,872)$       9,924$        

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

 SUBORDINATED  DEBT  SERVICE

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2022
*Loans

Principal (26)$            526$           -$            (572)$          (72)$            

Interest (260)            46               -              (572)            (786)            

Total Loans (286)$          572$           -$            (1,144)$       (858)$          

*Subordinated Debt paid from O&M account

Page 87 of 177 Page 233

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 2 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits  Earnings Payments 9/30/2022 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 6,054$        3,500$        37$             (5,090)$       4,500$        3,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 1,142 -$            2$               -$            1,144$        

[2] The Stanton II Project's goal is to achieve a minimum balance of $5 million.

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2022

General Reserve Fund 31,398$      1,000$        280$           -$            32,677$      

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
FY 2022

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

Stanton 1 Capital 1,423$        

Stanton Common Facilities 3,667$        

Total Capital 5,090$        

Page 88 of 177 Page 234

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 3 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 9,736$        32$             55$             (2,207)$       7,616$        7,616$        

Working Capital Account 600 -              -              -              600 600

Rate Stabilization Account 1,400 -              -              -              1,400 1,400

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 11,736$      32$             55$             (2,207)$       9,616$        9,616$        [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal 11,119$      11,453$      11$             (11,295)$     11,287$      

Interest (1,194)         1,281          1                 (1,391)         (1,304)         

Total Debt Service Accounts 9,924$        12,734$      11$             (12,686)$     9,984$        

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

 SUBORDINATED  DEBT  SERVICE

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Loans

Principal (72)$            536$           -$            (572)$          (109)$          

Interest (786)            37               -              (572)            (1,321)         

Total Loans (858)$          572$           -$            (1,144)$       (1,430)$       

*Subordinated Debt paid from O&M account

Page 89 of 177 Page 235

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 4 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 4,500$        3,500$        27$             (1,329)$       6,698$        3,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 1,144$        -$            2$               -$            1,146$        

[2] The Stanton II Project's goal is to achieve a minimum balance of $5 million.

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023

General Reserve Fund 32,677$      1,000$        291$           -$            33,969$      

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
FY 2023

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

Stanton 1 Capital 552$           

Stanton Common Facilities 777$           

Total Capital 1,329$        

Page 90 of 177 Page 236

Item #5.



Exhibit 4

Page 1 of 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
STANTON II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Five-Year Capital Plan ($000)

Activity FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026 FY 2027

Renewal and Replacement Beginning Balance 6,054$          4,500$          5,198$          4,983$          5,118$          

Capital Expenses - Stanton 2 (1,423) (552) (1,793) (1,905) (3,718)

Capital Expenses - Common Facilities (3,667) (777) (116) (116) (116)

Capital Expenses Paid from General Reserve Fund 0 0 1,162 1,627 3,602

Renewal and Replacement Contributions 3,500 2,000 500 500 500

Retained Interest Earnings 37 27 32 30 31

Renewal and Replacement Ending Balance [1] 4,500$          5,198$          4,983$          5,118$          5,417$          

[1] Plan is to fund to and maintain a $5 million balance for future capital needs and unanticipated capital 
changes made by the operator owner.

Page 91 of 177 Page 237

Item #5.



St. Lucie Project

Page 92 of 177 Page 238

Item #5.



Exhibit 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)

 Proposed % Increase/Decrease

Line Actual Budget Y/E Est. [1] Budget Plan FY22 Est/ FY23 Bud/ FY24 Bud/

No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY22 Bud/ FY22 Bud/ FY23 Bud/

REVENUES 

Participant Billings:  

1 Demand 46,480$           42,888$           42,888$           38,776$           34,254$           0.0% (9.6%) (11.7%)

2 Transmission 440$                518$                518$                493$                516$                (0.0%) (4.7%) 4.7%

3 Total Participant Billings 46,920$           43,406$           43,406$           39,270$           34,770$           0.0% (9.5%) (11.5%)

Other Income

4 Sales for Resale (NREA) 3,860               3,500               3,205               3,569               3,647               (8.4%) 2.0% 2.2%

5  Interest Income 105                  98                    7                      19                    25                    (92.7%) (80.7%) 32.8%

6 Total Other Income 3,964               3,598               3,212               3,588               3,673               (10.7%) (0.3%) 2.4%

7 Total Revenues 50,885$           47,004$           46,618$           42,857$           38,443$           (0.8%) (8.8%) (10.3%)

EXPENSES

Operating Expenses

8 Operation and Maintenance Expenses 11,405             8,019               8,875               11,084             11,361             10.7% 38.2% 2.5%

9 Fuel Payments (173)                 -                       -                       -                       -                       N/A N/A N/A

10 Reliability Exchange Agmt Purchases 3,435               3,500               3,278               3,355               3,530               (6.4%) (4.1%) 5.2%

Transmission -

11 FPL [1] 257                  338                  304                  303                  303                  (9.9%) (10.4%) 0.0%

12 OUC [2] 172                  180                  181                  191                  214                  0.7% 5.9% 12.1%

13 FPL A&G Expenses 2,408               2,032               1,867               2,198               2,253               (8.1%) 8.2% 2.5%

14 FMPA A&G Expenses 652                  755                  742                  724                  742                  (1.7%) (4.2%) 2.5%

Other Expenses:

15 Trustee Fees 7                      8                      7                      8                      8                      (10.0%) (0.6%) 2.5%

16 Dues 77                    79                    78                    80                    82                    (0.9%) 1.3% 2.5%

17 Other 83                    54                    89                    57                    59                    64.9% 6.1% 2.5%

18 Total Operating Expenses 18,322$           14,965$           15,422$           17,999$           18,550$           3.1% 20.3% 3.1%

Fund Contributions

19 Renewal & Replacement 6,500               7,500               7,500               10,000             10,000             0.0% 33.3% 0.0%

20 Debt Service Deposit 7,876               10,089             6,092               5,218               5,220               (39.6%) (48.3%) 0.0%

21 General Reserve Fund 10,200             9,200               9,200               -                       1,000               0.0% (100.0%) N/A

22 Nuclar Fuel Stabilization 6,000               4,000               4,000               4,200               4,200               (0.0%) 5.0% 0.0%

23 Total Fund Contributions 30,576             30,789             26,792             19,418             20,420             -13.0% -36.9% 5.2%

24 Total Expenses 48,898$           45,754$           42,214$           37,416$           38,970$           (7.7%) (18.2%) 4.2%

25 NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJUST. 1,987$             1,250$             4,404$             5,441$             (527)$               

26 Contingency (Unfunded) -$                   2,000$             

27 Total Spending Authority 50,254$           45,754$           45,754$           39,416$           

28 Generation (Sales) (GWh) 689 718 717 719 687 (0.1%) 0.2% (4.5%)

29 Capacity Factor (%) 125% 120% 243% 122% 116%  

30 Total Cost ($/MWh) 70.97$             63.75$             58.90$             52.01$             56.70$             (7.6%) (18.4%) 9.0%

31 Participant Cost Including Transmission ($/MWh) 65.22$             58.74$             54.42$             47.02$             51.36$             (7.4%) (19.9%) 9.2%

32 Participant Cost Excluding Transmission ($/MWh) 64.60$             58.02$             53.74$             46.34$             50.61$             (7.4%) (20.1%) 9.2%

33 Billed Cost Excluding Transmission ($/MWh) 67.46$             59.76$             59.84$             53.90$             49.84$             0.1% (9.8%) (7.5%)

Outages Scheduled Unit 1 & 2 Unit 1 Unit 2 Unit 1 & 2
 

[1] Through March 31, 2022, applies to KUA and Alachua only.  Beginning April 1, 2022, applies to KUA only.

[2] Applies to KUA only.

P:\Financial Planning\Budget\FY 2023 Budget\Lucie\St. Lucie Project FY 2023 Budget Model.xlsx 5/21/2022Page 93 of 177 Page 239

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 1 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

R E V E N U E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Participant Billings 52,049$       53,669$       52,151$       46,920$       43,406$       39,270$       34,770$       

Sales for Resale 4,099 3,971 3,820 3,860 3,500 3,569 3,647

Interest Income 474 698 499 105 98 19 25

Total Revenues 56,621$       58,338$       56,470$       50,885$       47,004$       42,857$       38,443$       

$56,621 $58,338 $56,470 
$50,885 

$47,004 
$42,857 

$38,443 

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

REVENUES ($000)

Participant Billings Sales for Resale Interest Income

Page 94 of 177 Page 240

Item #5.



Exhibit 2

Page 2 of 2FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Comparison of Budget to Historical Revenues and Expenses

0 0

39 52 47

($000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

            E X P E N S E S FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

Debt Service &Gnl Rsrv 26,331$       28,551$       28,749$       18,076$       19,289$       5,218$         6,220$         

R&R Funding 4,500           2,000           7,500           6,500           7,500           10,000         10,000         

Fixed O&M and FPL G&A 13,165         9,471           12,157         13,813         10,051         13,282         13,614         

Exchange Agrmt Purchase 3,540           3,116           2,894           3,435           3,500           3,355           3,530           

Fuel Purch. & Nuc. Fuel Stabil. Deposits 5,338           3,980           5,519           5,827           4,000           4,200           4,200           

Transmission 350              350              408              429              518              493              516              

FMPA Expenses 1,066           846              569              818              896              869              891              

Total Expenses 54,292$       48,314$       57,797$       48,898$       45,754$       37,416$       38,970$       

Generation (Sales) (GWh) 690.7 683.1 697.1 689.0 717.7 719.4 687.3

Total Power Cost ($/MWh)* 78.60$         70.72$         82.91$         70.97$         63.75$         52.01$         56.70$         

Participant Billed Power Cost ($/MWh)* 74.84$         78.04$         74.28$         67.46$         59.76$         53.90$         49.84$         

$54,292 

$48,314 

$57,797 

$48,898 
$45,754 

$37,416 $38,970 

$0

$10,000

$20,000

$30,000

$40,000

$50,000

$60,000

$70,000

FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24

ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET BUDGET PLAN

EXPENSES ($000)

Debt Service &Gnl Rsrv R&R Funding Fixed O&M and FPL G&A

Exchange Agrmt Purchase Fuel Purch. & Nuc. Fuel Stabil. Deposits Transmission

FMPA Expenses

Page 95 of 177 Page 241

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 1 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 7,056$        8,776$        24$             (6,489)$       9,368$        9,368$        

Working Capital Account 1,150 -              -              -              1,150 1,150

Rate Stabilization Account 770 -              -              -              770 770

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 8,976$        8,776$        24$             (6,489)$       11,288$      11,288$      [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal 4,566$        2,685$        2$               (2,555)$       4,699$        

Interest 1,599          2,533          1                 (2,865)         1,268          

Total Debt Service Accounts 6,165$        5,218$        3$               (5,420)$       5,966$        

Debt Service Reserve Account -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

Page 96 of 177 Page 242

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 2 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2022  Deposits  Earnings Payments 9/30/2023 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 6,553$        10,000$      45$             (10,009)$     6,588$        3,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 2,347 -$            7$               -$            2,355$        

DECOMMISSIONING FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022  Deposits  Earnings Payments 9/30/2023

Decommissioning Fund Account 104,472$    -$            3,134$        -$            107,606$    

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2022 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2023

General Reserve Fund 37,311$      -$            274$           -$            37,584$      

Nuclear Fuel Stabilization Account 6,129$        4,200$        184$           (4,674)$       5,839$        

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
2023

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

St. Lucie 2 Capital 2,807$        

St. Lucie Common Facilities 7,202$        

Total Capital 10,009$      

Page 97 of 177 Page 243

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 3 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

OPERATION  AND  MAINTENANCE  FUND 

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024 Balance

Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Account 9,368$        3,280$        30$             (3,808)$       8,870$        8,870$        

Working Capital Account 1,150 -              -              -              1,150 1,150

Rate Stabilization Account 770 -              -              -              770 770

Total Operation and Maintenance Fund 11,288$      3,280$        30$             (3,808)$       10,790$      10,790$      [1]

[1]  Minimum recommended balance is amount required to meet operating expenses for the next 60 days.

Minimum per bond resolution is half the recommended amount.

DEBT SERVICE FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024
*Debt Service Accounts

Principal 4,699$        2,790$        2$               (2,685)$       4,806$        

Interest 1,268          2,430          1                 (2,481)         1,217          

Total Debt Service Accounts 5,966$        5,220$        3$               (5,166)$       6,023$        

Debt Service Reserve Account -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            

*Account minimums will be in compliance with Bond Resolution.  

Page 98 of 177 Page 244

Item #5.



Exhibit 3

Page 4 of 4

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Project Fund Balances

FISCAL YEAR 2024 PLAN

RESERVE  AND  CONTINGENCY  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending Minimum
Balance Interest als/ Balance Recomm.

10/1/2023  Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024 Balance

Renewal  &  Replacement  (R&R) Account 6,588$        10,000$      45$             (8,534)$       8,099$        3,000$        [2]

Contingency  Account 2,355$        -$            8$               -$            2,362$        

DECOMMISSIONING FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024

Decommissioning Fund Account 107,606$    -$            2,959$        -$            110,566$    

GENERAL  RESERVE  FUND

Beginning Withdraw- Ending
Balance Interest als/ Balance

10/1/2023 Deposits Earnings Payments 9/30/2024

General Reserve Fund 37,584$      1,000$        276$           -$            38,860$      

Nuclear Fuel Stabilization Account 5,839$        4,200$        161$           (4,298)$       5,901$        

CAPITAL  FUNDING PLAN

Fiscal Year
2024

Capital Funded from Renewal & Replacement

St. Lucie 2 Capital 3,103$        

St. Lucie Common Facilities 5,431$        

Total Capital 8,534$        

Page 99 of 177 Page 245

Item #5.



Exhibit 4

Page 1 of 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
ST. LUCIE PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Operating Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan ($000)
Four-Year Capital Plan ($000)

4-Year Capital Plan 

Activity FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026

Renewal and Replacement Beginning Balance 6,553$          6,588$          8,099$          9,013$          

Capital Expenses:

St. Lucie Common Facilities and Other [1] (2,807) (3,103) (2,263) (2,825)

St. Lucie Unit 2 - Capital Improvements [1] (7,202) (5,431) (2,378) (2,818)

Total Capital Expenses (10,009) (8,534) (4,641) (5,643)

Renewal and Replacement Contributions 10,000 10,000 5,500 5,500

Retained Interest Earnings 45 45 55 61

Renewal and Replacement Ending Balance [2] 6,588$          8,099$          9,013$          8,932$          

4-Year Nuclear Fuel Purchase Plan

Activity FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026

Nuclear Fuel Stabilization Account Beginning Balance 6,129$          5,839$          5,916$          6,108$          

Nuclear Fuel Purchases [1] (4,674)           (4,298)           (486)              (4,930)           

Nuclear Fuel Stabilization Contributions 4,200            4,200            500               4,700            

Retained Interest Earnings 184               175               177               183               

Nuclear Fuel Stabilization Account Ending Balance [3] 5,839$          5,916$          6,108$          6,061$          

[1] Amounts per FPL
[2] Plan is to target and maintain an $8 million balance for future capital additions.
[3] Plan is to target and maintain a $6 million balance for future nuclear fuel purchases.

Page 100 of 177 Page 246

Item #5.



Solar Projects

Page 101 of 177 Page 247

Item #5.



Exhibit 1
Page 1 of 1FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

SOLAR PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Operating Budget ($000)

 6 Months Proposed Proposed

22Bdgt /
 23 Bdgt

23 Bdgt /
 24 Plan

Line ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET PLAN Increase / Increase
No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 Decrease% Decrease%

     REVENUES 
1   Participant Billings -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

2   Interest Income   -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         NA NA

3       TOTAL  REVENUES -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

       EXPENSES 
4   Purchased Power -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

5   FMPA G&A - Agency Allocation -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         NA NA

6  - Bank/LOC Fees -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         NA NA

7 -Dispatch Fees -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         

8 Development Fund Repayment -                       -                       -                      -                     

10       TOTAL  EXPENSES -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

 FUND CONTRIBUTIONS 

11   Debt Service (LOC) Deposits -                     -                         NA NA

12  TOTAL EXPENSES & CONTRIBUTIONS -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

13   NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJ -$                   -$                     -$                   -$                   -$                     

14   MWhs Delivered (In thousands) 0 0 0 0 0  

15   Capacity Factor 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%  

16   $ / MWh Billed -$                -$                -$                -$               -$                  

Page 102 of 177 Page 248

Item #5.



Exhibit 1
Page 1 of 1FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY

SOLAR II PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Operating Budget ($000)

 6 Months Proposed Proposed

22Bdgt /
 23 Bdgt

23 Bdgt /
 24 Plan

Line ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET PLAN Increase / Increase
No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 Decrease% Decrease%

     REVENUES 
1   Participant Billings -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

2   Interest Income   -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         NA NA

3       TOTAL  REVENUES -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

       EXPENSES 
4   Purchased Power -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

5   FMPA G&A - Agency Allocation -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         NA NA

6  - Bank/LOC Fees -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         NA NA

7 -Dispatch Fees -                       -                       -                      -                     -                         

8 Development Fund Repayment -                       -                       -                      -                     

10       TOTAL  EXPENSES -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

 FUND CONTRIBUTIONS 

11   Debt Service (LOC) Deposits -                     -                         NA NA

12  TOTAL EXPENSES & CONTRIBUTIONS -$                     -$                     -$                    -$                   -$                       NA NA

13   NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJ -$                   -$                     -$                   -$                   -$                     

14   MWhs Delivered (In thousands) 0 0 0 0 0  

15   Capacity Factor 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%  

16   $ / MWh Billed -$                -$                -$                -$               -$                  

Page 103 of 177 Page 249

Item #5.



Pooled Loan Project

Page 104 of 177 Page 250

Item #5.



Exhibit 1
Page 1 of 1

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY
POOLED LOAN PROJECT

Fiscal Year 2023 Budget and Fiscal Year 2024 Plan

Operating Budget 

Amended 6 Months Proposed Proposed

22 Bdgt /
 23 Bdgt

23 Bdgt /
 24 Plan

Line ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL BUDGET PLAN Increase / Increase

No. Description FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 Decrease% Decrease%

    REVENUES 
 Participant Billings:  

1 Annual Allocation of Start-up costs 21,413$          -$                     -$                    -$                       -$                       NA NA

2  Gen'l & Admin         FMPA 7,072               15,000            7,500              15,600               16,068               4.0% 3.0%

3 Trustee Fees 5,250               21,000            10,500            21,000               21,630               0.0% 3.0%

4 Bank Fees -                  -                  2,938              -                     -                     

5 Arbitrage -                  -                  750                 7,500                 7,725                 

6 Billings to Agency 286,078          650,000          286,078          572,157            572,157            

7            TOTAL  REVENUES 319,813$        686,000$        307,766$        616,257$          617,580$          (10.2%) 0.2%

       EXPENSES 

8 Annual Allocation of Start-up costs 21,413$          -$                -$                    -$                       -$                       NA NA

9  Gen'l & Admin         FFMPA 7,072               15,000            7,500              15,600               16,068               4.0% 3.0%

10 Trustee Fees 5,250               21,000            10,500            21,000               21,630               0.0% 3.0%

11 Bank Fees -                  -                  2,938              -                     -                     

12 Arbitrage -                  -                  750                 7,500                 7,725                 

13 STNII Pooled Loan Debt Service [1] 286,078          650,000          286,078          572,157            572,157            

14   TOTAL EXPENSES & CONTRIBUTIONS 319,813$        686,000$        307,766$        616,257$          617,580$          (10.2%) 0.2%

15     NET INCOME BEFORE REGULATORY ADJ -$                  -$                  -$                  -$                     -$                     NA NA

Page 105 of 177 Page 251

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
a. Florida Municipal Solar Projects 

Update  
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106 of 177 Page 252

Item #5.



Board of Directors

Florida Municipal Solar Projects Update

June 23, 2022
Page 107 of 177 Page 253

Item #5.



U.S. Department of Commerce Investigation

• Investigation will determine whether imports of solar panels from four 
countries in Southeast Asia circumvent “anti-dumping” rules
 Tariff intended to restrict direct imports from China

• Waiver will allow panel imports for 24 months without additional duties

• Administration enacting programs to encourage U.S. manufacturing

• Investigation impacts up to 80% of planned solar projects in the U.S.
 Additional duties could result in panel cost increases of 50% to 250%
 Potential delays in deliveries and construction

• Preliminary determination expected in August

2

President Waives Solar Panel Import Tariffs for 24 Months

Page 108 of 177 Page 254

Item #5.



Sixteen Members Participate in FMSP

3

All Phases of Solar Project Impacted by Industry Challenges

Participants Total Share 
(MW)

Phase I
(MW)

Phase II
(MW)

Alachua 9 9 ---
Bartow 13 13 ---
Beaches Energy 25 10 15
Fort Pierce Utilities Authority 18 3 15
Havana 0.25 --- 0.25
Homestead 15 10 5
Keys Energy Services 30 5 25
Kissimmee Utility Authority 50 30 20
Lake Worth Beach 36.55 10 26.55
Mount Dora 2 --- 2
New Smyrna Beach 10 --- 10
Newberry 1 --- 1
Ocala 30 10 20
Orlando Utilities Commission 108.5 108.5 ---
Wauchula 5 5 ---
Winter Park 20 10 10
Total Megawatts 373.3 223.5 149.8 

• FMPA’s Florida Municipal Solar Project (FMSP)
 Two sites totaling 149 megawatts (MW)
 Enough to power 30,000 Florida homes

• FMPA’s solar energy at ~2% in 2022

• Second phase of FMSP – 223 MW in 2023-2024

• Received bids for Solar Phase III (149-373 MW)

• Will likely involve 7-10 more communities

• FMPA growing to 7% solar in 2027

• Large-scale solar more cost effective

• Several cities offering solar subscription service 
to retail customers

Page 109 of 177 Page 255

Item #5.



Phase I and Phase II Challenges

• Florida Renewable Partners Proposal – Phase I 
 Relocation of Poinsett project to alternate site

 Increased pricing options
• ~$4 to ~$12 / MWh increase, depending upon COD and Production Tax Credit applicability

• Origis Energy Proposal – Phase II 
 ~$9 to $10 / MWh increase

 COD Remains the same – December 2023 and November 2024

 Whistling Duck Network Upgrades to be considered

• FMPA Reviewing REPPAs for contract terms

4

Supply Chain and Regulatory Issues Impacting Costs & Schedule

Page 110 of 177 Page 256

Item #5.



Phase III Solar

• Potentially two to five 75 MW sites (up to ~375 MW)
 Commercial operation no later than Dec. 31, 2026

 Options for co-located battery storage

• Cost ceiling <$40/MWh (solar only; levelized over 20 years)
 Updated pricing received to reflect market and regulatory challenges

• FMPA Board approvals / Execution of agreements by December
• Meeting with developers in June to discuss proposals and terms
• Indicative interest (non-binding) from members requested by July 1

5

Developer Meetings Scheduled for June

Page 111 of 177 Page 257

Item #5.



Considerations for FMSP Participants

• Unanimous decision will be required by each project group

• Developers' claims for schedule delay and cost increases still uncertain 
 Claims will be evaluated and communicated to committees

• Both developers want to work toward solution, rather than terminate

• Phase III proposals may provide some flexibility for Phase I and II outcomes

• What cost ceiling will members still participate in solar?

• Urgency may be needed to remain on schedule

6

Phase I and Phase II Committees 

Page 112 of 177 Page 258

Item #5.



Next Steps

• Individual meetings with Phase I and II participants
 Share what we know and solicit feedback

• Convene Phase I and II committee meetings

• Continue discussions with Phase I and II developers

• Proceed with Phase III developer interviews

• Continue to update Board and Executive Committee

7

FMPA Solar Team Investigating Potential Outcomes

Page 113 of 177 Page 259

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
b. 2022 Member Relations Survey 

Results  
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114 of 177 Page 260

Item #5.



FMPA Board of Directors

2022 Member Relations Survey Results

June 23, 2022
Page 115 of 177 Page 261

Item #5.



Survey Measured Member Relations with Staff

• 26 people from 11 known member cities responded to biennial survey, compared 
to 34 respondents from 13 cities in 2020 – Survey open less time in 2022

• Distributed to Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Finance Committee, 
PMLC and other interested parties

• Purpose to measure relationship between members and staff, confidence in 
Agency direction and alignment with member priorities

• Respondents said: FMPA headed in the right direction, and they’re generally  
satisfied with FMPA

• Members appreciate FMPA’s services, suggest areas for improvement

2

Satisfaction Remains High, Agency Focused on Members’ Needs

Page 116 of 177 Page 262

Item #5.



Overall, Members Satisfied with FMPA

FMPA's plans to purchase more generation 
facilities is gaining the attention of current 
municipal utilities' IOU bulk suppliers. Thank 
you for this vision into the future supporting 
Florida public power utilities.

3

77% of Respondents Report Being Very Satisfied

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Very satisfied Somewhat satisfied

77%

23% FMPA's service to member cities is very 
good. The ability to have a one stop shop for 
any needs in the city, not only electric needs, 
is invaluable.

How would you rate your overall satisfaction 
with FMPA in meeting your utility’s needs?

I can't think of a time when we requested 
support and not received it. Support is always 
swift and of good quality.

Page 117 of 177 Page 263

Item #5.



FMPA’s Member Services Valuable in Meeting Mission

• Members rated the value of FMPA’s 
member services high in providing 
low-cost, reliable and clean power

• Average score of eight shows 
members highly value FMPA

• No response lower than a 5

4

More than Half Give FMPA a Score of 9 or Higher

How would you rate the value of FMPA’s member services 
in providing low-cost, reliable and clean electricity?

101

3

2

5

4

6

7

8

9

Page 118 of 177 Page 264

Item #5.



Members Suggest Services to Continue and Consider 

5

Costs, Communication and Collaboration Key Focus Areas

Public education about realistic 
renewable energy integration

FMPA 
Services

Cooperative purchasing 
contracts for small utilities

Affordable IT services 
through FMPA

Centralized dispatch center
for Florida municipalities

Assistance with 
mining AMI data

Informative presentations 
and materials

Continue New

Open-discussion 
workshops

Page 119 of 177 Page 265

Item #5.



FMPA’s Strategic Priorities Align with Members’ Needs

• Majority agree FMPA’s current 
strategic priorities align with 
utility needs

• One response of “neither agree 
nor disagree” and one “disagree”

6

92% Agreed, Only Two Outlying Responses

54% 65%

38%
35%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2022 2020

Disagree Neither Agree Nor Disagree
Agree Strongly Agree

FMPA's current strategic priorities align with my 
utility's needs.

4%

Page 120 of 177 Page 266

Item #5.



Members Believe FMPA is Headed in Right Direction

• FMPA is headed in the right 
direction, with 61% strongly 
agreeing

• Only one respondent 
disagreed

7

Majority of 26 Respondents Agree

61%
79%

35%
21%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2022 2020

Strongly Agree Agree Disagree

“All in all, FMPA is generally headed in the right 
direction.”

4%

Page 121 of 177 Page 267

Item #5.



Enhancements for 2024 Survey

• Enable respondents to provide feedback to statements 
that they do not agree with or score < 5, so there is a 
clear understanding
 Rating value of FMPA’s services on scale of 1 to 10
 Rating FMPA staff on integrity, competence and 

dependability
 Asking if the Agency is headed in the right direction
 Asking if the Agency’s strategic priorities align with a 

utility’s needs

• Change final identification question to name utility only 
and make response required

8

Changes will Provide Clarity and Understanding of Responses

Page 122 of 177 Page 268

Item #5.



Members Suggested Ways to Enhance Relations

• Educational and discussion opportunities such as 
workshops and April’s PMLC environmental 
presentation 

• Research centralized buying initiative to support 
smaller utilities in cost-saving equipment purchases

• Plan and prepare for future generation needs

• Provide presentations to support communications 
with utility governing bodies 

• Support a balanced approach to replacing baseload 
generation with solar

9

Continue to Focus on Education and Support of Member Needs

Page 123 of 177 Page 269

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
c. Member Services Advisory 

Committee Charter  
 

Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124 of 177 Page 270

Item #5.



9c - Member Services Advisory Committee 
Charter

June 23, 2022
Board of Directors

Page 125 of 177 Page 271

Item #5.



Advantages of a Charter 

• Creates common structure, like other FMPA Committees

• Combines functions of other Member Services Committees

• Sets terms of service for committee officers, like existing committees

• Recommends minimum number of members with special interest in 
member services

• Meets quarterly, or as needed, based on criticality of member service 
needs

2

Formalizes the Committee 

Page 126 of 177 Page 272

Item #5.



MSAC Charter

• Periodically evaluate the effectiveness of existing member services and 
development of new member services

• Embrace topics related to members achieving common vision of providing 
low cost, clean and reliable power plus value-added services.

• Advise on current member services and provides feedback to FMPA team
• Recommend new member services to the Board of Directors
• Propose changes to member services to the Board of Directors
• Reviews budgetary considerations for member services provided as part of 

the budget process 

3

Specific Purpose

Page 127 of 177 Page 273

Item #5.



Changes To Current Committee

• Board Chair appoints 
• Must be minimum of seven members
• Quorum to be 51% (rounded to next whole number) 
• Only one voting member per city
• Alternates may be appointed
• Committee will have a Chair and Vice Chair
• Chair and Vice Chair will be elected annually
• Specific scope of responsibility stated for committee

4

Specific Wording

Page 128 of 177 Page 274

Item #5.



5

• MSAC requesting approval of Member Services Advisory Committee 
Charter

Information Item

Page 129 of 177 Page 275

Item #5.



 

- 1 - 
 

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 
 
 

CHARTER 
 

of the 
 

MEMBER SERVICES ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

(as adopted as of July 13, 2022) 
 

 
I. MISSION STATEMENT 
 
The mission of the Member Services Advisory Committee (the “Committee”) is to 
facilitate the acquisition of high quality and relevant services for FMPA’s members by 
providing direction for new and existing member services offered. 
 
II. MEMBERSHIP AND STRUCTURE 
 
The membership of the Committee consists of a minimum of seven persons, or more 
as may be appointed pursuant to this charter. The Chair of the Board of Directors 
Chair appoints the Committee members. Members of the Committee serve at the 
pleasure of the Chair of the Board of Directors. 
 
Each member of the Committee may designate an additional individual, who is an 
employee, elected or appointed official, or other representative of the same FMPA 
member utility as the Committee member, to serve as her or his alternate member of 
the Committee when the member cannot attend a Committee meeting. Any such 
designation of an alternate must be made in writing, at least three days before the 
initial meeting where the alternate will attend in the place of the Committee member, 
and delivered to the Secretary of FMPA or to any Assistant Secretary, or to the Chief 
People and Member Services Officer. 
 
III.  COMMITTEE OFFICERS 
 
The Committee shall elect two officers: Chair and Vice Chair. Election of officers shall 
be done by the Committee by majority vote for a regular election or any time there is 
an officer vacancy, with each Committee member having one vote. (No alternate may 
vote if the Committee member for whom she or he serves as the alternate is also 
present.) Nominations of a Committee member to fill the officer positions shall come 
from the Committee, prior to the elective vote. Regular elections shall be held once 
each year at the meeting held during the third calendar quarter of the year (July 

Page 130 of 177 Page 276

Item #5.



 

- 2 - 
 

through September). Each elected officer shall serve upon election until the next 
meeting of the Committee when an election is held. 
 
IV. MEETINGS 
 
Each member of the Committee has one vote which he or she may cast (yea or nay) 
on any action coming before the Committee. A quorum of the Committee is present at 
a meeting of the Committee when at least 51% (rounded to next whole number) of the 
Committee members are present and able to participate in the meeting in person or by 
electronic means, including by telephone. A quorum of the Committee is necessary for 
the Committee to take action. 
 
Notice of the time, date, and place of each meeting will be provided to each 
Committee member at least five days prior to any meeting. Meetings of the 
Committee shall be called by the Chair, by any two members of the Committee, or as 
otherwise regularly scheduled by the Committee. Regular meetings will be held at 
least quarterly. The conduct of the meetings will follow Roberts Rules of Order Newly 
Revised, with the Chair presiding over the meeting. In the absence of the Chair, the 
Vice Chair will preside over the meeting or, in the absence of both the Chair and Vice 
Chair, the Chair of the Board of Directors, or such other person as she or he may 
designate, will preside over a meeting. 
 
V. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
The Chief People and Member Services Officer (or, in the event of a change in such 
title, the staff person with the highest level of responsibility for member services) serves 
as the staff representative to the Committee (the “Committee Staff Representative”). 
The Committee Staff Representative shall have responsibility for coordinating the 
communications of the Committee and coordinating Committee meetings, including 
providing meeting notices to all Committee members. Communications with FMPA 
by the Committee will be handled primarily through the Committee Staff 
Representative or directly with the General Manager or General Counsel (for legal 
matters).  
 
VI. AUTHORITY 
 
The Committee has no authority to bind FMPA or to make any decision on behalf of 
the FMPA Board of Directors or Executive Committee unless such authority is 
delegated to the Committee by resolution. The Committee serves in an advisory 
capacity to the Board of Directors. The Committee's role and authority, as otherwise 
determined by the Board of Directors, is set forth in the charter and as may be 
otherwise directed by the Board of Directs, consistent with this charter. 

Page 131 of 177 Page 277

Item #5.



 

- 3 - 
 

 
VII. DUTIES AND RESPONSBILITIES 
 
The duties and responsibilities of the Committee are as follows: 
 
a. Reporting. To receive reports from FMPA staff on member services matters, 

including measures of effectiveness of existing member services and staff efforts 
on the development of new member services offerings. 

 
b. Advice. To advise the Board of Directors and propose changes to FMPA’s 

member services to the Board of Directors. 
 
c. Member Needs. To Provide feedback to the Committee Staff Representative, the 

General Manager and CEO, and other staff of FMPA on member needs and 
how existing or new member services may meet those member needs. 

 
d. Budget Review. To review, as a part of the annual FMPA budget process, the 

budgetary considerations for member services provided by FMPA.] 
 
e. Scope of Committee: The Committee shall embrace topics related to members 

achieving the common vision of providing; low cost, clean and reliable power 
plus value-added services to our customers.  The topics may be raised for 
consideration from within the Committee, or as otherwise directed by the 
Board of Directors to address member services matters for FMPA. 

 
VIII. INITIAL OFFICERS; APPROVAL AND AMENDMENTS 
 
This charter is effective as of the approval by the Board of Directors. Upon the initial 
approval of this Charter, ______________ will serve as the Committee’s Chair, and 
______________ will serve as the Committee’s Vice Chair, with both terms extending 
until the third calendar quarter meeting of the Committee in 2023. Amendments to 
this Charter are effective only after approval by the Board of Directors. 
 

Page 132 of 177 Page 278

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
d. Natural Gas Markets Update  

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133 of 177 Page 279

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas Producer 
Perspective & Outlook

Josh West, Vice President, Trading & Chief 
Commercial Officer

June 23, 2022

Page 134 of 177 Page 280

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – A Historical Perspective

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 2

2011

Fukushima Nuke 
Disaster

“Shale Revolution” Prisoner’s 
Dilemma

Influx of capital into U.S. shale via 

IPO’s & Reserve Based Lending

Production growth the key metric for 

valuations 

D&C cost declines in step-changes 

High hedging

Global LNG demand collapses with 

lack of US demand UNTIL Fukishima

LNG importers secure export permits 

and investors to “turn facilities around”

Pre “Shale Revolution”  ’08

Expectation that US NG prices to be set 

by LNG global parity

Wave of LNG import terminals began 

construction ~2005

2016

1st LNG export 
from Cheniere

Permian = 
Capitulation

 Permian basin 

“discovered” 

 Expected surge of 

associated gas w/ oil 

production

 Survival hedging 

Low US prices + strong 

fwd LNG fundamentals 

attracting greenfield 

LNG developers

Wuhan 
COVID-19

Sustained
Higher
Prices? 

U.S. Gas in New, Post-Shale Macro Cycle

Page 135 of 177 Page 281

Item #5.



TTF/HH/Coal – A Trip Down Memory Lane

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 3

In
t’

l C
O

AL
(N

ew
ca

st
le

 fr
on

t m
on

th
 $

/t
on

)
TT

F 
&

 H
H

(F
ro

nt
 m

on
th

 $
/m

m
bt

u)
Putin 

announces 
Special 
Military 

Operation 
Feb 24

Page 136 of 177 Page 282

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Producer Hedging

• In aggregate, gas heavy producers have historically hedged production
− ~30-60% year +1
− ~10-30% year +2
− ~  5-15% year +3

• Oil heave producers tend to hedge gas more than oil, leaving upside exposure to 
their core product

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 4

Most hedging approaches 
are tied to a capital budget 
and secured in 
coordination with capital 
providers (lenders)

“Reserve-based 
lending” very often 
has restrictive hedge 
ratio covenants 
attached to the notes

Page 137 of 177 Page 283

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Bullish Case

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 5

 Four pillars supporting sustained higher natural gas prices 

1. Producer metrics have changed… thus behavior will change

2. Demand Growth

3. Cost Inflation

4. Oil & Gas Risk Premiums have increased across the board

Page 138 of 177 Page 284

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Bears

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 6

 “Producers cannot help themselves from growing” /  “The cure for high prices is high prices”

• This was once true, but I do not believe it will be the case this time around

• High prices indeed attract investment for willing investors

 “We are headed for a recession”

• There is merit to the super-cycle energy drives the globe into recession, however natural gas 

is second only to fertilizer in its inelasticity  

• Electricity and heat are non-discretionary commodities for the developing world

• Uri saw gas trade at $1,192/mmbtu @ OGT (Feb 17,2021)

 “Renewables will dampen natural gas demand”

• Europe has shown the world how important natural gas is despite having significant 

intermittent resource capacity

• Supply chain constraints are not allowing more rapid renewable penetration

• Do not allow a long-term view affect short-/mid-term decisions
Page 139 of 177 Page 285

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – What to Expect

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 7

 Wider Summer/Winter spreads when LNG demand is expected to be firm

• A 10% chance of a very high number is still a high number

• Curves starting to look more like CAISO/ERCOT (peaky summers pulling up 

calendar strips)

 Volatility is here to stay

• Less days of inventory on hand

• A very large proportion of binary demand (LNG)

• Renewables intermittency

 Signposts for Bull Case changing

• Administration charging material holding fee on federal land

• Producer commentary evolving back to production growth

• Producer FCF distribution % declining Page 140 of 177 Page 286

Item #5.



Natural Gas Forward Curves

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 8

Page 141 of 177 Page 287

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – What can clients do?

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 9

 Protecting against a prolonged step change higher in natural gas fuel costs can be 
achieved through 

• Programmatic base volume hedging

• Opportunistic incremental volume hedging at prices commensurate with 

producers’ costs of supply (limited downside)

• Maximizing the optionality (fuel switching capabilities) of your fleet

• Profit taking hedged gas (selling back) when other fuels become more 

advantageous to run in the forwards

• Rinse, repeat, rejoice!

Page 142 of 177 Page 288

Item #5.



Important Notice for Compliance 
with NFA Rule 2-29
This communication contains statements of opinion. These
statements are developed by TEA staff based on the facts
available to TEA at the time the statements are published. The
information in this communication is subject to change as the
facts underlying the statements change. With respect to
performance information, past results are not necessarily
indicative of future results. If you have any questions
regarding this material please contact your Client Services
Manager.

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 10

Page 143 of 177 Page 289

Item #5.



Back Up

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 11

Page 144 of 177 Page 290

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Bullish Case for Sustained Recovery

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 12

1. Producer Metrics Have Changed
EQT – 5.5 BCFD

Antero Resource – 3.2 BCFD

Page 145 of 177 Page 291

Item #5.



1. Producer Metrics Have Changed…

U.S. Natural Gas – Bullish Case for Sustained Recovery

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 13

Continental Resources – 1.0 BCFD

Comstock Resources – 1.4 BCFD

 Independents
− Debt reduction remains the focus for Independents 

with promises of capital returns when targets are 
reached

− Debt reduction leaves more room to deviate from 
lender-required hedging (less sellers in orderbook)

 Majors 
− Most do not hedge production; consider themselves 

well-diversified to manage price risks
− Incremental capital is being diverted away from core 

businesses to Energy Transition investments 

 Private Equity
− Hedging behavior is fairly unknown (but not expected)
− Acquisition due to bullish view of the commodity

Key Points from Sector Research

Page 146 of 177 Page 292

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Bullish Case for Sustained Recovery

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 14

2. Demand growth – LNG 
U.S. LNG export capacity will be highest in world 

by end of this year… add’l growth planned:

• 2026:  Golden Pass (Exxon / Qatar) +2BCFD

• 2026e: Driftwood LNG (Tellurian) +1.5BCFD

• 2027e: RioGrade LNG (Nextdecade) +1.5BCFD

• 2027e: Cheniere Stage 3 + 1.5BCFD

• Several others

Global LNG fundamentals are only 
getting stronger

• “Germany has decided to accelerate work to build 
two LNG terminals in the country to help reduce 
dependence on Russian gas imports, Chancellor 
Olaf Scholz said Feb. 27”

• As part of the task force, the EU's executive said it 
will work with member states "toward the goal of 
ensuring, until at least 2030, demand for 
approximately 50 bcm/year of additional US LNG"

Page 147 of 177 Page 293

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Bullish Case for Sustained Recovery

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 15

 Producers are beginning to discuss cost drivers as a key 

contributor to bottom line performance

• +10-15% operating expense witnessed y/y

• Cautioning investors for more increases 

• Emissions-reductions initiatives also add costs

3. Cost Inflation OSX – Oilfield Services Index

US Flat Steel prices ($/t)

New well costs are highly-correlated to steel costs (well casing)

• U.S. production lead-times have increased 25% since Jan-22

• EUUS import arbs are closed

2022 2023 2024 Longer Term

Fed Funds Rate Projections (FOMC)

 Expected Fed Funds Rate hikes have already increased debt costs

• Despite deleveraging, producers maintain significant leverage in capital structure

• Increasing debt costs  increases producer WACCs  increases required price to drill
Page 148 of 177 Page 294

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Bullish Case for Sustained Recovery

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 16

4. Oil & Gas Risk premiums have increased…

 Risks do not appear to be retreating, near-term

• Geopolitical, environmental, regulatory

• Price volatility risk is forefront in investor minds 

after March 2020

 Compensating for higher risks requires higher prices

• Investors are more hesitant to invest at historical 

commodity / equity price relationships

• Producers are following investor behavior, publicly 

declaring minimal budgets for “maintenance 

capital”

Evidence of elevated risk premiums in relationship between 

equity prices and crude prices

Page 149 of 177 Page 295

Item #5.



Deep Back Up

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 17

Page 150 of 177 Page 296

Item #5.



2Q22 Producer Earnings Tracker

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 18

Analysis Date 5/3/2022
US Production 93 BCFD

Ticker Name Earnings Release BCFD Market Share Activity in Quarter Bal-22 2023 2024+ 2Q22 Bal-22 Beyond (gross %) Notable CEO Comments   

EQT ECT Corporation https://ir.eqt.com/invest 5.5 6% NONE 63% 42% unknown 0% 0% 0% until new App pipeline cpacity

"As we said before, we continue to be in maintenance mode for capital until we see new export pipeline capacity from the Marcellus"
"Look, 2024 is $4… 2 yar ago we would have happily sold into that… but now with the macro for gas we think there is more, a lot more, 
upside to the strip prices"
Moved on exchanging 2022 swaps to $5c/$10p zero cost collars
FOCUSED on LNG netback sales and investigating LNG investments

 

SWN Southwestern Energy https://ir.swn.com/Corpo 4.2 5% NONE 86% 62% unknown 0% 0% 0%

"We continue to be in maintenance mode, as we have said for some time, with our foucs of reducing debt to our target levels and 
reinstating the dividend"
Touted the 7 rigs and frack crews they control to help insulate against inflationarey pressures
"We expect to be hedged on the low end of our allowable range"... more color... SWN is always the most hedged producer, their business 
model is one of manufacturing where they seek to secure, ableit lower, returns... same reason they bought the rigs.  Analysts pressed this 
strategy and they were noncommittal but I could tell they are wrestling with continuing to hedge by the way they squirmed...  

  
 

AR Antero Resources 2022-04-27_Antero_Resou  3.2 3% NONE since 2020 47% 2% unknown 6%

"Continue to prefer sales in short term, spot or iferc"
"Nothing in the cards to get us stirred up and add another rig and gowing production, where happy with where we are"
"We used to be the kings of hedging in a contango market, but no plans to hedge in this backwardated or even flat environment"
"We like everyone are watching the fundamentals and are bullish our commodity given storage and the power stack"
Signaling LNG netbacks as an opportunity for future sales; control over transport to LNG corridors seen as a compeitive advantage

CLR Continential Resources CONTINENTAL RESOURCES                        1.074 1% (silent) Call on 5/5/22
CHK Chesapeake Call on 5/5/22 0% Call on 5/5/22

RRC Range Resources https://ir.rangeresources 1.458 2% Unknown 60% 50% 15% -1% 3% (silent)

"Range continues to target holding production approximately flat"
Still very focused on debt reduction; expect to reinitiated dividend 2H this year; repurchsing shares under $500M program
"We're in a good spot here in 22 with maintainance capital... but with the ability to grow... call on US demand is higher... need 
infrastructure to enable growth"
Lobbying heavily for additional pipeline capacity out of the Marcellus

 

APA Apache Corporation

XOM ExxonMobil

ExxonMobil announces fi   

3.3 4% NONE 0% 0% 0% 0% 3% (silent)

Growing Permian total production 25% 2021 to 2022… but flat elsewhere in US… I estimate that is about 200 mmbtu/d growth
WHen asked if higher prices would change their capital plans, specifically in shorter cycle shale, Darren (CEO) - said "No"... thats about as 
succinct as i have ever heard him.
Continue to pour capital into 11 BILLION barrel Guyana
Sanctioned a Hyrdogen plant at Baytown, CCS hub in Wyoming
Golden Pass volumes are not yet sold... 100% exposed to spot market at the moment (2026)

CVX Chevron https://chevroncorp.gcs-w 1.8 2% None 0% 0% 0% 0% 8% (silent)
15% y/y growth in permian production - flat elsewhere… I estimate this is about 150 mmbtu/d growth
Of all the calls, CVX CEO is most bearish crude… he seems to think prices have topped and global production coming online in big slugs 
(non-US)  will depress prices... reiterated over and over "this will not last forever" when talking about the level of their stock buybacks

OXY Occidental
CNX CNX Resources Corporation Ex. 99.1 Supplemental Q1  1.57 2% Call on 5/5/22
CRK Comstock Reources CorporationCall on 5/4/22 1.4 2% Call on 5/4/22

TOTAL 23.502 25%

0%

Hedge Profile Production Growth SignaledGas Production

7%

0%

Page 151 of 177 Page 297

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas Market Basics
• Like any well functioning Market, cash NG prices are dictated by supply and demand

− Supply: production, transportation constraints, storage
− Demand: weather, export (LNG/Mexico), industrial users, storage

• Forward Futures prices are dictated the markets current expectation of changes in the 
underlying supply/demand picture, within reason

− Historical mo./mo. spread relationships can often limit how much forward price months can 
move relative to each other due to storage availability / cost

• Curve structure incentivizes trader behaviors in the physical market
− Large Summer/Winter spreads incentivize additional storage (buy now, store, and sell later)

• Price volatility can occur at any time of the year, when expectations change quickly on 
supply or demand

− March ’20: COVID-19 crude price fall  brief bullish shock to NG (Supply)
− Late Summer ’20: LNG export arb closing + hurricanes  bearish shock to NG (Demand)
− Aug ’21: Europe colder early + low storage  bullish shock to NG (Demand)
− Current: Biden Administration Task Force on +LNG  bullish shock to NG (Demand)

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 19

Page 152 of 177 Page 298

Item #5.



U.S. Natural Gas – Common Misconceptions

CONFIDENTIAL & PROPRIETARY 20

 “It’s best to hedge in the summer when prices are lowest”

• Forward curves must maintain the summer / winter spread in forward months

• Some of the best opportunities to forward hedge are in winter, when cold is delayed 

• There is not an ideal time of year enter forward hedges, although Feb-Apr are typically the lowest vol

 “Traders are causing volatility”

• Most gas traders do not trade flat price outright; limited expression of views via bull / bear time spreads

• Physical traders keep time spread historical relationships largely intact 

 “Producer hedging doesn’t matter, its only about supply and demand”

• Removing sellers from the orderbook inevitably raises prices for same amount of buyers

Page 153 of 177 Page 299

Item #5.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 
 
e. Quarterly Compliance Update  

 
Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154 of 177 Page 300

Item #5.



Board of Directors

9e – Regulatory Compliance Update

June 23, 2022
Page 155 of 177 Page 301

Item #5.



Roles of FMPA Regulatory Compliance Department

2

• FMPA Regulatory Compliance Department perform three main 
functions related to NERC mandatory reliability standards
 FMPA Compliance

 Member Support

 Industry Influence

Page 156 of 177 Page 302

Item #5.



FMPA Compliance

• 2022 Annual Goal - Regulatory Compliance Update
 NERC Compliance Steering Committee will review a staff report reviewing all 

processes and procedures for compliance with all applicable NERC Reliability 
Standards”.

• Compliance-SME one-on-one meetings 

• The process began with high risk, new, and plant applicable standards 

 Top-down standards review
• Approximately 80% complete from internal FMPA SME discussions

• Approximately 70% complete from FMPA plant discussions

3

Internal Compliance

Page 157 of 177 Page 303

Item #5.



FMPA Compliance

• FMPA had no reportable compliance violations since March 2022 
update
 CIP-003 Self-reports 

• Filed to FERC

• Sent to NERC 

4

Internal Compliance

Page 158 of 177 Page 304

Item #5.



FMPA Compliance

• In-process peer reviews

• Completed a peer review for Ocala Electric Utility

• Bi-weekly compliance calls are continuous and consistently helpful to 
members

• Compliance Department is available for support and help with peer 
reviews, spot checks, balloting and commenting, or to answer any 
compliance questions

5

Member Support

Page 159 of 177 Page 305

Item #5.



Industry Influence

6

• Submitted Comments and/or cast ballots
 EOP-011-3; EOP-012-1; Cyber Security Supply Chain Risk Management

• Align release 3 – Q2 2022; SERC is using an entity notification process 
review for lessons learned approach

• Align release 4 – R4.0 – June 2022; R4.5 October 2022

• Cold Weather Standard Development
 FMPA continues participation in Cold Weather Preparedness standard 

development & implementation efforts

• Consistent APPA and TAPS involvement

Page 160 of 177 Page 306

Item #5.



AGENDA ITEM 9 – INFORMATION 
ITEMS 

f. Extension of St. Lucie Nuclear
Reliability Exchange Agreement

Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 

Page 161 of 177 Page 307

Item #5.



Board of Directors

9f – Extension of St. Lucie Nuclear Reliability 
Exchange Agreement

June 23, 2022
Page 162 of 177 Page 308

Item #5.



Nuclear Reliability Exchange Agreement Mitigates Risk

• St. Lucie Project exchanges half its capacity and energy from Unit 2
for capacity and energy from Unit 1

NREA has been in place since beginning of St. Lucie Project

 Reduces exposure from having a single unit offline for any reason

 Beneficial in managing the St. Lucie Project’s credit rating

• Current NREA Amendment Five expires October 1, 2022

 5-year extension executed in 2017

 Introduced unilateral termination with 60-days notice
2

St. Lucie Project Entitlement Split Between Two Units

Page 163 of 177 Page 309

Item #5.



Nuclear Reliability Exchange Agreement Mitigates Risk

• NREA Amendment Six very similar to Amendment Five

 Perpetual with termination driven by unit retirement, mutual
agreement, or unilateral rights

 FPL needs to file the Amendment with FERC by August 1 to allow
60 days for FERC review

3

St. Lucie Project Entitlement Split Between Two Units

Page 164 of 177 Page 310

Item #5.



Information Only

• Amendment #6 is attached in final form as agreed to with FPL

• Recommended motion to be brought back in July:

Move approval of Amendment Six to the St. Lucie Nuclear
Reliability Exchange Agreement between FMPA and FPL, as
presented, and authorize the General Manager and CEO to
execute the agreement.

4Page 165 of 177 Page 311

Item #5.



AMENDMENT NUMBER SIX TO ST. LUCIE  
NUCLEAR RELIABILITY EXCHANGE AGREEMENT Page 1 of 3 

AMENDMENT NUMBER SIX 
TO 

ST. LUCIE NUCLEAR RELIABILITY EXCHANGE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY 
AND THE FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

This Amendment Number Six to the St. Lucie Nuclear Reliability Exchange Agreement Between 
Florida Power & Light Company and the Florida Municipal Power Agency is made between 
Florida Power & Light Company (“FPL”) and the Florida Municipal Power Agency (“FMPA”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, FPL and FMPA (individually a “Party,” and collectively the “Parties”) have 
entered into that certain St. Lucie Nuclear Reliability Exchange Agreement Between Florida 
Power & Light Company and the Florida Municipal Power Agency, dated March 26, 1982, as 
amended by that certain Amendment Number One made February 18, 1983, as amended by that 
certain Amendment Number Two made February 12, 1991, as amended by that certain 
Amendment Number Three made August 19, 2004, as amended by that certain Amendment 
Number Four made July 1, 2011, and as amended by that certain Amendment Number Five 
made August 1, 2017 (collectively the “Agreement”);  

WHEREAS, the original term of the Agreement lasted “until the earlier of (a) final 
retirement by FPL of both St. Lucie Unit No. 1 and St. Lucie Unit No. 2, OR (b) the latest stated 
maturity date of any of the original bonds issued by FMPA to finance its ownership interest in St. 
Lucie Unit No. 2 (without regard to whether such bonds are retired, redeemed or otherwise 
repaid prior to such date or whether their maturity is in any way extended).”; 

WHEREAS, the Parties agreed in Amendment Number Five to extend the term of the 
Agreement for an additional five (5) year period after October 1, 2017; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties now desire by this Amendment Number Six to extend the term of 
the Agreement after October 1, 2022. 

AMENDMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein and 
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree to change the Agreement 
as follows: 

1. Section 3.6 of the Agreement shall be revised and replaced as follows:

Page 166 of 177 Page 312

Item #5.



AMENDMENT NUMBER SIX TO ST. LUCIE  
NUCLEAR RELIABILITY EXCHANGE AGREEMENT Page 2 of 3 

3.6  The exchange provided in Section 3.1 shall commence if and when FPL declares 
St. Lucie Unit No. 2 in Firm Operation pursuant to the Participation Agreement and 
shall be effective until the earlier of (a) final retirement by FPL of both St. Lucie Unit 
No. 1 and St. Lucie Unit No. 2, or (b) the Exchange Termination Date, as defined 
below. FPL may finally retire St. Lucie Unit No. 2 in accordance with the 
Participation Agreement and may finally retire St. Lucie Unit No. 1 at such time and 
under such circumstances as it in its sole discretion deems appropriate. As the intent 
of the Parties in agreeing to the exchange is to share the risks of operation and 
premature retirement of the two generating units (including the risks of government 
action), the exchange, once initiated, shall remain in effect until the earlier of (a) final 
retirement of both St. Lucie Unit No. 1 and St. Lucie Unit No. 2 whether or not each 
such unit is operable or operating at any time or from time to time or has been retired 
or (b) the Exchange Termination Date.  The “Exchange Termination Date” shall be 
the earlier of (i) the date upon which the Parties mutually agree in writing to 
terminate the exchange provided for in Section 3.1; or (ii) either Party unilaterally 
terminates the exchange provided for in Section 3.1 by providing not less than 60 
days prior written notice delivered to the other Party in accordance with Section 10.5. 

2. Except as specifically modified herein, the terms and conditions of the Agreement
remain in full force and effect.

3. The Parties acknowledge that to become effective this Amendment must be accepted
by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) pursuant to Section 205 of
the Federal Power Act (“FPA”). Accordingly, FPL shall file this Amendment with
FERC no later than August 1, 2022 and request that it be accepted without
modification to become effective as of October 1, 2022. FMPA shall support such
filing, including the requested effective date of October 1, 2022, and shall not lend
support to any protests or pleadings that oppose FERC’s timely acceptance of this
Amendment. If the Amendment is not accepted by FERC as filed, the Parties agree to
pursue mutually acceptable modifications to the Amendment. If the Parties are unable
to reach agreement with respect to such modifications, this Amendment shall be
deemed null and void.

[Signature Page Follows] 

Page 167 of 177 Page 313

Item #5.



AMENDMENT NUMBER SIX TO ST. LUCIE  
NUCLEAR RELIABILITY EXCHANGE AGREEMENT Page 3 of 3 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Amendment Number Six to be 
executed by their duly authorized representatives. 

FLORIDA POWER & LIGHT COMPANY FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY 

___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
SIGNATURE SIGNATURE 

___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
NAME  NAME 

___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
TITLE  TITLE 

___________________________________ ____________________________________ 
DATE DATE 

Page 168 of 177 Page 314

Item #5.



ITEM 9 - INFORMATION 
ITEMS

g.  Refund of $13 Million 
Deposit for Solar Phase II 
Whistling Duck Network 
Upgrades

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
June 23, 2022

Page 169 of 177 Page 315

Item #5.



Board of Directors &
Executive Committee

BOD 9g EC 9i - Solar Phase II Whistling Duck
Network Upgrades

June 23, 2022
Page 170 of 177 Page 316

Item #5.



ARP Funded Whistling Duck Network Upgrade Security 

• ARP funded entire $13.2M on behalf of all Solar II Participants
• Origis Energy assigned refund rights to ARP
Refund expected within 5 years of COD of the facility

• MOU between ARP and Solar II Project
ARP discretion on how to fund, used available liquidity
ARP receives benefit of all interest, better than alt investment
 Solar II Project responsible for share of any shortfall in refund 

from Duke

2

Was Lowest Cost Option with Best Chance to Stay on Schedule

Page 171 of 177 Page 317

Item #5.



Origis Offer to Take Over Network Upgrade Security

• Origis can replace security with Letter of Credit w/o PPA rate impact

 ARP would receive all funding back

• However, tariff and inflationary pressures will still impact PPA rate

 Solar II Participants considering whether to accept increase

 Solar Committee decision to be brought back for BOD/EC approval

• Security funding offer contingent on project moving forward

 Pursuing parallel paths to avoid any delays

3

New Capital Financing Alleviates Cost Concerns

Page 172 of 177 Page 318

Item #5.



Information Only

4

• Action item to terminate or amend the Network Upgrade 
Funding Agreement between FMPA and Origis will be brought 
back at a future meeting.

Page 173 of 177 Page 319

Item #5.



(Backup Slides)

5Page 174 of 177 Page 320

Item #5.



Phase II - Whistling Duck Shares

6

Participant MW %
Beaches 7.5 10.0%
FPUA 7.5 10.0%
Havana 0.13 0.2%
KEYS 12.5 16.7%
KUA 10.0 13.4%
Newberry 0.5 0.7%
Ocala 10.0 13.4%
ARP 48.13 64.25%

Homestead 2.5 3.4%
LWU 13.3 17.7%
Mount Dora 1.0 1.3%
New Smyrna 5.0 6.7%
Winter Park 5.0 6.7%
Solar Project II 26.78 35.75%

Total 74.90 100%

Page 175 of 177 Page 321

Item #5.



AGENDA ITEM 10 – MEMBER 
COMMENTS 

Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 

Page 176 of 177 Page 322

Item #5.



AGENDA ITEM 11 – ADJOURNMENT 

Board of Directors Meeting 
June 23, 2022 

Page 177 of 177 Page 323

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Regular Session MEETING DATE: July 5, 2022 

FROM: Marlena Guthrie, Finance Director 

SUBJECT: Council establishes workshop dates for reviewing the Operating Budget and Capital 

Improvement Plan for FY 2022/2023. 
 

BACKGROUND 

Staff has tentatively set August 4 at 8:00 am, and August 9, 2022, at 8:00 am as workshop dates for 

reviewing the Operating Budget and the Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan.  Staff would like to 

recommend the following: 

August 4, 2022- 8:00 am:  Outside Agency requests, Health Insurance Plan, and all Utility Enterprise 

Funds Operating Budgets and associated Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) which includes Electric, 

Water, Wastewater, Solid Waste, Customer Service, Stormwater and Reclaimed Water. General Fund 

Revenues and Expenditures Operating Budgets and associated Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), Review 

Police Building Debt Service Fund, and Spring Park Debt Service Fund, and Special Revenue Funds 

(Building and Law Enforcement Trust) Operating Budgets and Capital Improvement Plan (CIP). 

August 9, 2022- 8:00 am:  Review/Complete any unfinished Budget items from the August 4, 2022, 

workshop.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

None 

RECOMMENDATION 

Accept the workshop dates for reviewing the Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Plan for FY 

2022/2023. 
 

Page 324

Item #6.


	Top
	Item #1.	Council establishes hearing dates for the first and final hearings to adopt the City of Green Cove Springs Operating Budget and Five-Year Capital Improvement Plan for FY 2022/2023
	July 5, 2022 Staff Report - Hearing Dates

	Item #2.	Council approval of Police Dept. Surplus Request for Vehicle #141
	Surplus 141 Memo

	Item #3.	WGI Pay Request #1 - Walnut St Design
	Staff Report - WGI Pay Request #1 for Walnut Street design - 070522
	Invoice #1R - 75081 thru May 27_2022

	Item #4.	Award Bid 2022-02 Palmetto Trail to EltonAlan, Inc.
	Bid 2022-02 Award - Palmetto Ave - EltonAlan, Inc Staff Report - 070522
	Professional Service Agreement - Palmetto LAP Project EltonAlan, Inc 063022
	2022-02 - Palmetto Trail Bid Record Sheet
	2022-02 - Palmetto Trail Bid Opening sign-in sheet
	2022-02 - Palmetto Trail Bid Tab Review
	2022_06_22_ Israel scrutinized companies list for web
	435677-1_Concurrence_in_Award
	2022-02 Palmetto Trail EltonAlan Bid Proposal
	2022-02 Palmetto Trail Marquee Development Bid Proposal
	2022-02 Palmetto Trail CGC Bid Proposal

	Item #5.	FMPA - July 2022
	FMPA Monthly Report July 2022-word
	BOD-Agenda-Package-2022-06-23-2

	Item #6.	Council Establishes Workshop Dates for Reviewing the Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Plan for FY 2022/2023
	July 5, 2022 Staff Report - Workshop Dates

	Bottom

